STATE RESPONSIBILITY

[Agenda item 2]

DOCUMENT A/CN.4/490 and Add. 1-7*

First report on State responsibility, by Mr. James Crawford, Special Rapporteur

[Original: English and French] [24 April, 1, 5, 11 and 26 May, 22 and 24 July, 12 August 1998]

CONTENTS

				ruge
Mu	ltilat	eral instruments cited in the present report		3
Wo	rks c	ited in the present report		4
			Paragraphs	
Int	RODU	JCTION	1–42	5
	A.	Outline of the work of the Commission on State responsibility	1–6	5
	B.	Scope of the present report	7	5
	C.	Comments received so far on the draft articles	8–9	5
	D.	Some general issues	10-42	6
		1. Distinction between "primary" and "secondary" rules of State responsibility	12-18	6
		2. Issues excluded or insufficiently developed	19-26	7
		3. Relationship between the draft articles and other rules of international law	27	8
		4. Inclusion of detailed provisions on countermeasures and dispute settlement	28-38	8
		5. Eventual form of the draft articles	39–42	9
Cha	pter			
I.	Тні	E DISTINCTION BETWEEN "CRIMINAL" AND "DELICTUAL" RESPONSIBILITY	43–95	9
	Intr	oduction	43–45	9
	A.	The treatment of State crimes in the draft articles	46–51	10
	B.	Comments of Governments on State crimes	52-54	11
	C.	Existing international law on the criminal responsibility of States	55–59	14
	D.	Relations between the international criminal responsibility of States and certain cognate	60.60	1.0
		concepts	60–69 61	16
		Individual criminal responsibility under international law	62	16
		2. Peremptory norms of international law (jus cogens)	62 63–69	17 17
		3. Obligations <i>erga omnes</i>		
	E.	Possible approaches to international crimes of States	70–95	18
		1. Two preliminary issues	72–75	19
		2. Consideration of the alternatives	76–93	19
		(a) The status quo.	76–80	19
		(b) Substituting for "international crime" the notion of "exceptionally serious wrongful act"	81–82	21

 $^{^*} Incorporating\ documents\ A/CN.4/490/Add.2/Corr.1,\ A/CN.4/490/Add.4/Corr.1\ and\ A/CN.4/490/Add.7/Corr.1.$

Chap	oter		Paragraphs	Pag
		(c) Criminalizing State responsibility	83–86	21
		(d) Excluding the possibility of State crimes	87-90	22
		(e) Decriminalizing State responsibility	91–93	23
		3. Recommendation	94–95	23
II.	RE	VIEW OF DRAFT ARTICLES IN PART ONE (OTHER THAN ARTICLE 19)	96–284	24
	A.	Preliminary issues	96-103	24
		1. Questions of terminology	97–99	24
		General and savings clauses	100–103	26
	B.	Part one, chapter I. General principles (arts. 1–4)	104–139	26
		1. Article 1 (Responsibility of a State for its internationally wrongful acts)	105–126	27
		(a) General observations	105-107	27
		(b) A general requirement of fault or damage?	108-118	27
		(c) Relationship between internationally wrongful conduct and injury to other States		
		or persons	119–125	30
		(d) Recommendation	126	31
		Article 2 (Possibility that every State may be held to have committed an internationally wrongful act)	127–130	31
		(a) Observations	127–130	31
		(b) Recommendation	130	31
		3. Article 3 (Elements of an internationally wrongful act of a State)	131–135	31
		(a) Observations	131–134	31
		(b) Recommendation	135	32
		4. Article 4 (Characterization of an act of a State as internationally wrongful)	136–139	32
		(a) Observations	136–138	32
		(b) Recommendation	139	32
	C.	Part one, chapter II. The "act of the State" under international law (arts. 5–15)	140–284	32
		1. Introduction	140–155	32
		(a) Questions of terminology	146-147	33
		(b) Comments of Governments on chapter II as a whole	148-153	33
		(c) Basic principles underlying the notion of attribution	154–155	33
		2. Review of specific articles	156–283	34
		(a) Article 5 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of its organs)	156–165	34
		(b) Article 6 (Irrelevance of the position of the organ in the organization of the State	166–179	36
		(c) Article 7 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of other entities empowered to exercise elements of the government authority)	180–191	37
		(d) Article 8 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of persons acting in fact on	100 171	37
		behalf of the State)	192–218	39
		(i) Persons acting in fact on behalf of the State	195–213	39
		(ii) Agents of necessity: the exercise of State powers in the absence of the State	214–218	43
		(e) Article 9 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of organs placed at its disposal by another State or by an international organization)	219–231	44
		(f) Article 10 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of organs acting outside their	217 231	
		competence or contrary to instructions concerning their activity)	232-240	46
		(g) Article 11 (Conduct of persons not acting on behalf of the State)	241-245	48
		(h) Article 12 (Conduct of organs of another State)	246–252	49
		(i) Article 13 (Conduct of organs of an international organization)	253–259	50
		(j) Article 14 (Conduct of organs of an insurrectional movement)/Article 15 (Attribution to the State of the act of an insurrectional movement which becomes		
		the new Government of a State or which results in the formation of a new State)	260-277	51
		(k) Subsequent adoption of conduct by a State	278-283	54
		3. Summary of recommendations in relation to chapter II	284	55

Page

	ANNEX	
Se	lect bibliography on State responsibility	
	LIST OF TABLES	
1.	Key terms in the draft articles on State responsibility	
2.	Key terms relevant to the draft articles on State responsibility	
	Multilateral instruments cited in the present	report
		Source
	Hague Convention concerning the Laws and Customs of War on Land (Convention IV) (The Hague, 18 October 1907)	The Hague Conventions and Declarations of 1899 and 1907, 3rd ed., J. B. Scott, ed. (New York, Oxford University Press, 1918), p. 100.
	Treaty of Peace with Italy (Paris, 10 February 1947)	United Nations, <i>Treaty</i> Series, vol. 49, p. 3.
	Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (New York, 9 December 1948)	Ibid., vol. 78, p. 277.
	Geneva Conventions for the protection of war victims (Geneva, 12 August 1949)	Ibid., vol. 75, p. 31.
	Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War	Ibid., p. 135.
	Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War	Ibid., p. 287.
	Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts (Protocol I) and Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of Non-International Armed Conflicts (Protocol II) (Geneva, 8 June 1977)	Ibid., vol. 1125, pp. 3 and 609.
	Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations (Vienna, 18 April 1961)	Ibid., vol. 500, p. 95.
	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (New York, 16 December 1966)	Ibid., vol. 999, p. 171.
	Convention on Jurisdiction and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters (Brussels, 27 September 1968)	International Legal Materials (Washington, D.C.), vol. 8 (1969), p. 229.
	Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (Vienna, 23 May 1969)	United Nations, <i>Treaty Series</i> , vol. 1155, p. 331.
	Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel (New York, 9 December 1994)	Ibid., vol. 2051, p. 363.
	United Nations Convention on the Law of the Non-navigational Uses of International Watercourses (New York, 21 May 1997)	Official Records of the General Assembly, Fifty- first Session, Supplement No. 49, resolution 51/229, annex.
	International Convention for the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings (New York, 15 December 1997)	United Nations, <i>Treaty Series</i> , vol. 2149, p. 258.

Works cited in the present report

ALDRICH, George H.

The Jurisprudence of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1996.

ATLAM, Hazem

"National liberation movements and international responsibility" in Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 35–56.

AVANESSIAN, Aida B.

Iran-United States Claims Tribunal in Action. London, Graham & Trotman, 1993, 325 p.

BERNIER, Ivan

International Legal Aspects of Federalism. London, Longman, 1973.

BOWETT, Derek William

"Crimes of State and the 1996 report of the International Law Commission on State responsibility", European Journal of International Law (Florence), vol. 9, No. 1, 1998, pp. 163–173.

Brower, Charles N. and Jason D. Brueschke

The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1998. 931 p.

Brownlie, Ian

System of the Law of Nations: State Responsibility. Part I. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1983.

CARON, D.

"The basis of responsibility: attribution and other trans-substantive rules" in Richard B. Lillich and Daniel Barstow Magraw, eds., The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Its Contribution to the Law of State Responsibility. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1998, pp. 109–184.

CONDORELLI, Luigi

"L'imputation à l'État d'un fait internationalement illicite: solutions classiques et nouvelles tendances", Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1984–VI. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1988. Vol. 189, pp. 9–221.

COSNARD, Michel

La soumission des États aux tribunaux internes: face à la théorie des immunités des États. Paris, Pedone, 1996. 478 p.

CRAWFORD, James

"The international legal status of the valleys of Andorra", International Law Review (Geneva), 55th year, No. 4, 1977.

DIPLA, Haritini

La responsabilité de l'État pour violation des droits de l'homme: problèmes d'imputation. Paris, Pedone, 1994. 116 p.

Duursma, Jorri

Fragmentation and the International Relations of Micro-States: Self-determination and Statehood. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1966.

EISEMANN, Pierre Michel

"L'arrêt de la C.I.J. du 27 juin 1986 (fond) dans l'affaire des activités militaires et paramilitaires au Nicaragua et contre celui-ci", Annuaire français de droit international (Paris), vol. XXXII, 1986, pp. 153–191.

FISSE, Brent and John BRAITHWAITE

Corporations, Crime and Accountability. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1993.

LANG, Caroline

L'affaire Nicaragua/États-Unis devant la Cour internationale de Justice. Paris, LGDJ, 1990.

MICHELMANN, Hans J. and P. SOLDATOS, eds.

Federalism and International Relations: The Role of Subnational Units. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1990.

O'CONNELL, D. P.

State Succession in Municipal Law and International Law. Vol. 1. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1967.

OPESKIN, Brian R. and Donald R. ROTHWELL, eds.

International Law and Australian Federalism. Melbourne University Press, 1997. 379 p.

PELLET, Alain

"Vive le crime! Remarques sur les degrés de l'illicite en droit international", *International Law on the Eve of the Twenty-first Century: Views from the International Law Commission*. United Nations publication. Sales No. E/F.97.V.4, pp. 287–315.

REUTER, Paul

"Le dommage comme condition de la responsabilité internationale", Estudios de derecho internacional: homenaje al Profesor Miaja de la Muela, vol. II. Madrid, Tecnos, 1979, pp. 837–846.

ROSENSTOCK, Robert

"An international criminal responsibility of States?", *International Law on the Eve of the Twenty-first Century: Views from the International Law Commission*. United Nations publication. Sales No. E/F.97.V.4, pp. 265–285.

SIMMA, Bruno

"From bilateralism to community interest in international law", Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1994–VI. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1997. Vol. 250, pp. 217–384.

SPINEDI, Marina

"International crimes of State: the legislative history", in Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 7–138.

STESSENS, Guy

"Corporate criminal liability: a comparative perspective", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly* (London), vol. 43, issue 3, July 1994, pp. 493–520.

Tanzi, Attila

"Is damage a distinct condition for the existence of an internationally wrongful act?" in Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., United Nations Codification of State Responsibility. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 1–33.

VERHOEVEN, Joe

"Le droit, le juge et la violence: les arrêts Nicaragua c. États-Unis", RGDIP, vol. 91, 1987.

WILDHABER, Luzius

Treaty-Making Power and Constitution: An International and Comparative Study. Basel, Helbing & Lichtenhahn, 1971. 412 p.

WILSON, Heather A.

International Law and the Use of Force by National Liberation Movements. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1988.

Introduction

A. Outline of the work of the Commission on State responsibility

- 1. The subject of State responsibility was one of the 14 topics originally selected by the Commission for "codification and progressive development" in 1949. Work began in 1956 under Mr. F. V. Garcia-Amador as Special Rapporteur. It focused on State responsibility for injuries to aliens and their property, that is to say on the content of the substantive rules of international law in that field. Although Mr. Garcia-Amador submitted six reports between 1956 and 1961, the Commission barely discussed them, because of the demands of other topics, including diplomatic immunities and the law of treaties. It was also felt that the disagreements over the scope and content of the substantive rules relating to the protection of aliens and their property were such that little progress was likely to be made.
- 2. Thus the Commission reconsidered its approach to the topic. In 1962, an intersessional subcommittee, chaired by Mr. Roberto Ago, recommended that the Commission should focus on "the definition of the general rules governing the international responsibility of the State".² It added that, in doing so,

there would be no question of neglecting the experience and material gathered in certain special sectors, specially that of responsibility for injuries to the person or property of aliens; and, secondly, that careful attention should be paid to the possible repercussions which new developments in international law may have had on responsibility.³

In 1963, the Commission approved the proposed definition and appointed Mr. Ago Special Rapporteur.

- 3. Between 1969 and 1980, Mr. Ago produced eight reports, together with a substantial addendum to the eighth report, produced after his election to ICJ. During that time, the Commission provisionally adopted 35 articles, together making up part one of the proposed draft articles (Origin of State responsibility).
- 4. In 1979, following the election of Mr. Ago to ICJ, Mr. Willem Riphagen was appointed Special Rapporteur. Between 1980 and 1986, he presented seven reports, containing a complete set of draft articles on part two (Content, forms and degrees of international responsibility) and part three (Settlement of disputes) together with commentaries. Owing to the priority given to other topics, however, only five draft articles from part two were provisionally adopted during this period.
- 5. In 1987, Mr. Riphagen being no longer a member of the Commission, Mr. Gaetano Arangio-Ruiz was appointed Special Rapporteur. In the period 1988–1996, he presented eight reports. The Drafting Committee dealt with the remainder of parts two and three in the 1992–1996 quinquennium, enabling the Commission to adopt the

text with commentaries on first reading.⁴ No attempt was made, however, to reconsider any issues raised by part one of the draft articles. The coordination of articles in the different parts was left to the second reading.

6. At its forty-ninth session in 1997 (Mr. Arangio-Ruiz having ceased to be a member), the Commission adopted a provisional timetable which envisaged a two-track process, with the aim of completing the second reading by the end of the quinquennium, i.e. by 2001. This process would involve reports by a special rapporteur, together with a series of working groups to consider major unresolved issues. Three such issues were tentatively identified as requiring special consideration: international crimes, the regime of countermeasures and the settlement of disputes.⁵

B. Scope of the present report

7. The present report deals first, in the introduction, with a number of preliminary and general issues as to the scope and form of the draft articles. Chapter I discusses what has so far proved the most controversial aspect of the draft articles as a whole: the distinction drawn in article 19 between international crimes and international delicts. This is perhaps the most striking way in which the draft articles sought to deal with "the possible repercussions which new developments in international law may have had on responsibility" (para. 2 above). Chapter II undertakes the task of reviewing and, where necessary, revising the draft articles in part one (other than article 19). It makes specific proposals, taking into account the comments of States and developments in doctrine and practice since the adoption of part one.

C. Comments received so far on the draft articles

8. Before turning to the substance, a word should be said about comments of Governments on the draft articles. A few written comments were received on part one in the period 1980–1988.⁶ More recently, the General Assembly invited comments on the draft articles as a whole. Eighteen Governments have so far responded.⁷ Many Governments have also commented on the evolution of particular draft articles in the course of the debate in the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly on the work of the Commission, and these comments will also, as far as possible, be taken into account. The Special Rapporteur would welcome further comments both on the draft

¹ Yearbook ... 1949, p. 281, para. 16.

² Yearbook ... 1963, vol. II, document A/CN.4/152, p. 228, para. 5.

³ Ibid.

⁴ See Yearbook ... 1996, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 58 et seq.

⁵ Yearbook ... 1997, vol. II (Part Two), p. 11, para. 30, and p. 58, para. 161.

⁶ See *Yearbook* ... *1980*, vol. II (Part One), p. 87, document A/CN.4/328 and Add.1–4; *Yearbook* ... *1981*, vol. II (Part One), p. 71, document A/CN.4/342 and Add.1–4; *Yearbook* ... *1982*, vol. II (Part One), p. 15, document A/CN.4/351 and Add.1–3; *Yearbook* ... *1983*, vol. II (Part One), p. 1, document A/CN.4/362; and *Yearbook* ... *1988*, vol. II (Part One), p. 1, document A/CN.4/414.

⁷ See A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3, reproduced in the present volume.

articles and on the proposals contained in the present report. 8

9. Comments of Governments so far fall essentially into two categories. The first consists of comments on the draft articles as a whole, with observations on the overall economy of the text, or proposing the deletion of certain topics or issues, or, less often, the inclusion of new topics. These raise a number of general issues, some of which are discussed below. The second group includes comments on particular issues. They will be dealt with as necessary in the discussion of the relevant draft articles.

D. Some general issues

- A number of comments discuss the balance between codification and progressive development in the draft articles. This is an important and perennial issue for the Commission. But one difficulty is that discussions in these terms tend to be rather impressionistic and risk substituting debate about generalities for attention to the particular provisions. At the current stage it is sufficient to note the suggestion made (e.g. by France, and impliedly by the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America) that the draft articles err on the side of "progressive development", in a way that is likely to be counter-productive and unacceptable to States. Other comments take a more positive line (e.g. Argentina, Czech Republic, Italy, Nordic countries, Uzbekistan). But the overall balance of the draft articles can only be assessed after the second reading process is further advanced.
- 11. Certain general issues do warrant some discussion at this stage. They are:
- (a) The distinction between "primary" and "secondary" rules of State responsibility;
- (b) Issues excluded from the draft articles or insufficiently developed;
- (c) The relationship between the draft articles and other rules of international law;
- (d) The inclusion of detailed provisions on countermeasures and dispute settlement;
 - (e) The eventual form of the draft articles.
- 1. DISTINCTION BETWEEN "PRIMARY" AND "SECONDARY" RULES OF STATE RESPONSIBILITY
- 12. As noted above, the Commission initially approached the subject by considering the substantive law of diplomatic protection (protection of the persons and property of aliens abroad). But it became clear that this area was not ripe for codification. A decision to return to certain aspects of the topic, under the rubric of "Diplomatic pro-

tection", was only made in 1997; at the same time it was decided to focus largely on the secondary rules applicable to that topic. ¹⁰ The issue of potential overlap with the draft articles on State responsibility will need to be kept under review.

13. When it reconsidered the issue in 1962–1963, the Commission saw the present topic as concerning "the definition of the general rules governing the international responsibility of the State", ¹¹ by which was meant responsibility for wrongful acts. The emphasis was on the word "general". The draft articles were to concern themselves with the *framework* for State responsibility, irrespective of the content of the substantive rule breached in any given case. The distinction between "primary" and "secondary" rules was formulated by the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Ago, as follows:

The Commission agreed on the need to concentrate its study on the determination of the principles which govern the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, maintaining a strict distinction between this task and the task of defining the rules that place obligations on States, the violation of which may generate responsibility. Consideration of the various kinds of obligations placed on States in international law and, in particular, a grading of such obligations according to their importance to the international community, may have to be treated as a necessary element in assessing the gravity of an internationally wrongful act and as a criterion for determining the consequences it should have. But this must not obscure the essential fact that it is one thing to define a rule and the content of the obligation it imposes, and another to determine whether that obligation has been violated and what should be the consequence of the violation. Only the second aspect of the matter comes within the sphere of responsibility proper; to encourage any confusion on this point would be to raise an obstacle which might once again frustrate the hope of a successful codification of the topic.¹²

- 14. The distinction between primary and secondary rules has had its critics. It has been said, for example, that the "secondary" rules are mere abstractions, of no practical use; that the assumption of generally applicable secondary rules overlooks the possibility that particular substantive rules, or substantive rules within a particular field of international law, may generate their own specific secondary rules, and that the draft articles themselves fail to apply the distinction consistently, thereby demonstrating its artificiality.
- On the other hand, to abandon the distinction, at the current stage of the work on the topic, and to search for some different principle of organization for the draft articles, would be extremely difficult. It would amount to going back to the drawing board, producing substantial further delays in the work. Moreover, it is far from clear what other principle of organization might be adopted, once the approach of selecting particular substantive areas for codification (such as injury to aliens) has been abandoned. The point is that the substantive rules of international law, breach of which may give rise to State responsibility, are innumerable. They include substantive rules contained in treaties as well as in general international law. Given rapid and continuous developments in both custom and treaty, the corpus of primary rules is, practically speaking, beyond the reach of codification, even if that were desirable in principle.

⁸ In addition several non-governmental bodies are contributing comments, including ILA (which is establishing a working group), a panel of Japanese scholars nominated by the Government of Japan, and a panel of the American Society of International Law.

⁹ See A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France under General remarks, paras. 6–7.

 $^{^{10}}$ Yearbook ... 1997, vol. II (Part Two), p. 11, para. 30, and p. 58, paras. 158–161.

¹¹ Yearbook ... 1963, vol. II, p. 228, para. 5.

¹² Yearbook ... 1970, vol. II, p. 306, para. 66 (c).

- 16. Indeed the distinction has a number of advantages. It allows some general rules of responsibility to be restated and developed without having to resolve a myriad of issues about the content or application of particular rules, the breach of which may give rise to responsibility. For example, there has been an extensive debate about whether State responsibility can exist in the absence of damage or injury to another State or States. If by damage or injury is meant economically assessable damages, the answer is clearly that this is not always necessary. On the other hand in some situations there is no legal injury to another State unless it has suffered material harm. ¹³ The position varies, depending on the substantive or primary rule in question. It is only necessary for the draft articles to be drafted in such a way as to allow for the various possibilities, depending on the applicable primary rule. A similar analysis would apply to the question whether some "mental element" or culpa is required to engage the responsibility of a State, or whether State responsibility is "strict" or even "absolute", or depends upon "due diligence".
- 17. There remains a question whether the draft articles are sufficiently responsive to the impact that particular primary rules may have. The regime of State responsibility is, after all, not only general but also residual. The issue arises particularly in relation to article 37 of part two (*Lex specialis*). It is discussed below.
- 18. Finally, there is a question whether some of the articles do not go beyond the statement of secondary rules to lay down particular primary rules. This is true, at least apparently, for the definition of international crimes in article 19, and especially paragraph 3. Article 19, however, raises broader issues, which are discussed in chapter I below. Another article which, it has been suggested, infringes the distinction between primary and secondary rules is article 35, dealing with compensation in cases where the responsibility of a particular State is precluded by one of the circumstances dealt with in articles 29 to 33.¹⁴ On the other hand article 35 is a without prejudice clause, and does not specify the circumstances in which such compensation may be payable. It can be argued that it thereby usefully qualifies the "circumstances precluding wrongfulness" in articles 29 to 33 although whether it is equally applicable to each of those circumstances is a question to which it will be necessary to return.

2. Issues excluded or insufficiently developed

19. Many of the comments made so far with regard to the scope of the draft articles relate to issues which should be excluded (e.g. international crimes, countermeasures, dispute settlement). But a number of topics have been identified which require further treatment. For example, the provisions dealing with reparation, and especially the payment of interest, have been said to be inadequately developed.¹⁵

- 20. Another such issue is obligations *erga omnes*. Since its well-known dictum in the *Barcelona Traction* case, ¹⁶ ICJ has repeatedly referred to the notion of obligations *erga omnes*, most recently on the admissibility of Yugoslavian counter-claims in the case concerning the *Application of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide*. ¹⁷ The matter is presently dealt with in the definition of "injured State" in article 40, where it is linked to the concept of international crimes.
- 21. Comments of Governments on obligations *erga* omnes are very varied.
- 22. France is generally critical of the notion, while not denying that in special circumstances a State may suffer legal injury merely by reason of the breach of a commitment. However, it says that "in the case of a commitment under a multilateral treaty, the supposedly injured State must establish that it has suffered special material or moral damage other than that resulting from a simple violation of a legal rule". ¹⁸ This may appear to deny the possibility of obligations *erga omnes*, whose very effect, presumably, is to establish a legal interest of all States in compliance with certain norms.
- 23. Germany, by contrast, sees in the clarification and elaboration of the concepts of obligations *erga omnes* and *jus cogens*, in the field of State responsibility, a solution to the vexed problems presented by article 19. ¹⁹
- 24. The United States takes an intermediate position, supporting the clarification and in some respects the narrowing of the categories of "injured State" in article 40, especially in relation to breaches of multilateral treaties, while accepting the notion of a general or community interest in relation to defined categories of treaty (e.g. human rights treaties). But it denies that injured States acting in the context of obligations *erga omnes* (or of an *actio popularis*) should have the right to claim reparation as distinct from cessation.²⁰
- 25. The United Kingdom likewise raises issues of the definition of "injured State" in the context of multilateral treaty obligations. In particular it questions the consistency of article 40, paragraph 2 (e) (ii), with article 60, paragraph 2 (c), of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, which allows the parties to multilateral treaties to suspend the operation of the treaty in relation to a defaulting State only "if the treaty is of such a character that a material breach of its provisions by one party radically changes the position of every party with respect to the further performance of its obligations under the treaty". ²¹
- 26. These and related questions will be referred to in chapter I of the present report, in the context of international crimes, and (depending on the decisions to be taken

¹³ See, for example, the *Lake Lanoux* arbitration, UNRIAA, vol. XII (Sales No. 63.V.3), p. 281.

¹⁴ See, for example, A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 35.

¹⁵ Ibid., comments by the United States on article 42, comments by France under General remarks, para. 5; and comments by Mongolia on article 45.

¹⁶ Barcelona Traction, Light and Power Company, Limited, Second Phase, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1970, p. 32.

¹⁷ Counter-Claims, Order of 17 December 1997, I.C.J. Reports 1997, p. 258, para. 35.

 $^{^{18}\,\}text{A/CN.4/488}$ and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 40, para. 3.

¹⁹ Ibid., comments by Germany under part two, chap. IV.

²⁰ Ibid., comments by the United States on article 19, para. 2.

²¹ Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 40, para. 2.

by the Commission as to the treatment of international crimes) they will be considered in more detail in relation to part two of the draft articles, and especially article 40.

- 3. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE DRAFT ARTICLES AND OTHER RULES OF INTERNATIONAL LAW
- 27. This issue has already been referred to in the context of the distinction between primary and secondary rules. It is addressed in the introductory articles to part two, in particular articles 37 to 39. Of particular significance is article 37 (Lex specialis), which recognizes that States are normally free to regulate issues of responsibility arising between them by special rules, or even by "self-contained regimes", notwithstanding the general law of responsibility. A number of Governments have suggested that the lex specialis principle should be applied to part one as well.²² In the Special Rapporteur's view, this suggestion has much to commend it. But there remains a question whether the relocation of article 37 would be sufficient to cope with the implications of "soft" obligations, e.g. obligations to consult or to report. This will be discussed when considering draft articles 37 and 38.
 - 4. INCLUSION OF DETAILED PROVISIONS ON COUNTER-MEASURES AND DISPUTE SETTLEMENT
- 28. Apart from the question of international crimes, there is controversy about the inclusion of two other major elements in the draft articles, countermeasures and dispute settlement.
- 29. A number of Governments are strongly critical of the inclusion of detailed rules on countermeasures in the draft articles, although again there is a spectrum of views.
- 30. Some Governments accept the need for the inclusion of countermeasures as a circumstance precluding responsibility, at least as against the wrongdoing State (art. 30), but deny that the detailed elaboration of a regime of countermeasures in part two is appropriate.²³
- 31. Others accept that countermeasures should figure in the draft articles not only in article 30, but also in more elaborate form in part two. In some cases, however, they raise questions about the formulation of relevant articles, including questions of a fundamental kind.²⁴
- 32. By contrast, a few regard countermeasures as outside the scope of the draft articles entirely, on the basis that

they cannot excuse unlawful conduct and that they tend to exacerbate rather than prevent inter-State disputes.²⁵

- 33. A range of views is also expressed in relation to the issues of dispute settlement raised by part three. Of particular significance is the point that most disputes between States (including even some territorial disputes) can be presented as disputes about State responsibility. Any compulsory system of dispute settlement under the draft articles potentially becomes a general dispute settlement mechanism for inter-State disputes. No doubt preference can be given to any other third-party mechanism which the parties may have chosen. But except in specialized fields, there is no such mechanism for most States in most cases. Some Governments (e.g. Italy, Mexico, Mongolia) regard this as a reason for supporting and even strengthening part three. Others (e.g. France, United States) regard it as a reason for deleting it. Still others welcome some provision for dispute settlement but urge caution in its formulation (e.g. Argentina, Czech Republic, Germany, Ireland, Nordic countries).²⁶ It should be noted that this issue is intimately linked to the question of the form the draft articles should take, an issue discussed below.
- 34. A related question is whether the draft articles should incorporate procedural elements, such as references to the onus or standard of proof. In the normal practice of the Commission, such adjectival issues have been avoided, although occasionally a substantive rule is formulated in terms implying that it is to be read narrowly or by way of exception: e.g. the negative formulation in the 1969 Vienna Convention of certain grounds for challenging the validity of or terminating a treaty (see articles 46, 56 and 62, paragraph 1).
- 35. France, while opposing the inclusion of separate, and especially compulsory, provisions for the settlement of disputes, argues in favour of the inclusion of a range of procedural safeguards.²⁷ *A fortiori*, such presumptions or other safeguards would be in order in a set of articles which did properly include measures for compulsory dispute settlement. They would be of particular significance in relation to international crimes, if that notion is retained. The normal requirement that criminal conduct should be duly and fully proved against the entity in question must presumably apply to States, as it does to any other natural or legal person.
- 36. The draft articles do include some such provisions. For example, article 8 attributes to a State the conduct of persons acting in fact on its behalf if:
- "(a) It is established that* such person or group of persons was in fact acting on behalf of that State;"
- 37. Article 27 proscribes certain measures of aid or assistance to a wrongdoing State "if *it is established that** [the aid or assistance] is rendered for the commission of

²² Ibid., comments by Germany on article 1, para. 3; by the United States on article 30; and by France on article 37.

 $^{^{23}}$ Ibid., comments by France under part two, chap. III; and by the United Kingdom on article 30.

²⁴ Ibid., comments by the United States on article 30, and under part two, chap. III; by Germany and Mongolia under part two, chap. III; by the Czech Republic under part two, chap. III, and on article 48; by Austria under part two, chap. III, and on article 48, para. 1; by Ireland and the Nordic countries under part two, chap. III. See also the detailed suggestions made in the alternative by France, under part two, chap. III, and on article 48.

²⁵ Ibid., comments by Mexico on article 30.

²⁶ Ibid., comments by the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Mexico, Mongolia, the Nordic countries, the United Kingdom and the United States under part three.

²⁷ Ibid., comments by France under part three.

an internationally wrongful act carried out by the latter". It is not clear why this formula is used in these articles and not others. For example, article 16 (Existence of a breach of an international obligation) is in neutral terms. It provides merely that:

"There is a breach of an international obligation by a State when an act of that State is not in conformity with what is required of it by that obligation."

38. There is a case for more systematic attention to such issues. This can best be done in the context of the overall issues of dispute resolution, which in turn depend to a great extent upon the eventual form of the draft articles.

5. EVENTUAL FORM OF THE DRAFT ARTICLES

- 39. A question of considerable strategic importance is whether the draft articles should be proposed as a convention open to ratification, or whether they should take some other form, e.g. a declaration of principles of State responsibility to be adopted by the General Assembly. The latter approach would have major implications for dispute settlement: a General Assembly resolution could not establish more than a facility for dispute resolution, and would be unlikely even to go that far.
- 40. The views of Governments so far range widely. Some (e.g. Italy, Mexico, Nordic countries) expressly or by implication favour a convention, since without one substantive provisions for dispute settlement are impossible. Others (e.g. Austria, United Kingdom) advocate a non-conventional form. One argument which is particularly stressed is that the process of subsequent debate and the possible non-adoption or non-ratification of a convention would cast doubt on established legal principles. Some Governments (e.g. Argen-

tina, Czech Republic, France, Germany, United States) take no position at the current stage.²⁸

- The normal working method of the Commission is to prepare its proposals in the form of draft articles, leaving it to the completion of the process to decide what form the text should take. The Special Rapporteur believes that the normal method has much to commend it, and that the case for departing from it has not been made at the current stage. Discussion of the eventual form of the draft articles is premature, at a time when their scope and content have not been finally determined. States unhappy with particular aspects of a text will tend to favour the non-conventional form, but the option of a declaration or a resolution should not detract attention from an unsatisfactory text. In other words, deferring consideration of the form of the instrument has the desirable effect of focusing attention on its content. The precedent of the 1969 Vienna Convention is instructive. At one stage it was thought that the codification and progressive development of the law of treaties in the form of a treaty rather than a "restatement" was undesirable, and even logically excluded. Yet the Convention is one of the Commission's most important products, and it seems likely that it has had a more lasting and a more beneficial effect as a multilateral treaty than it could have had, for example, as a resolution or a declaration.
- 42. For these reasons, in the Special Rapporteur's view the question of the eventual form of the draft articles should be deferred for the time being. There will be occasion to return to it in the context of the treatment of the provisions on dispute settlement, at which stage the eventual scope of the draft articles with respect to such issues as crimes and countermeasures should be clearer.

CHAPTER I

The distinction between "criminal" and "delictual" responsibility

Introduction

43. The single most controversial element in the draft articles on State responsibility is the distinction between international crimes and international delicts. That distinction was first accepted in 1976, when article 19 was provisionally adopted. But its substantive consequences were not finally formulated by the Commission until 1996, and then only after a difficult and fraught debate.²⁹

There is a marked contrast between the gravity of an international crime of a State, as expressed in article 19, on the one hand, and the rather limited consequences drawn from such a crime in articles 51 to 53, on the other. There is a further contrast between the strong procedural guarantee associated with countermeasures under article 48 and part three, and the complete absence of procedural guarantees associated with international crimes.

44. When article 19 was first adopted, many Governments preferred to reserve their written comments until the definition of an international crime had been completed by the elaboration of specific consequences and procedures. In the debates in the Sixth Committee a majority of States which expressed views in the period 1976–1980

²⁸ Ibid., under General remarks, comments by Austria, paras. 6–11; by France, para. 4; by Mexico, para. 3; by the United Kingdom, paras. 6–8; and by the United States, para. 6.

²⁹ As a result of the decision not to reopen issues raised by part one of the draft articles, the Commission during this period did not reconsider article 19 itself. See the footnote to article 40, cited in paragraph 51 below. The principal Commission reports dealing with international crimes are: *Yearbook* ... 1976, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/291 and Add.1 and 2, pp. 23–54; *Yearbook* ... 1982, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/354 and Add.1 and 2, pp. 48–50; *Yearbook* ... 1983, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/366 and Add.1, pp. 10–24; *Yearbook* ... 1995, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/469 and Add.1

and 2, pp. 3–31; and *Yearbook ... 1996*, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/476 and Add.1, pp. 1–13.

supported the distinction between crime and delict; an even larger majority favoured some distinction being drawn between more and less serious wrongful acts.³⁰

45. Following the adoption of parts two and three, all the Governments which have so far commented have dealt with the issue of international crimes. Their comments reveal a wide range of views and include many criticisms and suggestions: they are summarized below. A similarly wide range of views is contained in the extensive literature.³¹ It is time to take stock.

A. The treatment of State crimes in the draft articles

46. Article 19, paragraph 1, provides that:

An act of a State which constitutes a breach of an international obligation is an internationally wrongful act, regardless of the subject-matter of the obligation breached.

This is a statement of the obvious. It has sometimes been argued that an international obligation has not been, or could not have been, assumed with respect to a particular subject (e.g. because it is domestic or internal to the State). There appears, however, to be no case where a State has claimed to be exempt from responsibility with respect to an acknowledged international obligation, merely because of the subject matter of that obligation. Nor is there any reported case where an international tribunal has upheld such an argument. No contrary view or authority is cited in the commentary. Article 19, paragraph 1, does no more than express what is clearly implied by articles 1 and 3, and can safely be left to be clarified in the commentaries to those articles.

47. Article 19, paragraph 4, proclaims a distinction between international crimes and international delicts:

Any internationally wrongful act which is not an international crime in accordance with paragraph 2 constitutes an international delict.

The category of "delict" is thus defined in purely negative terms, in contradistinction to the definition of "international crimes".

48. That definition is contained in article 19, paragraph 2, which defines as "an international crime":

An internationally wrongful act which results from the breach by a State of an international obligation so essential for the protection of fundamental interests of the international community that its breach is recognized as a crime by that community as a whole.

The circularity of this definition has often been noted. On the other hand, it is no more circular than the definition of peremptory norms of general international law (jus cogens) contained in article 53 of the 1969 Vienna Convention, a definition now widely accepted. But it is possible to define the category of "crimes" in other ways. This might be done, for example, by reference to their distinctive procedural incidents. "Crimes" might be distinguished from "delicts" by reference to the existence of some specific system for investigation and enforcement. Or the distinction might be made by reference to the substantive consequences. Thus "delicts" might be defined as breaches of obligation for which only compensation or restitution is available, as distinct from fines or other sanctions. Article 19, paragraph 2, adopts neither course. And as will be seen, the draft articles nowhere specify any distinctive and exclusive consequence of an "international crime". Nor do they lay down any authoritative procedure for determining that a crime has been committed.

49. Conscious of the difficulties of applying the bare definition contained in article 19, paragraph 2, the Commission sought to clarify the position in paragraph 3. This provides:

Subject to paragraph 2, and on the basis of the rules of international law in force, an international crime may result, *inter alia*, from:

- (a) A serious breach of an international obligation of essential importance for the maintenance of international peace and security, such as that prohibiting aggression;
- (b) A serious breach of an international obligation of essential importance for safeguarding the right of self-determination of peoples, such as that prohibiting the establishment or maintenance by force of colonial domination;
- (c) A serious breach on a widespread scale of an international obligation of essential importance for safeguarding the human being, such as those prohibiting slavery, genocide and apartheid;
- (d) A serious breach of an international obligation of essential importance for the safeguarding and preservation of the human environment, such as those prohibiting massive pollution of the atmosphere or of the seas.

Even supporters of the principle underlying article 19 are strongly critical of paragraph 3, and for good reason.³³ First, it is an illusory definition. A crime merely "may result" from one of the enumerated acts. Secondly, it is wholly lacking in specificity. A crime "may" result, but subject to paragraph 2 and to unspecified "rules of international law in force". The problem is not that paragraph 3 only provides an inclusive list; it could hardly do otherwise. It is rather that it provides no assurance that even the breaches enumerated would constitute crimes, if proved. Whether they "may" do so depends, *inter alia*, on "the rules of international law in force". No doubt it was not the function of the draft articles, including article 19, paragraph 3, to restate primary rules, but that is no reason to give the appearance of doing so. Thirdly, the various subparagraphs are disparate both in their content and in

 $^{^{30}}$ A careful analysis of the views of the 80 Governments which expressed themselves at that time is contained in Spinedi, "International crimes of State: the legislative history", pp. 45–79.

³¹ See the items contained in the bibliography annexed to the present report. Among these, Weiler, Cassese and Spinedi, eds., *International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility*, is of particular importance. The most persuasive defence of article 19 is Pellet, "Vive le crime! Remarques sur les degrés de l'illicite en droit international", p. 287. Contrary views expressed by present or past members of the Commission include: Rosentock, "An international criminal responsibility of States?", p. 265; Bowett, "Crimes of State and the 1996 report of the International Law Commission on State responsibility", p. 163; Brownlie, *System of the Law of Nations: State Responsibility*, pp. 32–33; Simma, "From bilateralism to community interest in international law", pp. 301–321.

³² PCIJ in an early case pointed out that international obligations could in principle be assumed by States on any subject: see *Nationality Decrees Issued in Tunis and Morocco*, *Advisory Opinion*, 1923, P.C.I.J., Series B, No. 4, pp. 23–27. The development of international law-making bears out this remark. See *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America)*, Merits, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1986, p. 131.

³³ See, for example, Pellet, loc. cit., pp. 298–301.

their relation to existing international law.³⁴ Having regard to its merely illustrative role and its lack of independent normative content, paragraph 3 should be substituted by a more detailed commentary, if the distinction between crimes and delicts is retained in the draft articles.³⁵

An analysis of paragraph 3 leads directly back to paragraph 2, but the illustrations offered in paragraph 3 raise a further question. The emphasis in paragraph 2 is on norms which are essential for the protection of fundamental interests of the international community, such that the community regards a breach of those norms as constituting a "crime". By contrast, paragraph 3 focuses not on the importance of the norms but on the seriousness of their breach: it is only "serious" breaches that are crimes, in some cases further qualified by such phrases as "on a widespread scale" or "massive". But international law does not contain a norm which prohibits, for example, "widespread" cases of genocide: it simply prohibits genocide. In other words, paragraph 3 adds an additional element of seriousness of breach, independently of the legal definition of the crime itself. It is not unusual for criminal law norms to incorporate a definitional element corresponding to the scale or seriousness of the conduct to be prohibited; but paragraph 3 appears to add yet a further unspecified element of seriousness. Taken together the two paragraphs can be read as saying that if (for example) a case of aggression, or of genocide, is so serious that the international community as a whole stigmatizes that act as criminal, then it is to be accounted a crime. To which it must be objected that this is not a definition of international crimes at all.36

- 51. The consequences of international crimes are dealt with in part two:
- (a) Under article 40, paragraph 3, all other States in the world are defined as "injured States" with respect to an international crime. The corollary is that all States may seek reparation under articles 42 to 46, and may take

countermeasures under articles 47 and 48. This is perhaps the single most significant consequence of an international crime. However, it is not a *distinctive* consequence of such crimes, since many or all States may be "injured" by a delict pursuant to article 40, paragraph 2 (*e*) or (*f*), for example by a breach of an obligation under a multilateral treaty or under general international law for the protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms. Article 40, paragraph 2 (*e*) (iii), does not require that such a breach should have been "serious", or that the obligation should have been "of essential importance";

- (b) Under article 52, certain rather extreme limitations upon the obtaining of restitution or satisfaction do not apply in case of crimes. Thus in the case of crimes an injured State is entitled to insist on restitution even if this seriously and fruitlessly jeopardizes the political independence or economic stability of the "criminal" State;
- (c) Under article 53, there is a limited obligation of solidarity in relation to crimes. For example, States are under an obligation "not to recognize as lawful the situation created" by a crime (art. 53 (a)). This may suggest, a contrario, that States are entitled to recognize as lawful the situation created by a delict, no matter how serious that delict may be.

By contrast, the draft articles do not provide for "punitive" damages for crimes, let alone fines or other sanctions. Nor do they lay down any special procedure for determining authoritatively whether a crime has been committed, or what consequences should follow: this is left for each individual State to determine *qua* "injured State". Detailed proposals for such a procedure were rejected by the Commission in 1995 and again in 1996;³⁷ attempts to draft lesser alternative procedures were not accepted.³⁸ Overall it can be said that the specific consequences attached to international crimes in parts two and three are rather minimal, at least if the notion of "crimes" reflected in article 19 is to be taken at face value. Indeed this can be implied from a footnote added to article 40, which reads:

The term "crime" is used for consistency with article 19 of part one of the articles. It was, however, noted that alternative phrases such as "an international wrongful act of a serious nature" or "an exceptionally serious wrongful act" could be substituted for the term "crime", thus, *inter alia*, avoiding the penal implication of the term.

This possibility will be discussed in paragraphs 81–82 below.

B. Comments of Governments on State crimes

52. A number of Governments which have so far commented in the current round on the draft articles have been

³⁴ This can be illustrated, for example, by reference to paragraph 3 (d). Its opening words evidently do not refer to a single "obligation ... for the safeguarding and preservation of the human environment"; international law contains a range of environmental norms and cannot be expressed in terms of a single rule. Depending on the circumstances, a large number of rules can be described as safeguarding and preserving the "human environment", a term which also raises issues about its relationship to "the natural environment" or to the environment as a whole. The second clause ("such as") raises further difficulties: (a) the phrase "such as" provides yet a second level of inclusiveness; (b) the word "those" cannot grammatically refer back to the singular "obligation"; and (c) general international law does not contain a norm prohibiting "massive" pollution: whether the threshold for the prohibition may be set (and it may be different in different contexts), it is clearly less stringent than "massive" pollution.

³⁵ It should be noted that the version of article 19 originally proposed by the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Ago, was very different: see his fifth report, *Yearbook ... 1976*, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/291 and Add.1 and 2, p. 54, para. 155. It was both much broader in its ambit (for example, any breach of Article 2, paragraph 4, of the Charter of the United Nations was designated an "international crime") and more definite in its content. The tentative and qualifying language of article 19, paragraph 3, was added in the Drafting Committee. The original draft is better read as an attempt to express the notion of obligations *erga omnes*, and indeed the term "international crime" was placed in inverted commas. At that stage, of course, no attempt had been made to define the range of States affected or injured by a breach of obligation.

³⁶ See Consistency of Certain Danzig Legislative Decrees with the Constitution of the Free City, Advisory Opinion, 1935, P.C.I.J., Series A/B, No. 65, pp. 52–53.

³⁷ For the proposals see *Yearbook* ... *1995*, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/469 and Add.1 and 2, pp. 17–26, paras. 70–119, and pp. 29–31, paras. 140–146; and *Yearbook* ... *1996*, vol. II (Part One), p. 1, document A/CN.4/476 and Add.1. For a summary of the debate, see *Yearbook* ... *1995*, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 54–61, paras. 304–339; and *Yearbook* ... *1996*, vol. II (Part Two), p. 58, para. 61, and pp. 70–71, commentary to article 51.

³⁸ These proposals are briefly described in *Yearbook* ... *1996*, vol. II (Part Two), p. 71, paras. (7)–(14) of the commentary to article 51.

critical of the inclusion of State crimes in the draft articles:

- (a) The United States of America strongly opposes the provisions dealing with State crimes for which, in its opinion, "there is no support under customary international law and which undermine the effectiveness of the State responsibility regime as a whole". It bases this view on the "[i]nstitutional redundancy" of the notion of international crimes, given the existing role of the Security Council and its subordinate organs and the proposed international criminal court; the "[a]bstract and vague language" of article 19, paragraph 2; the tendency of article 19 to diminish "the import of and the attention paid to other violations of State responsibility"; its contradiction with the "principle of individual responsibility", and the confusion it tends to produce as between the notion of States' "interest" in compliance with the law generally and their "standing" to protest a particular violation;³⁹
- (b) France complains that article 19 "gives the unquestionably false impression that the aim is to 'criminalize' public international law", contrary to existing international law which emphasizes reparation and compensation. In the view of France, "State responsibility is neither criminal nor civil" but is sui generis. While some wrongful acts are more serious than others, the dichotomy between "crimes" and "delicts" is "vague and ineffective", and "breaks with the tradition of the uniformity of the law of international responsibility". France stresses that

no legislator, judge or police exists at an international level to impute criminal responsibility to States or ensure compliance with any criminal legislation that might be applicable to them ... It is hard to see who, in a society of over 180 sovereign States, each entitled to impose punishment, could impose a criminal penalty on holders of sovereignty.

By contrast, Security Council measures under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations are not intended to be "punitive"; where they are "coercive" it is because the restoration of international peace and security requires them to be effective;⁴⁰

- (c) Germany expresses "considerable scepticism regarding the usefulness of the concept" of international crimes, which are in its view "not sustained by international practice", would tend to weaken the "principle of individual criminal responsibility" and is inconsistent with the principle of the equality of States. In its view, "universally condemned acts can now be expected to find their adequate legal and political response by the community of States" acting through existing institutional means, in particular Chapter VII of the Charter. By contrast with international crimes, "the concepts of obligations erga omnes and, even stronger, jus cogens have a solid basis in international law"; the Commission is encouraged to develop the implications of these ideas in the field of State responsibility; 41
- (d) The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland sees "no basis in customary international law for the concept of international crimes" nor any "clear

- need for it". Instead it points to what it regards as "a serious risk that the category will become devalued, as cases of greater and lesser wrongs are put together in the same category, or as some wrongs are criminalized while others of equal gravity are not". Moreover the actual consequences attached to international crimes appear to be "of little practical significance and, to the extent that they do have significance, to be unworkable". At a technical level, article 19 is criticized as giving "no coherent account ... of the manner in which the international community as a whole may recognize" international crimes, and of confusing the question of the seriousness of a norm (art. 19, para. 2) and the gravity of its breach (art. 19, para. 3);⁴²
- (e) Austria proposes the deletion of articles 19 and 51 to 53. In its view, "inter-State relations lack the kind of central authority necessary to decide on subjective aspects of wrongful State behaviour". Action should be taken within the framework of Chapter VII of the Charter, or against individuals (including State officials) through the development of organs for the enforcement of international criminal law: these mechanisms "may provide a more effective tool against grave violations of basic norms of international law such as human rights and humanitarian standards than the criminalization of State behaviour as such". On the other hand, the Commission should "concentrate on the regulation of the legal consequences of violations of international law of a particularly grave nature";⁴³
- (f) Ireland doubts that existing international law recognizes the criminal responsibility of States, as distinct from State responsibility for the criminal acts of individuals. It notes that the well-known dictum of ICJ in the Barcelona Traction case supports the notion of obligations erga omnes, 44 but suggests that there is a "quantum leap" from that notion to the criminal responsibility of States. Nor does it support the concept of international crimes as a matter of progressive development. To penalize the State is neither feasible nor just, since in many cases it is the people of the State itself who are the principal victims of the crime; 45
- (g) Switzerland likewise doubts the existence or utility of the distinction between crimes and delicts: indeed it describes the distinction as "an attempt by the international community to conceal the ineffectiveness of the conventional rules on State responsibility behind an ideological mask".⁴⁶
- 53. However, these views are by no means universally shared:
- (a) The *Czech Republic*, for example, expresses the view that a distinction between more and less serious wrongful acts is "to be found in positive law and in State practice, although ... no doubt in a relatively fragmentary, unsystematic or indirect form". In that regard it refers to the notion of obligations *erga omnes*, the activity of the Security Council under Chapter VII of the Charter and

 $^{^{39}}$ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the current volume), comments by the United States under General remarks and on articles 19 and 40, para. 3.

⁴⁰ Ibid., comments by France on article 19.

⁴¹ Ibid., comments by Germany under part two, chap. IV.

⁴² Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 19.

⁴³ Ibid., comments by Austria on article 19.

⁴⁴ See footnote 16 above.

 $^{^{45}\,\}text{A/CN.4/488}$ and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by Ireland on article 19.

⁴⁶ Ibid., comments by Switzerland on article 19.

the concept of jus cogens. Despite supporting the distinction between crimes and delicts, it affirms that "the law of international responsibility is neither civil nor criminal, and that it is purely and simply international", noting in addition that in some legal systems the term "delict" has an exclusively penal connotation. It therefore proposes adopting more neutral terms, or even making the distinction by other means, e.g. by differentiating more clearly the consequences of wrongful acts depending on whether they affect particular States or the interests of the international community as a whole. "As a result, the terms used in the articles would be neutral but would leave the necessary room for widely acceptable terms to be developed subsequently in the sphere of State practice and doctrine." On the other hand, it points out the difficulties in attaching specific consequences to international crimes of State, which consequences are intimately linked to questions relating to the relevant primary rules;⁴⁷

- (b) Mongolia supports the distinction between crimes and delicts, on condition that the determination of State criminal liability cannot be left to the decision of one State but should be "attributed to the competence of international judicial bodies", 48 which is not the case under the present draft articles;
- (c) *Uzbekistan* proposes a new version of article 19, paragraph 2, focusing on "[i]nternationally wrongful acts of exceptional gravity which pose a threat to international peace and security and also infringe upon other vital foundations of peace and of the free development of States and peoples";⁴⁹
- (d) Denmark, on behalf of the Nordic countries, notes that they continue to support the "most spectacular feature of part one", the distinction between international delicts and international crimes. The "systemic" responsibility of States for crimes such as aggression and genocide ought, in their view, to be recognized "in one forum or another, be it through punitive damages or measures affecting the dignity of the State". On the other hand, some other less "sensitive" terminology, such as "violations" or "serious violations", might be considered, provided it carries more severe consequences, and that the distinction between the two categories is clear; ⁵⁰
- (e) Mexico observes that "[t]here is inadequate differentiation of the terms 'crime' and 'delict' in the draft articles". This appears to be directed as much to the consequences of international crimes, spelled out in part two, as to the definitional issues dealt with in article 19;51
- (f) Argentina affirms that "the consequences of an internationally wrongful act cannot be the same where that act impairs the general interests of the international community as where it affects only the particular interests of a State". On the other hand, now that "the international legal order tends to draw a clear distinction between the international responsibility of the State and the international criminal responsibility of individuals, it does not

seem advisable to apply to the former a terminology appropriate to the latter". It also calls upon the Commission to "elaborate as precisely as possible the different treatment and the different consequences attaching to different violations";⁵²

- (g) Italy likewise supports maintaining a distinction between the most serious internationally wrongful acts, of interest to the international community as a whole, and other wrongful acts, but it calls for further development both of the substantive consequences and the procedural incidents of the distinction, within the framework of parts two and three of the draft articles. In its view, once the existence of such a category is accepted, then the consequences of the distinction must be dealt with in the draft articles: "it is precisely in this area that an effort to clarify and, where necessary, integrate existing rules is needed". On the other hand, this special regime of State responsibility has nothing in common with penal sanctions such as those imposed under national criminal laws, and the use of some other term than "international crimes" could perhaps be envisaged;⁵³
- 54. These comments have been summarized in some detail, because they give a full and insightful account of the current debate over international crimes of State. This is true even if the comments so far received cannot necessarily be regarded as representative of the views of the international community as a whole. Clearly, no simple conclusion can be drawn from them. Nonetheless there is a significant degree of support for a number of propositions. They may be summarized as follows:
- (a) Article 19 is generally seen as an exercise not of codification but of development. Different views are expressed as to whether the development is "progressive" but few Governments believe that the concept of international crimes has a strong basis in existing law and practice;
- (b) The definition of "international crimes" in articles 19, paragraphs 2 and 3, needs further clarification;
- (c) The consequences drawn from the distinction create difficulties to the extent that they allow for reactions by individual States acting without regard to the position of the international community as a whole;
- (d) There is little or no disagreement with the proposition that "the law of international responsibility is neither civil nor criminal, and that it is purely and simply international".⁵⁴ As a corollary, even those Governments which support the retention of article 19 in some form do not support a developed regime of criminal responsibility of States, that is to say, a genuine "penalizing" of the most serious wrongful acts;
- (e) Consistent with this view, it is quite widely felt that the terminology of "crimes" of State is potentially misleading. Many comments accept that a distinction should be drawn, along the lines of the *Barcelona Traction* dic-

⁴⁷ Ibid., comments by the Czech Republic on article 19.

⁴⁸ Ibid., comments by Mongolia on article 19.

⁴⁹ Ibid., comments by Uzbekistan on article 19.

⁵⁰ Ibid., comments by the Nordic countries on article 19.

⁵¹ Ibid., comments by Mexico on article 19.

⁵² Ibid., comments by Argentina on article 19.

⁵³ Ibid., comments by Italy on article 19.

⁵⁴ This is the view both of the Czech Republic (para. 53 (a) above) and France (para. 52 (b) above), despite their different emphases and conclusions.

tum,⁵⁵ between the most serious wrongful acts, of interest to the international community as a whole, and wrongful acts which are of concern only to the directly affected States. But this distinction need not and perhaps should not be expressed in the language of "crime" and "delict". Instead, some different terminology should be explored; alternatively the different characteristics of wrongful acts could be more systematically articulated in part two of the draft articles, within the framework of a single generic conception of State responsibility.

C. Existing international law on the criminal responsibility of States

55. The traditional position of international law on the question of international crimes of States was expressed by the Nürnberg Tribunal, which stated that:

Crimes against international law are committed by men, not by abstract entities, and only by punishing individuals who commit such crimes can the provisions of international law be enforced. ⁵⁶

The treaties recognizing or establishing international crimes took the same position. Neither Germany nor Japan were treated as "criminal States" by the instruments creating the post-war war crimes tribunals, although the Charter of the Nürnberg Tribunal specifically provided for the condemnation of a "group or organization" as "criminal".⁵⁷ The first of the post-war criminal law conventions, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, specifically provided in article IX for State responsibility with respect to the crime of genocide, a crime characteristically associated with acts of government. Yet it was made clear at the time that article IX did not envisage any form of State criminal responsibility.⁵⁸

56. At the time article 19 was proposed and adopted, there had been no judicial decisions affirming that States could be criminally responsible. The commentary to draft article 19 notes the absence of international judicial or arbitral authority for a distinction between crimes and

delicts.⁵⁹ It cites as indirect support for such a distinction certain cases on reprisals or countermeasures, ⁶⁰ and places particular emphasis on the "essential distinction" drawn by ICJ in the *Barcelona Traction* case. ⁶¹ According to the commentary this passage provides "an important argument in support of the theory that there are two separate regimes of international responsibility depending on the subject-matter of the international obligation breached, and consequently that, on the basis of that distinction, there are two different types of internationally wrongful acts of the State".⁶²

- 57. Judicial decisions since 1976 certainly support the idea that international law contains different kinds of norms, and is not limited to the "classical" idea of bilateral norms. On the other hand there is no support in those decisions for a distinct category of international crimes of States.
- (a) In the Velásquez Rodríguez case, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights was asked to award punitive damages in respect of the "disappearance" of a citizen, one of a large number of persons who had been abducted, possibly tortured and almost certainly executed without trial. The breach was an egregious one but the Court nonetheless rejected the claim to punitive damages. Relying in part on the reference to "fair compensation" in article 63, paragraph 1, of the American Convention on Human Rights, the Court asserted that:

Although some domestic courts, particularly the Anglo-American, award damages in amounts meant to deter or to serve as an example, this principle is not applicable in international law at this time. 63

(b) In Letelier and Moffitt, a Chile-United States of America International Commission was charged to determine the amount of compensation payable to the United States arising from the assassination by Chilean agents in Washington, D.C., of a former Chilean Minister, Orlando Letelier, and another person.⁶⁴ The payment was to be made ex gratia but was to be assessed "in conformity with the applicable principles of international law, as though liability were established". The Commission assessed damages in accordance with ordinary principles, taking

⁵⁵ See footnote 16 above.

⁵⁶ Trial of the Major War Criminals before the International Military Tribunal, Nuremberg, 14 November 1945–1 October 1946, vol. XXII, p. 466.

⁵⁷ Charter of the International Military Tribunal annexed to the London Agreement of 8 August 1945 for the prosecution and punishment of the major war criminals of the European Axis (United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 82, p. 279), arts. 9–10, at p. 290. Such a declaration could only be made after a trial of a member of the organization "in connection with any act of which the individual may be convicted", and there were certain procedural safeguards for other members. The Charter of the International Military Tribunal for the trial of the major war criminals in the Far East, Tokyo, 19 January 1946 (*Documents on American Foreign Relations* (Princeton University Press, vol. VIII, 1948), pp. 354 et seq.), contained no such provisions. See also the *Touvier* case (*International Law Reports*, vol. 100 (1995), p. 337; and *La Semaine juridique: jurisclasseur périodique (JCP)*, 1993, No. 1, 21977, pp. 4–6).

⁵⁸ Sir Gerald Fitzmaurice as co-sponsor of article IX stated that "the responsibility envisaged by the joint Belgian and United Kingdom amendment was the international responsibility of States following a violation of the convention. That was civil responsibility, not criminal responsibility" (Official Records of the General Assembly, Third Session, Part I, Sixth Committee, Summary Records, 103rd meeting, p. 440).

 $^{^{59}}$ Yearbook ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), p. 98, para. (8) of the commentary to article 19.

⁶⁰ Specifically the *Portuguese Colonies* case (Naulilaa incident) (UNRIAA, vol. II (Sales No. 1949.V.1), p. 1025); and *Responsibility of Germany arising out of acts committed after 31 July 1914 and before Portugal took part in the war (Cysne case)*, ibid., p. 1052. See *Yearbook* ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 98–99, para. (9) of the commentary to article 19. Neither of these cases involved "crimes" as defined in article 19.

 $^{^{61}}$ Yearbook ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), p. 99, para. (10) of the commentary to article 19.

⁶² Ibid., pp. 99–100, para. (11) of the commentary to article 19.

⁶³ Inter-American Court of Human Rights, *Velásquez Rodríguez Case*, Compensatory Damages, Judgment of 21 July 1989 (Art. 63(1) American Convention on Human Rights), Series C, No. 7, para. 38; and *International Law Reports*, vol. 95 (1994), p. 315–316.

⁶⁴ UNRIAA, vol. XXV (Sales No. E/F.05.V.5), p. 1. The United States courts had earlier awarded US\$ 5 million, including US\$2 million in punitive damages, on account of the incident, in a default judgement which had not been satisfied: *Letelier v. Republic of Chile*, 502 F Supp 259 (1980); *International Law Reports*, vol. 63 (1982), p. 378. The Commission awarded approximately US\$ 2.6 million in full and final settlement.

into account moral damage but not punitive damage: in fact no claim for punitive damages was made. 65

(c) In the case concerning Application of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, ICJ upheld its jurisdiction to hear a claim of State responsibility for genocide under article IX of the Convention. The applicant's primary claim concerned the direct involvement of the respondent State itself, through its high officials, in acts of genocide, although other bases of claim were also alleged. In response to an argument that State responsibility under article IX is limited to responsibility for failure to prevent or punish genocide (as distinct from cases of direct attribution), the Court said:

the reference in Article IX to "the responsibility of a State for genocide or for any of the other acts enumerated in Article III", does not exclude any form of State responsibility.

Nor is the responsibility of a State for acts of its organs excluded by Article IV of the Convention, which contemplates the commission of an act of genocide by "rulers" or "public officials".⁶⁷

The Court's reference to "any form of State responsibility" is not to be read as referring to State criminal responsibility, but rather to the direct attribution of genocide to a State as such.⁶⁸ It may be noted that neither party in that case argued that the responsibility in question would be criminal in character.⁶⁹

(d) In *Prosecutor* v. *Tihomir Blaskic*, the Appeals Chamber of the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia had to consider, *inter alia*, whether the Tribunal could subpoena evidence directly from States pursuant to its statute and rules. The evidence in question related to the alleged commission by State agents, including the accused, of crimes within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal. In other words, it related to alleged crimes imputable to

(Ibid., p. 243, para. 23)

the State. The Appeals Chamber held that no power to issue subpoenas against States existed. It said, *inter alia*:

the International Tribunal does not possess any power to take enforcement measures against States. Had the drafters of the Statute intended to vest the International Tribunal with such a power, they would have expressly provided for it. In the case of an international judicial body, this is not a power that can be regarded as inherent in its functions. Under current international law States can only be the subject of countermeasures taken by other States or of sanctions visited upon them by the organized international community, i.e., the United Nations or other intergovernmental organizations ... Under present international law it is clear that States, by definition, cannot be the subject of criminal sanctions akin to those provided for in national criminal systems.⁷⁰

The qualification in the last sentence ("akin to those provided for in national criminal systems") must be noted. Nonetheless the Court held that the Tribunal was not authorized to issue orders termed "subpoenas" to States, although it was clearly authorized by article 29, paragraph 2, of its statute to issue orders with which States were required to comply.⁷¹ Other cases which might be cited to similar effect include the various phases of the *Rainbow Warrior* affair.⁷²

58. The position in State practice as at 1976 was more complex. The language of "crimes" was used from time to time with respect to the conduct of States in such fields as aggression, genocide, apartheid and the maintenance of colonial domination, and there was concerted condemnation of at least some cases of the unlawful use of force, of systematic discrimination on grounds of race or of the maintenance by force of colonial domination.⁷³ The Commission concluded from a review of action taken within the framework of the United Nations that:

[I]n the general opinion, some of these acts genuinely constitute "international crimes", *that is to say*,* international wrongs which are more serious than others and which, as such, should entail more severe legal consequences. This does not, of course, mean that all these crimes are equal—in other words, that they attain the same degree of seriousness and necessarily entail all the more severe consequences incurred, for example, by the supreme international crime, namely, a war of aggression.⁷⁴

- 59. State practice in the period from 1976 to 1995 was reviewed by Mr. Arangio-Ruiz in his seventh report;⁷⁵ his review need not be repeated here. A number of features of the practice of this period may, however, be recalled. They include:
- (a) The "rebirth" of activity of the Security Council under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations, with vigorous action taken, for example, against Iraq in respect of Kuwait, and against the Libyan Arab

⁶⁵ In a separate concurring opinion, Commissioner Orrego Vicuña expressed the view that "international law has not accepted as one of its principles the concept of punitive damages", and that any award which was punitive in its effect because the amount was "excessive or disproportionate" would be "entirely unwarranted and contrary to the principles of international law" (UNRIAA (see footnote 64 above), pp. 14–15).

⁶⁶ Application of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, Preliminary Objections, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1996, p. 595.

⁶⁷ Ibid., p. 616.

⁶⁸ See, by contrast, the joint declaration of Judges Shi and Vereshchetin (ibid., pp. 631–632).

⁶⁹ In its Order of 17 December 1997 on the admissibility of Yugoslavia's counter-claims in that case, the Court reiterated the *erga omnes* character of the prohibition against genocide but held that "the argument drawn from the absence of reciprocity in the scheme of the Convention is not determinative as regards the assessment of whether there is a legal connection between the principal claim and the counter-claim, in so far as the two Parties pursue, with their respective claims, the same legal aim, namely the establishment of legal responsibility for violations of the Genocide Convention" (*I.C.J. Reports 1997* (footnote 17 above)). In a separate opinion, Judge Lauterpacht noted that:

[&]quot;The closer one approaches the problems posed by the operation of the judicial settlement procedure contemplated by article IX of the Genocide Convention, the more one is obliged to recognize that these problems are of an entirely different kind from those normally confronting an international tribunal of essentially civil, as opposed to criminal, jurisdiction. The difficulties are systemic and their solution cannot be rapidly achieved."

⁷⁰ Judgment of 29 October 1997, *International Law Reports*, vol. 110 (1998), pp. 697–698, para. 25.

⁷¹ It was not argued in that case that the Tribunal itself had the power to enforce "subpoenas" issued to States: this would have been a matter for the Security Council itself.

⁷² For the ruling of the Secretary-General of 6 July 1986, see UNRIAA, vol. XIX (Sales No. E/F.90.V.7), pp. 197 et seq. For the decision of the Arbitral Tribunal, see volume XX (Sales No. E/F.93. V.3), p. 215.

 ⁷³ Yearbook ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 100–109, paras. (12)–(32) of the commentary to article 19.

⁷⁴ Ibid., p. 109, para. (33) of the commentary to article 19. For the Commission's review of the literature, see pages 110–116, paras. (35)–(49)

⁷⁵ Yearbook ... 1995, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/469 and Add.1 and 2, pp. 18–20, paras. 78–84.

Jamahiriya in respect of its alleged involvement in a terrorist bombing;⁷⁶

- (b) The progressive development of systems of individual accountability for certain crimes under international law, through the ad hoc tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and Rwanda and, prospectively, the International Criminal Court;⁷⁷
- (c) The further development of substantive international criminal law across a range of topics, including, most recently, the protection of United Nations peacekeeping forces and action against terrorist bombings;⁷⁸
- (d) Continued development of legal constraints against the use of chemical, biological and bacteriological weapons, and against the further proliferation of nuclear weapons.

On the other hand, this period has been characterized by a degree of inconsistency. No international action was taken, for example, in response to the Cambodian genocide, ⁷⁹ or to the aggression which initiated the 1980–1988 Iran-Iraq war. 80 Perhaps more relevantly, the measures taken by the Security Council since 1990 have not involved "criminalizing" States, even in circumstances of gross violation of basic norms. For example, the two ad hoc tribunals established by the Security Council have jurisdiction only over individual persons in respect of defined crimes against international law, and not over the States which were, prima facie, implicated in those crimes.⁸¹ Iraq has to all intents and purposes been treated as a "criminal State" in the period since its invasion of Kuwait, but the Security Council resolutions relating to Iraq have not used the terminology of article 19. Chapter VII resolutions passed since 1990 have consistently used the formula "threat to or breach of the peace", and not "act of aggression". The notion of "threat to or breach

of the peace" has been gradually extended to cover situations of essentially humanitarian (as distinct from inter-State) concern. But those resolutions have not relied on the concept of an "international crime" in the sense of article 19, despite numerous references to the prosecution of crimes under international and national law.

D. Relations between the international criminal responsibility of States and certain cognate concepts

60. At the same time, certain basic concepts of international law laid down in the period 1945–1970 have been consolidated.

1. Individual criminal responsibility under international law

61. The Nürnberg principles, ⁸² involving the accountability of individuals, whatever their official position, for crimes against international law, have been reinforced by the development of additional conventional standards and, perhaps more importantly, by new institutions. The two ad hoc tribunals were established under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations. Their creation and operation have added impetus to the movement for a permanent international criminal court. The position was summarized by the Secretary-General in 1996 in the following words:

[T]he actions of the Security Council establishing international tribunals on war crimes committed in the former Yugoslavia and in Rwanda, are important steps towards the effective rule of law in international affairs. The next step must be the further expansion of international jurisdiction. The General Assembly in 1994 created an ad hoc committee to consider the establishment of a permanent international criminal court, based upon a report and draft statute prepared by the International Law Commission. The Assembly has since established a preparatory committee to prepare a draft convention for such a court that could be considered at an international conference of plenipotentiaries. This momentum must not be lost. The establishment of an international criminal court would be a monumental advance, affording, at last, genuine international jurisdictional protection to some of the world's major legal achievements. The benefits would be manifold, enforcing fundamental human rights and, through the prospect of enforcing individual criminal responsibility for grave international crimes, deterring their commis-

In addition, trials and inquiries have been instituted in a number of States in the past decade in respect of crimes under international law.⁸⁴

⁷⁶ As to the latter, see the case concerning *Questions of Interpretation and Application of the 1971 Montreal Convention arising from the Aerial Incident at Lockerbie (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya v. United Kingdom), Provisional Measures, Order of 14 April 1992, I.C.J. Reports 1992*, p. 114; and ibid., *Preliminary Objections, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports* 1998, p. 9.

⁷⁷ The draft statute for an international criminal court limited the jurisdiction of the Court to crimes of individual persons. See *Yearbook* ... 1994, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 20–74. No change to this aspect of the draft statute has been proposed in subsequent discussions.

⁷⁸ Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel and International Convention for the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings.

⁷⁹ See General Assembly resolution 3238 (XXIX) of 29 November 1974 on restoration of the lawful rights of the Royal Government of National Union of Cambodia in the United Nations; and General Assembly resolution 44/22 of 16 November 1989 on the situation in Kampuchea, calling, *inter alia*, for "the non-return to the universally condemned policies and practices of a recent past".

⁸⁰ See Further report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of Security Council resolution 598 (1987) (S/23273) of 9 December 1991, para. 7, referring to "Iraq's aggression against Iran which was followed by Iraq's continuous occupation of Iranian territory during the conflict in violation of the prohibition of the use of force, which is regarded as one of the rules of *jus cogens*".

⁸¹ Similarly the draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind as completed by the Commission in 1996 provides exclusively for individual responsibility. See *Yearbook* ... 1996, vol. II (Part Two), commentary to article 2, pp. 18–22. This is "without prejudice to any question of the responsibility of States under international law" (art. 4, ibid., p. 23).

 $^{^{82}\} Yearbook$... 1950, vol. II, document A/1316, pp. 374–378, paras. 95–127.

⁸³ Support by the United Nations system of the efforts of Governments to promote and consolidate new or restored democracies (A/51/761, annex, Supplement to reports on democratization), p. 34, para. 114.

⁸⁴ See, for example, *Polyukhovich* v. *Commonwealth of Australia* and *Another, International Law Reports*, vol. 91 (1993), p. 1 (Australia, High Court); *Regina* v. *Finta*, ibid., vol. 82 (1990), p. 424 (Canada, High Court); on appeal, ibid., vol. 98 (1994), p. 520 (Ontario Court of Appeal); and on further appeal, ibid., vol. 94 (1994), p. 284 (Supreme Court); Barbie, ibid., vol. 78 (1988) (France, Court of Cassation), pp. 125 and 136; and ibid., vol. 100 (1985), p. 330; *Touvier*, ibid. (1995), p. 337 (France, Court of Appeal and Court of Cassation). See also *Border Guards Prosecution Case*, ibid., p. 364 (Germany, Federal Supreme Court)

2. PEREMPTORY NORMS OF INTERNATIONAL LAW (JUS COGENS)

62. The 1969 Vienna Convention (which came into force in 1980) has been widely accepted as an influential statement of the law of treaties, including the grounds for the validity and termination of treaties. 85 Although one or two States have continued to resist the notion of jus cogens as expressed in articles 53 and 64 of the Convention, 86 predictions that the notion would be a destabilizing factor have not been borne out.87 There has been no case of invocation of article 66 (a) of the Convention, and ICJ has not had to confront the notion of jus cogens directly. It has however taken note of the concept.⁸⁸ Indeed, in its advisory opinion on the Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, the Court stated that "because a great many rules of humanitarian law applicable in armed conflict are so fundamental to the respect of the human person and 'elementary considerations of humanity' ... they constitute intransgressible principles of international customary law".89

3. Obligations erga omnes

63. Most significant for present purposes is the notion of obligations erga omnes, introduced and endorsed by the Court in the Barcelona Traction case, and heavily relied on by the Commission in its commentary to article 19. The Court there referred to "an essential distinction ... between the obligations of a State towards the international community as a whole, and those arising vis-à-vis another State in the field of diplomatic protection". The Court instanced "the outlawing of acts of aggression, and of genocide" as well as "the basic rights of the human person, including protection from slavery and racial discrimination" as examples of obligations erga omnes. 90 It is true that, in a passage less often cited, it went on to say that "on the universal level, the instruments which embody human rights do not confer on States the capacity to protect the victims of infringements of such rights irrespective of their nationality". 91 This may imply that the scope of obligations erga omnes is not coextensive

with the whole field of human rights, or it may simply be an observation about the actual language of the general human rights treaties.

64. On a number of subsequent occasions the Court has taken the opportunity to affirm the notion of obligations *erga omnes*, although it has been cautious in applying it. Thus in the *East Timor* case, the Court said:

Portugal's assertion that the right of peoples to self-determination ... has an *erga omnes* character, is irreproachable. The principle of self-determination ... is one of the essential principles of contemporary international law. However, the Court considers that the *erga omnes* character of a norm and the rule of consent to jurisdiction are two different things. Whatever the nature of the obligations invoked, the Court could not rule on the lawfulness of the conduct of a State when its judgment would imply an evaluation of the lawfulness of the conduct of another State which is not a party to the case. Where this is so, the Court cannot act, even if the right in question is a right *erga omnes*. ⁹²

In the Application of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide case the Court, after referring to a passage from its judgment in Reservations to the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, said that "the rights and obligations enshrined by the Convention are rights and obligations erga omnes". 93 This finding contributed to its conclusion that its temporal jurisdiction over the claim was not limited to the time after which the parties became bound inter se by the Convention. 94

- 65. For present purposes it is not necessary to analyse these decisions, or to discuss such questions as the relation between "obligations" and "rights" of an *erga omnes* character. 95 What can be said is that the developments outlined above confirm the view that within the field of general international law there is some hierarchy of norms, and that the importance of at least a few basic substantive norms is recognized as involving a difference not merely of degree but of kind. Such a difference would be expected to have its consequences in the field of State responsibility. On the other hand it does not follow from this conclusion that the difference in the character of certain norms would produce two distinct regimes of responsibility, still less that these should be expressed in terms of a distinction between "international crimes" and "international delicts".
- 66. It is relevant to note here the preliminary, even exploratory, way in which the Commission in 1976 adopted that distinction and that terminology.
- 67. As to the distinction between the categories of more and less serious wrongful acts, in the first place, the Commission was rigorous in "resist[ing] the temptation to give any indication ... as to what it thinks should be the régime of responsibility applicable to the most serious internation-

⁸⁵ See the judgment of 25 September 1997 in the case concerning the *Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary/Slovakia), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1997*, pp. 57–68, paras. 89–114.

⁸⁶ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 19, para. 2.

⁸⁷ ICJ has placed great stress on the stability of treaty relations: see, for example, the case concerning the *Territorial Dispute (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya/Chad)*, *Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1994*, p. 6; and that concerning the *Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project* (footnote 85 above), p. 68, para. 114.

⁸⁸ See, for example, the case concerning *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua* (footnote 32 above), pp. 100–101.

⁸⁹ I.C.J. Reports 1996, p. 257. Despite its reference to "intransgressible principles", the Court held that it had no need to pronounce on the issue of *jus cogens*. The question before it related not to the "legal character of the norm ... the character of the humanitarian law which would apply to the use of nuclear weapons", but to "the applicability of the principles and rules of humanitarian law in cases of recourse to nuclear weapons and the consequences of that applicability for the legality of recourse to these weapons" (ibid., p. 258).

⁹⁰ I.C.J. Reports 1970 (see footnote 16 above).

⁹¹ Ibid., p. 47, para. 91.

 $^{^{92}}$ East Timor (Portugal v. Australia), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1995, p. 102.

⁹³ I.C.J. Reports 1996 (see footnote 66 above), p. 616.

⁹⁴ Ibid., p. 617.

⁹⁵ International law has always recognized the idea of "rights *erga omnes*", although the phrase was rarely used. For example, coastal States have always had a right *erga omnes* to a certain width of territorial sea; all States have a right *erga omnes* to sail ships under their flag on the high seas. Yet these rights give rise to purely bilateral relationships of responsibility in the event that they are infringed by another State. The notion of obligation *erga omnes* has distinct and broader implications.

ally wrongful acts". 96 These issues were left completely open. Secondly, it seemed to deny that all "international crimes" or all "international delicts" would themselves be subject to a uniform regime. In short, not merely was there not a single regime for all internationally wrongful acts; it was doubtful whether there were two such regimes: "international wrongs assume a multitude of forms and the consequences they should entail in terms of international responsibility are certainly not reducible to one or two uniform provisions." 97 No doubt there is always the possibility that a particular rule will prescribe its own special consequences in the event of breach, or will be subject to its own special regime: this is true, in particular, of the paradigm international crime, the crime of aggression. 98 On the other hand, if the category of international crimes were to fragment in this way (bearing in mind that there are relatively few such crimes), one might ask: (a) what was left of the category itself; (b) how it could be resolved in advance that the category existed, without reference to the consequences attaching to particular crimes; and (c) how that investigation could be concluded without in effect codifying the relevant primary rules. Thirdly, the Commission denied that the way to proceed in developing the regime of responsibility for crimes was to establish "a single basic régime of international responsibility ... applicable to all internationally wrongful acts ... and ... to add extra consequences to it for wrongful acts constituting international crimes". 99 This "least common denominator" approach to international crimes—it might be called the "delicts plus" approach —was firmly rejected. 100 But it was essentially the approach later adopted by the Commission in determining the consequences of international crimes.

68. As to the terminology of "crimes" and "delicts", the Commission was strongly influenced by the use of the term "crime" in relation to the crime of aggression. ¹⁰¹ It is not clear what alternatives were considered. The commentary says only that:

[I]in adopting the designation "international crime", the Commission intends only to refer to "crimes" of the State, to acts attributable to the State as such. Once again it wishes to sound a warning against any confusion between the expression "international crime" as used in this article and similar expressions, such as "crime under international law", "war crime", "crime against peace", "crime against humanity", etc., which are used in a number of conventions and international instruments to designate certain heinous individual crimes. 102

This raises, but does not answer, the question why a term was adopted which had immediately to be distinguished from ordinary uses of that term in international law. It should be noted that since 1976 the term "international crime" has gained even wider currency as a reference to crimes committed by individuals, which are of international concern, including, but not limited to, crimes against international law. ¹⁰³ Thus the risk of terminological confusion has been compounded.

69. Now that a complete set of draft articles exists, it is for the Commission to decide whether the issues left open in 1976 have been, or can be, satisfactorily resolved.

E. Possible approaches to international crimes of States

- 70. It is possible to envisage five distinct approaches to the question of State criminal responsibility, as posed by article 19 and related provisions:
- (a) The approach embodied in the present draft articles. As has been noted, the draft articles take a "delicts plus" approach. The text, and in particular part two, sets out a range of consequences which flow from all breaches of international obligations and then modifies those consequences in certain respects to cope with cases of international crimes;
- (b) Replacement by the concept of "exceptionally serious wrongful act". A second possibility, adumbrated in the footnote to article 40, 105 is to replace the term "crime" by some other term such as "exceptionally serious wrongful act", while going on in part two to distinguish the regime applicable to such acts from that applicable to "ordinary" wrongs;
- (c) A full-scale regime of State criminal responsibility to be elaborated in the draft articles. A third possibility, which was apparently envisaged when article 19 was adopted, would involve a full-scale regime of State criminal responsibility for such crimes as aggression, genocide, apartheid and other international crimes of State;
- (d) Rejection of the concept of State criminal responsibility. At the other end of the spectrum is the view that international law neither recognizes nor should recognize any separate category of State criminal responsibility, and that there is accordingly no place for the notion of international crimes in the draft articles;
- (e) Exclusion of the notion from the draft articles. A further approach would exclude the notion of State criminal responsibility from the draft articles but for a rather different reason, viz. that the development of an adequate regime of criminal responsibility, even assum-

 $^{^{96}\} Y\!earbook \dots 1976,$ vol. II (Part Two), p. 117, para. (53) of the commentary to article 19.

⁹⁷ Ibid.

⁹⁸ Under Articles 12, para. 1, 24, para. 1, and 39 of the Charter, the Security Council has a certain priority with respect to the determination, *inter alia*, of an act of aggression and its consequences. See the Commission's commentaries to articles 20 (b) and 23, para. 3, of the draft statute for an international criminal court (*Yearbook ... 1994*, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 38–39 and 44–45); and article 16 of the draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind (*Yearbook ... 1996*, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 42–43).

⁹⁹ Yearbook ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), p. 117, para. (54) of the commentary to article 19.

 $^{^{100}}$ Ibid.

¹⁰¹ For example, in the Definition of Aggression, art. 5, para. 2, annexed to General Assembly resolution 3314 (XXIX) of 14 December 1974

 $^{^{102}}$ Yearbook ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), p. 119, para. (59) of the commentary to article 19.

¹⁰³ A search of the United Nations documentary database (1994–1998) reveals 174 references to the term "international crime", usually in phrases "such as terrorism, international crime and illicit arms transfers, as well as illicit drug production, consumption and trafficking, which jeopardize the friendly relations among States" (General Assembly resolution 52/43 of 17 December 1997 on strengthening of security and cooperation in the Mediterranean region, para. 8).

¹⁰⁴ See paragraph 67 above.

¹⁰⁵ See paragraph 51 above.

ing that this is desirable in principle, is not a matter which it is necessary or appropriate to attempt at this stage and in this text.

71. Before turning to discuss these five alternatives, it should be noted that the disagreements in this field arise at different levels and concern distinct kinds of question. 106 For example, there is disagreement over whether international law presently recognizes State criminality; there is disagreement over whether it ought to do so. But there is also disagreement over whether any existing or possible regime of State criminality is aptly located within the general field of State responsibility. Most legal systems treat crimes as distinct from the general law of obligations, both procedurally and substantively. There is also a question as to what the consequences may be for the draft articles as a whole of any attempt to elaborate the notion of international crimes of State, which will likely apply to only a very small fraction of all unlawful State conduct. In short, there are differences over the existing law and over the appropriate policy; there are differences of classification; and there are pragmatic and empirical issues about the useful scope of the Commission's work. No doubt there are links between these issues, but they are distinct. It is possible to hold the view, for example, that although international law does not currently recognize the notion of State crime, it ought to do so; at the same time it is possible to hold the view that any regime for State criminality needs to be as distinct from general State responsibility as criminal and civil responsibility are in most national legal systems.

1. Two preliminary issues

- 72. Before considering the various possible approaches, two preliminary issues should be mentioned: first, the relevance or otherwise of Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations; secondly, the relevance or otherwise of common conceptions of "crime" and "delict" deriving from other international and national legal experience.
- 73. When article 19 was first adopted, the Security Council was playing only a limited role under Chapter VII, and it was not envisaged that it could become a major vehicle for responding to international crimes of State. The commentary to article 19 merely noted that even in the form of a convention, the draft articles could neither qualify nor derogate from the provisions of the Charter relating to the maintenance of international peace and security. The matter was given further consideration in the context of part two, both before and after the adoption of article 39. Comments of Governments so far have supported the principle underlying article 39, while raising some questions concerning its formulation. 109

- 74. The draft articles cannot modify or condition the provisions of the Charter or action duly taken under it. But such action can certainly be taken in response to an international crime, as defined in article 19, and not only in the case of aggression specifically envisaged by the Charter. At the very least, this contributes to the difficulty of dealing fully and effectively with international crimes in the draft articles. In an area where the relevant rules of international law are peremptory, the draft articles will be relegated to a secondary, residual role. This contrast suggests that any development of the notion of international crimes in the draft articles must be constrained to a great degree.
- A second preliminary point relates to the issue of 75 the so-called "domestic analogy". When adopting article 19, the Commission warned that the term "international crime" should not lead to confusion with the term as applied in other international instruments or in national legal systems. 110 But it is difficult to dismiss so readily the extensive international experience of crimes and their punishment. It is true that in proposing the category of State crimes the Commission was entering into a largely uncharted area. But the appeal of the notion of "international crime", especially in the case of the most serious wrongful acts such as genocide, cannot be dissociated from general human experience. The underlying notion of a grave offence against the community as such, warranting moral and legal condemnation and punishment, must in some sense and to some degree be common to international crimes of States and to other forms of crime. 111 If it is not, then the notion and the term "crime" should be avoided. Moreover, many of the same problems arise in considering how to respond to offences against the community of States as a whole, as arise in the context of general criminal law. It is no less unjust to visit on the community of the State the harsh consequences of condemnation and punishment for a serious crime without due process of law, than it would be to visit such consequences on an individual. Whatever transitional problems there may be in establishing institutions of criminal justice at the international level, the international community surely cannot govern itself by any lesser standards than those it sets for individual States. Great caution is always required in drawing analogies from national to international law. 112 But equally if a concept and terminology is to be adopted which is associated with a wealth of national and international legal experience, it can hardly be objected that that experience, and the legal standards derived from it, are also regarded as potentially relevant.

2. Consideration of the alternatives

(a) The status quo

76. When the Commission first adopted the distinction between international delicts and international crimes, it

¹⁰⁶ For the extensive literature on international crimes and their consequences, see the bibliography annexed to the present report.

 $^{^{107}}$ Yearbook ... 1976, vol. II (Part Two), p. 118, para. (55) of the commentary to article 19.

¹⁰⁸ See *Yearbook* ... 1992, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 38–39, paras. 260–266. As a result, despite misgivings expressed by members including the then Special Rapporteur, no change to article 39 was made.

¹⁰⁹ See A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments of Governments on articles 37, 38 and 39.

 $^{^{110}}$ See paragraph 68 above.

¹¹¹ For this purpose it makes no difference whether the "international community" is conceived as a community of States or in some wider and more inclusive sense; the crimes which are of concern are an affront to both.

¹¹² See, for example, the case of the *International Status of South West Africa, Advisory Opinion, I.C.J. Reports 1950*, p. 132; and the separate opinion of Sir Arnold McNair, ibid., p. 148.

called for the elaboration of two distinct regimes. ¹¹³ But in the event the draft articles were developed on the basis of a single notion of the "internationally wrongful act", until the time came to ask what additional and further consequences were to attach to international crimes. Thus a rather ambitious concept of international crimes is sketched in article 19, but it is barely followed through in the remainder of the text. This can be seen by considering three aspects of the present draft articles, corresponding to its three parts.

77. Except for article 19 itself, the rules for the "origin of international responsibility" as set out in part one make no distinction between international crimes and international delicts. Thus the rules for attribution are the same for the two categories. Yet it might be expected that, for a State to be held criminally responsible, a closer connection to the actual person or persons whose conduct gave rise to the crime would be required. On the other hand, the rules for implication of a State in the internationally wrongful act of another State might well be more demanding for international crimes than for international delicts. Whatever the case with delicts, one should in no way assist or aid another in the commission of a crime. Yet article 27 makes no such distinction. The definition of the circumstances precluding wrongfulness in articles 29 to 34 is formally the same for international crimes and international delicts. 114 Yet it is not obvious that the conditions applicable, for example, to force majeure or necessity should be the same for both, and the notion of "consent" to a crime would seem to be excluded. Above all, the notion of "objective" responsibility, which is a keynote of the draft articles, is more questionable in relation to international crimes than it is in relation to international delicts, and the case for some express and general requirement of fault (dolus, culpa) is stronger in relation to international crimes. It may be said that these matters are to be resolved by the primary rules (e.g. by the definition of aggression or genocide), and some relevant primary rules do indeed contain such elements. But the category of "international crime", if it exists, cannot be closed, and it would be expected that such a category would include at least some common rules relating to the requirement of fault in the commission of a crime. No such rules are to be found in the draft articles.

- 78. The "content, forms and degrees of international responsibility", as set out in part two of the draft articles, do distinguish in certain respects between international crimes and international delicts, as noted above. But these distinctions do not amount to very much:
- (a) As to the definition of "injured State" (art. 40), while it is true that all States are injured by an international crime, so too are all States defined as "injured", for example, by any violation of any rule "established for the protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms", and no further distinction is drawn in the draft articles as between the different categories of "injured State";

- (b) As to the rights of the injured State in the field of cessation and reparation, the differences are those set out in article 52. Restitution may be insisted upon although it disproportionately benefits the injured State, as compared with compensation (art. 52 (a)). Restitution for crimes may seriously jeopardize the political independence or economic stability of the criminally responsible State (ibid.). Demands for satisfaction may be made which impair the dignity of that State (art. 52 (b)). On the other hand nothing is said in article 52 about punitive damages, let alone fines or other forms of prospective intervention in the Government of the criminal State which might restore the rule of law. 115 Moreover, the consequences provided for in article 52 are conceived within the framework of requests for restitution by one or more injured States. There is no express provision for coordination of these consequences. While the additional consequences provided for in article 52 are not trivial, it must be concluded that they are neither central to the notion of an "international crime" as defined in article 19, nor sufficient of themselves to warrant that notion:
- (c) As to the possibility of taking countermeasures under articles 47 to 50, no distinction is drawn between States injured by crimes and other injured States. Within the categories of "injured State" as defined in article 40, no distinction is drawn between those "directly" affected by the breach and other States. Nor is there any provision for coordination of countermeasures on the part of all injured States in cases of crimes; 116
- (d) As to the obligations for all States arising from international crimes, these are defined in article 53. Three of them are negative obligations: (i) not to recognize as lawful the situation created by the crime; (ii) not to assist the criminal State in maintaining that illegal situation; and (iii) to cooperate with other States in carrying out these (negative) duties. As to article 53 (a), however, the obligation not to recognize the legality of unlawful situations is not limited by international law to international crimes. For example, States should not recognize the legality of an acquisition of territory by the use or threat of force, whether or not that use of force is a crime, or is even unlawful.117 Nor could a third State properly recognize the legality of, for example, the unlawful detention or killing of a diplomat. As to article 53 (b), it may be asked whether a third State is entitled to assist a wrongdoing State in maintaining the illegal situation created by an act

¹¹³ See paragraph 67 above.

¹¹⁴ It is true that the conditions set out in articles 29 to 34 would often preclude their application to crimes, e.g. in relation to consent (art. 29), the requirement that the consent be "validly given". This shows that it is possible to draft key provisions in such a way as to be responsive to very different wrongful acts.

¹¹⁵ In the case of many of the most serious crimes (e.g. genocide, crimes against humanity) the loss or injury cannot be reversed; this is also true of many of the side effects of a war of aggression. Apart from cessation, which is required in any event by international law, the main consequences of such crimes will lie in the fields of compensation and satisfaction. Some of the elements of "satisfaction" under article 45 (e.g. trial and punishment of the responsible persons) are very important, but they are not confined to international crimes. The only distinctive consequence relates to measures of satisfaction impairing the "dignity" of the criminally responsible State. The intangible and abstract notion of "dignity" is a thin reed on which to base a distinction between international crimes and delicts.

¹¹⁶ Article 49 requires that countermeasures not be "out of proportion to ... the effects ... on the injured State". This could indirectly act as a limitation

¹¹⁷ See, for example, the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, annexed to General Assembly resolution 2625 (XXV) of 24 October 1970, para. 1.

which is not a crime. At least according to article 27 of the draft articles, this is not the case; article 27 obliges States not to aid or assist in the commission, or continuing commission, of an unlawful act by another State, whether or not that act constitutes a crime. Thus there is potential incoherence on this point within the draft articles themselves. Over and above these negative duties, article 53 (d) provides that States are obliged "[t]o cooperate with other States in the application of measures designed to eliminate the consequences of a crime". This is a modest obligation of solidarity, though it involves no obligation to take any initiatives. Again, however, the a contrario question must be asked: does article 53 (d) imply that States have no obligation to cooperate in eliminating the unlawful consequences, for example, of a serious breach of human rights not amounting to a crime, or of some other obligation erga omnes?

- 79. The provisions for the settlement of disputes contained in part three of the draft articles make no special provision whatever for crimes. This is in sharp contrast to the special provision made for settlement of disputes in cases of countermeasures.
- 80. For these reasons it can be seen that the consequences attached to international crimes in the present draft articles are limited, and for the most part non-exclusive, and that the procedural incidents of the concept are wholly undeveloped. It might be argued that in the present state of international law this "compromise" position is all that can be achieved, and that it does at least form a basis for further developments both in law and practice. In the Special Rapporteur's view, this argument is difficult to accept. The draft articles as they stand fail to do what the Commission set out to do in 1976, that is to say, to elaborate a distinct and specific regime for international crimes. 118 On the contrary, in minimizing the consequences of crimes, they tend to trivialize delicts as well, yet the latter may cover very serious breaches of general international law. 119
 - (b) Substituting for "international crime" the notion of "exceptionally serious wrongful act"
- 81. A second possibility, referred to in the footnote to article 40 as adopted on first reading, is to substitute the notion of "exceptionally serious wrongful act", thereby "avoiding the penal implication of the term" international crimes. 120 Although this idea has attracted some support in the comments of Governments (as compromise solutions often tend to do), it suffers, in the Special Rapporteur's view, from a central difficulty. Either the term "exceptionally serious wrongful act" (or any cognate term which may be proposed) is intended to refer to a separate category of wrongs, associated with a separate category of obligations, or it is not:

- (a) If it does not refer to a separate category, but simply to the most serious breaches of international law in some general sense, there is no reason to believe that one is dealing with a separate regime of wrongful acts, or that a suitably graduated regime of reparation and countermeasures would not allow a proper response to the most serious breaches. Breaches of international law range from the most serious to relatively minor ones, and part two already seeks to reflect these gradations, independently of any question of crimes;
- (b) On the other hand, if the proposed new term does refer to a separate category, it does not name it. Under existing international law, two possible categories are obligations erga omnes, and rules of jus cogens. 121 Yet, although they consist by definition of norms and principles which are of concern to the international community as a whole, those categories do not correspond in any simple way to the notion of the "most serious breaches" There can be very serious breaches of obligations which are not owed erga omnes—breaches of diplomatic immunity, for example—and minor breaches of obligations which are owed erga omnes. No doubt there is room in part two of the draft articles for spelling out in a more systematic way the specific consequences that breaches of norms of jus cogens, or of obligations erga omnes, might have within the framework of secondary rules of State responsibility. The draft articles already do so, although only to a limited extent. 122 But there is no reason to believe that a more systematic accounting for these consequences within the draft articles would produce two (or three) separate regimes of responsibility.

Thus the proposed renaming of international crimes presents a dilemma. On the one hand, that renaming might reflect the great variation in the seriousness of internationally wrongful acts; alternatively it might refer to the existence of certain norms involving the international community as a whole (*jus cogens*, obligations *erga omnes*). On the other hand, it might be merely a disguised reference to the notion of crime, the crime that dare not speak its name. In the former case there is no indication that there exists a separate regime for responsibility for the most serious breaches, or for breaches of obligations *erga omnes* or of *jus cogens* norms, as distinct from variations in the consequences attaching to the particular acts in question. In the latter case, there is no justification for a merely cosmetic exercise.

82. For these reasons, in the Special Rapporteur's view, it is necessary to turn from the two possible approaches adumbrated in the draft articles to other, more fundamental options.

(c) Criminalizing State responsibility

83. Perhaps the most fundamental approach is to take the premise of article 19 seriously, and to propose a regime for international crimes of State which does precisely involve treating such crimes with the legal conse-

¹¹⁸ See paragraph 67 above.

¹¹⁹ It should be noted that neither the proponents nor the opponents of article 19 within the Commission are satisfied with the provisions of the draft articles; see, for example, the items cited in paragraph 45, footnote 31, above.

¹²⁰ See paragraph 51 above.

¹²¹ See paragraphs 62–65 above.

¹²² In particular, the notion of obligations *erga omnes* is not reflected in the definition of "injured State" in article 40.

quences that morally iniquitous conduct ought to entail. The underlying appeal of this approach is twofold:

- (a) First, it appeals to the reality that State structures may be involved in wholesale criminal conduct in genocide, in attempts to extinguish States and to expel or enslave their peoples. It is true, as the Nürnberg Tribunal pointed out, that such attempts will necessarily be led by individuals and that at some point in the governmental hierarchy individuals will necessarily be acting criminally. But those individuals may be difficult to trace or apprehend, and the leadership of the few in situations of mass violation requires the cooperation of many others. It is a characteristic of the worst crimes of the period since 1930 that they have been committed within and with the assistance of State structures;
- (b) Secondly, it appeals to the rule of law. International law does now define certain conduct as criminal when committed by individuals, including in their capacity as heads of State or senior State officials, and it disqualifies those individuals from relying on the superior orders of their State as a defence. Yet it would be odd if the State itself retained its immunity from guilt. It would be odd if the paradigm person of international law, the State, were treated as immune from committing the very crimes that international law now characterizes as crimes in all cases whatsoever
- 84. If the international crimes referred to in article 19 are real crimes and not merely a pejorative way of describing serious breaches of certain norms—as the account in the preceding paragraph assumes—the question must be asked what kind of regime would be needed to respond to them. What would be expected of the draft articles if they were to contain a regime of international crimes of States in the proper sense of the term? It should be noted here that international law does say things about how allegations of crimes are to be handled. It has a developing notion of due process. 123 That notion has in turn been applied by analogy to corporate crime at the international level, by such bodies as the European Commission of Human Rights and the European Court of Justice. 124 It may be true that not all the elements of due process applicable under international law to national criminal proceedings are equally applicable to international criminal proceedings. 125 But it would be odd if international law had totally different notions of due process in relation to international crimes of States than it has of due process in relation to other international crimes.
- 85. It is suggested that five elements would be necessary for a regime of State criminal responsibility in the proper sense of the term. First of all, international crimes of States must be properly defined: *nullum crimen sine*

lege. Secondly, there would need to be an adequate procedure for their investigation on behalf of the international community as a whole. Thirdly, there would need to be adequate procedural guarantees, in effect, a system of due process in relation to charges of crimes made against States. Fourthly, there must be appropriate sanctions consequential upon a determination, on behalf of the community, that a crime had been committed, and these would have to be duly defined: nulla poena sine lege. These sanctions would be independent of any liabilities that might flow from such acts as wrongs against particular persons or entities. Fifthly, there must be some system by which the criminal State could purge its guilt, as it were, could work its way out of the condemnation of criminality. Otherwise the stigma of criminality would be visited on succeeding generations.

86. No doubt considerable imagination would be called for in giving effect to requirements such as these in relation to international crimes of State. But the task is not a priori impossible. It used to be said that societas delinquere non potest, but forms of corporate criminal responsibility are rapidly developing at the national level, and are proving to perform a useful function.¹²⁶ What is critical for present purposes, however, is to note that, of the five conditions for a regime for international crimes of States properly so-called, which were identified in the preceding paragraph, the draft articles provide for none. Admittedly the task of definition of crimes is largely a matter for the primary rules. But the extreme imprecision of article 19 has already been noted, and the equation of all the conditions for crime with those for delict (imputability, complicity, excuses, etc.) in part one is highly implausible. 127 The other four conditions are, however, a matter for the draft articles, if they are to cover international crimes of State in a satisfactory way. As the above analysis shows, the draft articles do not satisfy any of these conditions. Articles 51 to 53 do not specify special, let alone stringent, consequences of crimes, penalties properly so-called. 128 Of the other three elements, none is provided for at all. Addressing these issues would be a major exercise.

(d) Excluding the possibility of State crimes

87. According to another view, quite widely held in the literature, there is no sufficient basis in existing international law for the notion of international crimes of State, and no good reason to develop such a notion. There is no clear example of a State authoritatively held to have committed a crime. Nor is there any clear need for the concept, given the generality of the normal regime of State responsibility, and the breadth of the powers of the Security Council under the Charter to deal with threats to or breaches of international peace and security, powers which are now being vigorously used and which the draft articles cannot in any way affect. Many State crimes primarily affect the population of the "criminal State" itself; to punish the State in such cases amounts, indirectly, to punishing the victims.

¹²³ See, for example, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, art. 14, and its equivalents in other instruments.

¹²⁴ See, for example, Case of Société Sténuit v. France, European Commission of Human Rights, Series A, Judgments and Decisions, vol. 232–A, Judgment of 27 February 1992 (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, Strasbourg, 1992) discussed by Stessens, "Corporate criminal liability: a comparative perspective", pp. 505–506.

¹²⁵ As the Appeals Chamber of the International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia stated in its judgement in the *Prosecutor v. Duško Tadić* case, *International Law Reports*, vol. 105 (1997), pp. 472–476, paras. 42–46.

¹²⁶ See, for example, Fisse and Braithwaite, Corporations, Crime and Accountability.

¹²⁷ See paragraphs 49, 50 and 76 above.

¹²⁸ See paragraphs 51 and 77 above.

- 88. The comments of Governments hostile to article 19 have been summarized above; they provide a range of further reasons against the notion of international crimes of States. ¹²⁹ The need for that notion may also be reduced by the development of institutions for prosecuting and trying individuals for international crimes, as exemplified by the proposed international criminal court.
- 89. On the other hand, there are some difficulties with the view that the draft articles should entirely exclude the possibility of State crimes. In the first place, there is some support in State practice for the notion of international crimes of State, at least in the case of a few crimes such as aggression. Only States can commit aggression, and aggression is characteristically described as a crime. 130 Moreover, even though there are very few cases of State conduct actually being treated as a crime, there are cases in which States have been treated as virtual criminals, and a more regular procedure is called for, one which is not so dependent on the extraordinary powers of the Security Council. As a matter of policy, it might be argued that legal systems as they develop seem to need the notion of corporate criminal responsibility for various purposes; it is not clear that the Commission can or should exclude that possibility for the future in relation to the State as a legal entity.
- 90. For these and other reasons a number of Governments continue to support the distinction between crimes and delicts as formulated in article 19. It should also not be forgotten that at earlier stages of the discussion of part one the distinction achieved quite wide acceptance. ¹³¹

(e) Decriminalizing State responsibility

- 91. In the Special Rapporteur's view, it is neither necessary nor possible to resolve for the future the question of State crimes. There is some practice supporting the notion, but with the possible exception of the crime of aggression, which is specially dealt with in the Charter, that practice is embryonic. A coherent system for dealing with the criminal conduct of States is at present lacking, both from a procedural and from a substantive point of view; both points of view are of equal significance. There is no prospect that the draft articles could fill that gap, having regard, *inter alia*, to the many other issues which the draft articles do have to address and the need to avoid overburdening them, increasing the risk of outright failure.
- 92. On the other hand, there is already a concept of obligations *erga omnes*, obligations owed to the international community as a whole, and there is also the concept of non-derogable norms (*jus cogens*). Both of these concepts need to be reflected in the draft articles, as appropriate. Doing so would not reintroduce the notion of "international crimes" under another name. Historically the general regime of State responsibility has been used to cover

the whole spectrum of breaches of international law, up to the most serious ones. It is not the case that responses to the most serious breaches are the exclusive prerogative of international organizations, in particular the Security Council. States, acting in solidarity with those most directly injured, also have a role.

93. It is perfectly coherent for international law, like other legal systems, to separate the question of the criminal responsibility of legal persons from questions arising under the general law of obligations. Particular links between the two categories may be established. For example, victims may be able to seek redress by an order for compensation following upon a determination of guilt. But the categories remain distinct, and the general law of obligations is understood to operate without prejudice to issues of the administration of criminal justice. Under such a system the law of obligations remains quite general in its coverage, extending to the most serious wrongs qua breaches of obligation, notwithstanding that those wrongs may also constitute crimes. It is suggested that this is the most appropriate and coherent solution to the problem of international crimes raised by article 19. It does not preclude the development in future of the notion of international crimes of State, in accordance with proper standards of due process attendant on any criminal charge. At the same time it does not trivialize other serious breaches of international law, as the coexistence of a category of international crimes and international delicts in the draft articles would be almost certain to do.

3. RECOMMENDATION

- 94. For the reasons given above, the recognition of the concept of "international crimes" would represent a major stage in the development of international law. The present draft articles do not do justice to the concept or its implications for the international legal order, and cannot be expected to do so. The subject is one that requires separate treatment, whether by the Commission, if the Sixth Committee should entrust it with this task, or by some other body.
- 95. It is recommended that articles 19 (and, consequently, articles 51 to 53) be deleted from the draft articles. In the context of the second reading of part two, article 40, paragraph 3, should be reconsidered, *inter alia*, so as to deal with the issue of breaches of obligations *erga omnes*. It should be understood that the exclusion from the draft articles of the notion of "international crimes" of States is without prejudice (a) to the scope of the draft articles, which would continue to cover all breaches of international obligation whatever their origin; and (b) to the notion of "international crimes of States" and its possible future development, whether as a separate topic for the Commission, or through State practice and the practice of the competent international organizations.

¹²⁹ See paragraph 52 above.

¹³⁰ See footnote 117 above.

¹³¹ See paragraphs 44 and 53 above.

CHAPTER II

Review of draft articles in part one (other than article 19)

A. Preliminary issues

96. The present report turns now to the initial consideration of the draft articles in part one (other than article 19). It can only be an initial consideration for several reasons. First, so far only relatively few Governments have commented in detail on individual draft articles, and it will be necessary to consider further comments and suggestions as they are made. Secondly, so far there has been no systematic coordination of the draft articles in part one with those in parts two and three, and it is desirable not to finalize part one until the latter articles have been reviewed. Thirdly, the Commission's normal practice on second reading is to maintain all the articles formally under review in the Drafting Committee until the text and the commentaries are completed. There is every reason to adopt this procedure in the case of State responsibility. For these reasons, the second reading will involve a process of "rolling review" of the draft articles until their completion.¹³²

1. QUESTIONS OF TERMINOLOGY

97. Unlike many other of the Commission's texts, the draft articles contain no separate definition clause. Instead terms are explained as they are used (see, for example, articles 3, 19, para. 3, 40, 43, 44, para. 2, and 47, para. 1). In general this is a satisfactory and even elegant technique, which should be retained. One point that does, however, require review is the range of terms used throughout the text to describe the responsibility relationship. The most important of these are set out in table 1 below. Generally these terms are used consistently in the draft articles, and appear to present no problem either in English or, as far as can be ascertained, in the other official languages. A question of substance arises with respect to the notion of "circumstances precluding wrongfulness": this will be dealt with in the context of the relevant articles. Several of these terms do, however, merit some further consideration.

98. *The "State which has committed an internation-ally wrongful act"*. This term, which is used frequently in the draft articles, ¹³³ raises a question of substance and one of terminology:

- (a) As a matter of substance, the term perhaps creates the impression that in a given case it will be clear that the State concerned has committed an internationally wrongful act. In many disputes both parties deny responsibility, while asserting that it is the other which is in the wrong. Both may have committed some wrongful act, as ICJ has found on several occasions. ¹³⁴ But at the time of the dispute it may well be disputed and disputable where responsibility lies, and the use of the term "the State which has committed an internationally wrongful act" may tend to obscure this reality. On the other hand, this is a general problem within the field of international law, one which can only finally be resolved by appropriate procedures for dispute settlement. It certainly cannot be resolved by any different description of the States whose responsibility is invoked;
- (b) As a matter of terminology, however, the term "the State which has committed an internationally wrongful act" is cumbersome, and the use of the past tense may imply, wrongly, that it concerns only completed rather than continuing wrongful acts. The shorter and more convenient term "wrongdoing State" was used by ICJ in the case concerning the Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project, and for both these reasons is to be preferred. Table 2 below sets out that term in the various official languages. The Drafting Committee should consider whether to substitute it for the longer phrase.
- 99. *Injury and damage*. Two terms which also need preliminary mention are "injury" and "damage". The draft articles do not use the term "injury", but the term "injured State" is defined in article 40 and is thereafter used repeatedly. The term "damage" is used to refer to actual harm suffered; 136 a further distinction is drawn between "economically assessable damage" and "moral damage" in articles 44 and 45. The term "damages" is also used twice, to refer to the amount of monetary compensation to be awarded (art. 45, para. 2(b)-(c)). More detailed questions of terminology can be left to the discussion of part two, where the issues mostly arise. As to the basic distinction between "injury" and "damage", it is clear that the concept of "injury" in the term "injured State" involves the concept of a "legal injury" or *injuria*, whereas the term "damage" refers to material or other loss suffered by the injured State. The substantive question whether damage is a necessary component of injury, is considered in

¹³² A further difficulty is that no final decision can be made as to the articles in part one until it is decided whether to retain the distinction between crimes and delicts. For the reasons given in paragraph 77, significant changes to part one will be necessary if that distinction is retained. These would include, *inter alia*, changes to articles 1, 3 and 10. The discussion in this section of the report proceeds on the basis that the recommendation made in paragraph 95 may be adopted in some form, even if provisionally.

¹³³ Viz., in articles 28, para. 3, 36, 42, paras. 1 and 4, 43 (twice), 44, para. 1, 45, paras. 1 and 3, 46, 47, paras. 1 and 3, 48, paras. 2–4, 50 and 53 (*Yearbook* ... 1996, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 61 et seq.).

¹³⁴ For example, *Corfu Channel, Merits, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1949*, p. 4 (where Albania was held to be internationally responsible for the damage to the British ships, but the United Kingdom was held to have acted unlawfully in conducting its subsequent unilateral minesweeping operation in Albanian waters); and *Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project* (footnote 85 above), p. 3 (where Hungary was held to have acted unlawfully in suspending and terminating work on the project but Slovakia was held to have acted unlawfully in continuing the unilateral operation of a unilateral diversion scheme, Variant C).

¹³⁵ I.C.J. Reports 1997 (see footnote 85 above), p. 56, para. 87.

¹³⁶ The term is used in articles 35, 42, 44, para. 1, and 45, para. 1.

Table 1 KEY TERMS IN THE DRAFT ARTICLES ON STATE RESPONSIBILITY

Arabic	Chinese	English
فعل غير مشروع دوليا التمال التوانه المعميل الطرون الثاقية لعدم المشروعية الدولة المصرورة الدولة التي ارتكبت القعل غير المشروع دوليا	国际不法行为 违背国际义务 国家的行为 归于 解除不法行为的情况 受害国 实行国际不法行为的国家 损害	internationally wrongful act breach of an international obligation act of a State attribution circumstances precluding wrongfulness injured State the State which has committed an internationally wrongful act damage
French	Russian	Spanish
fait internationalement illicite violation d'une obligation internationale fait d'un État attribution circonstances excluant l'illicéité État lésé l'État qui a commis un fait internationalement illicite dommages	международно-противоправное деяние нарушение международного обязательства деяние государства присвоение обстоятельства, исключающие противоправность потерпевшее государство государство государство противоправное деяние	hecho internacionalmente ilicito violación de una obligación internacional hecho de un Estado atribución circunstancias que excluyen la ilicitud Estado Icsionado el Estado que haya cometido el hecho internacionalmente ilícito daño
	ymep6	

the wrongdoing State KEY TERMS RELEVANT TO THE DRAFT ARTICLES ON STATE RESPONSIBILITY Russian French

Spanish

el Estado infractor

государство-нарушитель

l'État fautif

the context of article 1.137 Whatever conclusion may be reached on that question, the terminological distinction is useful and should be retained.

2. General and savings clauses

- 100. The draft articles do not contain the range of general and savings clauses which have often been included in texts prepared by the Commission. There are no equivalents to the following articles contained in the 1969 Vienna Convention: article 1 (Scope of the present Convention); article 2 (Use of terms); article 3 (International agreements not within the scope of the present Convention); and article 4 (Non-retroactivity of the present Convention).
- 101. On the other hand, chapter I of part two does contain certain clauses which are arguably appropriate to the draft articles as a whole, and which could therefore be included in an introductory group of articles. They are: article 37 (Lex specialis); article 38 (Customary international law); and article 39 (Relationship to the Charter of the United Nations).
- 102. Several Governments have noted that article 37, in particular, should be made applicable to the draft articles as a whole. 138 This seems clearly right in principle. However, it is convenient to consider the formulation and placement of these articles in the context of the review of part two. At the same time, it will be necessary to consider which, if any, further preliminary and savings clauses may be desirable. 139
- 103. Part one is entitled "Origin of international responsibility". ¹⁴⁰ It consists of five chapters: chapter I (General principles) (arts.1-4); chapter II (The "act of the State" under international law) (arts. 5-15); chapter III (Breach of an international obligation) (arts. 16–26); chapter IV (Implication of a State in the internationally wrongful act of another State) (arts. 27-28); and chapter V (Circumstances precluding wrongfulness) (arts. 29–35).

B. Part one, chapter I. General principles (arts. 1-4)

104. According to the commentary, chapter I is intended to cover "rules of the most general character applying to the draft articles as a whole". 141 It would perhaps be more accurate to say that chapter I lays down certain gen-

 $^{^{137}}$ See paragraphs 108–116 below.

¹³⁸ See A/CN.4/488 and Add.1-3 (reproduced in the present volume), views expressed by France, Germany and the United Kingdom.

¹³⁹ Ibid. For example, France suggests that article 1 should contain a without-prejudice clause with respect to "questions which may arise with respect to injurious consequences arising out of acts not prohibited by international law".

 $^{^{140}}$ The use of the term "origin" has been criticized. France proposes instead using the term "basis", which has the merit of focusing on the legal basis for responsibility rather than, for example, on the historical or even psychological origins.

¹⁴¹ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 173.

eral propositions defining the basic conditions for State responsibility, leaving it to part two to deal with general principles which determine the consequences of responsibility.

1. ARTICLE 1 (RESPONSIBILITY OF A STATE FOR ITS INTERNATIONALLY WRONGFUL ACTS)

(a) General observations

105. The first such proposition, stated in article 1, is that: "Every internationally wrongful act of a State entails the international responsibility of that State." On an initial reading, article 1 seems only to state the obvious. But there are several things it does not say, and its importance lies in these silences. First, it does not spell out any general preconditions for responsibility in international law, such as "fault" on the part of the wrongdoing State, or "damage" suffered by any injured State. 142 Secondly, it does not identify the State or States, or the other international legal persons, to which international responsibility is owed. It thus does not follow the tradition of treating international responsibility as a secondary legal relationship of an essentially bilateral character (a relationship of the wrongdoing State with the injured State, or if there happens to be more than one injured State, with each of those States separately). Rather it appears to present the situation of responsibility as an "objective correlative" of the commission of an internationally wrongful act.

- 106. Before turning to these two aspects, certain less controversial points may be noted about article 1; a number of these are already dealt with in the commentary:
- (a) The term "internationally wrongful act" is intended to cover all wrongful conduct of a State, whether it arises from positive action or from an omission or a failure to act. ¹⁴³ This is more clearly conveyed by the French and the Spanish than by the English text, but the point is made clear also in article 3, which refers to "[c]onduct consisting of an action or omission";
- (b) Conduct which is "internationally wrongful" entails international responsibility. Draft articles 29 to 34 deal with circumstances which exclude wrongfulness and, thus, international responsibility in the full sense. Article 35 reserves the possibility that compensation may be payable for harm resulting from acts otherwise unlawful, the wrongfulness of which is precluded under certain of these articles. The commentary to article 1 goes further; it leaves open the possibility of "international responsibility" if that is the right term for the harmful consequences of certain activities which are not, at least for the moment, prohibited by international law". 144 Since 1976, the Commission has been grappling with the ques-

tion of "liability" for harmful consequences of acts not prohibited by international law. Its relative lack of success in that endeavour is due, in part at least, to the failure to develop a terminology in languages other than English which is capable of distinguishing "liability" for lawful conduct causing harm, on the one hand, and responsibility for wrongful conduct, on the other. That experience tends to suggest that the term "State responsibility" in international law is limited to responsibility for wrongful conduct, even though article 1 was intended to leave that question open. Obligations to compensate for damage not arising from wrongful conduct are best seen either as conditions upon the lawfulness of the conduct concerned, or as discrete primary obligations to compensate for harm actually caused. In any event, except in the specific and limited context of article 35, such obligations fall entirely outside the scope of the draft articles; ¹⁴⁵

- (c) In stating that every wrongful act of a State entails the international responsibility of that State, article 1 affirms the basic principle that each State is responsible for its own wrongful conduct. The commentary notes that this is without prejudice to the possibility that another State may also be responsible for the same wrongful conduct, for example, if it has occurred under the control of the latter State or on its authority. 146 Some aspects of the question of the involvement or implication of a State in the wrongful conduct of another are dealt with in articles 12, 27 and 28. By contrast, other aspects, in particular the question of so-called "joint responsibility" and its possible implications for reparation and countermeasures, are not dealt with. 147 Whether they should be covered, either in chapter IV of part one or in part two, is a question. But it casts no doubt on the formulation of article 1 itself.
- 107. Turning to the two issues (identified in paragraph 105 above) as to which article 1 is silent, the first of these is the question whether the draft articles should specify a general requirement of fault (*culpa* or *dolus*), or of damage to another State, as a condition of responsibility.

(b) A general requirement of fault or damage?

- 108. A number of Governments question whether a specific requirement of "damage" should not be included in article 1 or 3:
- (a) Argentina calls for article 3 to be reconsidered. In its view:

[I]n the case of a wrongful act caused by one State to another ... the exercise of a claim makes sense only if it can be shown that there has been real financial or moral injury to the State concerned. Otherwise, the State would hardly be justified in initiating the claim.

In a similar vein, it has been stated that even in the human rights protection treaties ... the damage requirement cannot be denied. What

¹⁴² These silences pertain to article 3 as much as, or even more than, article 1, since they relate to the question whether there has been a breach of an international obligation. For the sake of convenience, the issues are discussed here.

 $^{^{143}}$ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 176, para. (14) of the commentary to article 1.

¹⁴⁴ Ibid., para. (13) of the commentary to article 1.

¹⁴⁵ See footnote 139 above, for the French suggestion of a without-prejudice clause with respect to the injurious consequences of lawful conduct.

 $^{^{146}}$ Yearbook \dots 1973, vol. II, p. 175, para. (7), and p. 176, para. (11) of the commentary to article 1.

¹⁴⁷ Such issues were raised, for example, in the case concerning Certain Phosphate Lands in Nauru (Nauru v. Australia), Preliminary Objections, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1992, p. 240.

is involved is actually a moral damage suffered by the other States parties.

- \dots [T]he damage requirement is, in reality, an expression of the basic legal principle which stipulates that no one undertakes an action without an interest of a legal nature. 148
- (b) France likewise argues strongly that responsibility could only exist vis-à-vis another injured State, which must have suffered moral or material injury. In its view:

[T]he existence of damage is an indispensable element of the very definition of State responsibility ...

International responsibility presupposes that, in addition to an internationally wrongful act having been perpetrated by a State, the act in question has injured another State. Accordingly, if the wrongful act of State A has not injured State B, no international responsibility of State A with respect to State B will be entailed. Without damage, there is no international responsibility.

It thus proposes the addition to article 1 of the words "visà-vis the injured States", and a comprehensive redrafting of article 40 to incorporate the requirement of "material or moral damage" in all cases except for breaches of fundamental human rights. ¹⁴⁹

- 109. A number of other Governments, by contrast, approve the principles underlying articles 1 and 3. They include Austria, Germany, Italy, Mongolia, the Nordic countries and the United Kingdom. Germany, for example, regards article 1 as expressing a "well-accepted general principle".¹⁵⁰
- 110. No Government has argued in favour of the specification of a general requirement of fault. Nonetheless the question of "fault" has figured prominently in the literature, and it is a question of the same order as the question whether "damage" is a prerequisite for responsibility. Both questions need to be discussed, the more so since, it is suggested, the same answer should be given to both.
- 111. An initial point to make is that, if the recommendation in part one of the present report (para. 95) is accepted, the draft articles will no longer seek to deal directly with the question of international crimes. Were they to do so, there would be good reasons for spelling out a requirement of fault: a State could not possibly be considered responsible for a crime without fault on its part. Equally there would be compelling reasons not to add any distinct requirement of damage or harm to other States. State conduct would not be considered criminal by reason of the damage caused to particular States but by reason of the character of the conduct itself. These questions will have to be revisited if the Commission should decide to undertake a full-scale treatment of "international crimes" within the scope of these draft articles.
- 112. **Damage as a general prerequisite**. Neither article 1 nor article 3 contains a general requirement of "damage" to any State or other legal person as a prerequisite for a wrongful act, still less any requirement of material damage. This position has been generally approved in the lit-

erature on these articles since their adoption in 1973. 151 So far as subsequent case law is concerned, the most directly relevant decision is the *Rainbow Warrior* arbitration, which concerned the failure by France to keep two of its agents in confinement on the island of Hao, as had been previously agreed between France and New Zealand. 152 It was argued by France that its failure to return the agents to the island did not entitle New Zealand to any relief. Since there was no indication that "the slightest damage has been suffered, even moral damage", there was no basis for international responsibility. New Zealand referred, inter alia, to articles 1 and 3 of the draft articles, and denied that there was any separate requirement of "damage" for the breach of a treaty obligation. In oral argument France accepted that in addition to material or economic damage there could be "moral and even legal damage". The Tribunal held that the failure to return the two agents to the island "caused a new, additional non-material damage ... of a moral, political and legal nature". 153

113. Although the Tribunal was thus able to avoid pronouncing directly upon articles 1 and 3, the breadth of its formulation ("damage ... of a moral, political and legal nature") does not suggest that there is any logical stopping place between, on the one hand, the traditional and relatively narrow concept of "moral damage" and, on the other hand, the broader conception of legal damage arising from the breach of a State's right to the performance of an obligation. It has long been accepted that States may assume international obligations on virtually any subject and having, in principle, any content.¹⁵⁴ Within those broad limits, how can it be said that a State may not bind itself, categorically, not to do something? On what basis is that obligation to be reinterpreted as an obligation not to do that thing only if one or more other States would thereby be damaged? The other States that are parties to the agreement, or bound by the obligation, may be seeking guarantees, not merely indemnities. But as soon as that possibility is conceded, the question whether damage is a prerequisite for a breach becomes a matter to be determined by the relevant primary rule. It may be that many primary rules do contain a requirement of damage, however defined. Some certainly do. But there is no warrant for the suggestion that this is necessarily the case, that it is an a priori requirement.

114. Similar reasoning is set out, albeit rather briefly, in the commentary to article 3.¹⁵⁵ This points out that all sorts of international obligations and commitments are

¹⁴⁸ See A/CN.4/488/Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by Argentina on article 3.

¹⁴⁹ Ibid., comments by France on articles 1 and 40, para. 3.

¹⁵⁰ Ibid., comments by Austria, Denmark (on behalf of the Nordic countries), Germany, Italy, Mongolia and the United Kingdom.

¹⁵¹ See, for example, Reuter, "Le dommage comme condition de la responsibilité internationale"; and Tanzi, "Is damage a distinct condition for the existence of an internationally wrongful act?".

¹⁵² Case concerning the difference between New Zealand and France concerning the interpretation or application of two agreements concluded on 9 July 1986 between the two States and which related to the problems arising from the *Rainbow Warrior* affair (UNRIAA, vol. XX (Sales No. E/F.93.V.3), p. 215).

¹⁵³ Ibid., pp. 266-267.

¹⁵⁴ See paragraph 46 above. This is subject to any limitations which may be imposed by peremptory norms of general international law.

¹⁵⁵ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 183, para. (12) of the commentary to article 3. Somewhat disconcertingly, in paragraph (3) of the commentary to article 1, the following article, adopted in first reading by the Third Committee of the 1930 Hague Conference for the Codification of International Law, is cited with approval:

[&]quot;International responsibility is incurred by a State if there is any failure on the part of its organs to carry out the international obliga-

entered into, covering many fields in which damage to other individual States cannot be expected, would be difficult to prove or is not of the essence of the obligation. This is not only true of international human rights (an exception allowed by France in its comments), or of other obligations undertaken by the State to its own citizens (another example given by the Commission in its commentary to article 3). It is true in a host of areas, including the protection of the environment, disarmament and other "preventive" obligations in the field of peace and security, and the development of uniform standards or rules in such fields as private international law. For example, if a State agrees to take only a specified volume of water from an international river, or to adopt a particular uniform law, it breaches that obligation if it takes more than the agreed volume of water, or if it fails to adopt the uniform law, and it does so irrespective of whether other States or their nationals can be shown to have suffered specific damage thereby. In practice, no individual release of chlorofluorocarbons or other ozone-depleting substances causes identifiable damage: it is the phenomenon of diffuse, widespread releases that is the problem, and the purpose of the relevant treaties is to address that problem. In short, the point of such obligations is that they constitute, in themselves, standards of conduct for the parties. They are not only concerned to allocate risks in the event of subsequent harm occurring.

- 115. There is a corollary, not pointed out in the commentary to article 3. If damage was to be made a distinct prerequisite for State responsibility, the onus would be on the injured State to prove that damage, yet in respect of many obligations this may be difficult to do. The "wrongdoing State" could proceed to act inconsistently with its commitment, in the hope or expectation that damage might not arise or might not be able to be proved. This would tend to undermine and render insecure international obligations establishing minimum standards of conduct. There is also the question by what standard "damage" is to be measured. Is any damage at all sufficient, or is "appreciable" or "significant" damage required? This debate already occurs in specific contexts; 156 to make damage a general requirement would inject it into the whole field of State responsibility.
- 116. It may be argued that failure to comply with international obligations creates a "moral injury" for other States in whose favour the obligation was assumed, so that the requirement of damage is readily satisfied. 157 But the traditional understanding of "moral damage" was much

narrower than this, as the commentary to article 3 points out. The reason why a breach of fundamental human rights is of international concern (to take only one example) is not because such breaches are conceived as assaulting the dignity of other States; it is because they assault human dignity in ways which are specifically prohibited by international treaties or general international law.

- 117. For these reasons the decision not to articulate a separate requirement of "damage", either in article 1 or in article 3, in order for there to be an internationally wrongful act seems clearly right in principle. But too much should not be read into that decision, for the following reasons:
- (a) First, as already noted, particular rules of international law may require actual damage to have been caused before any issue of responsibility is raised. To take a famous example, principle 21 of the Declaration of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment (Stockholm Declaration) is formulated in terms of preventing "damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction"; ¹⁵⁸
- (b) Secondly, articles 1 and 3 do not take a position as to whether and when obligations are owed to "not-directly injured States", or to States generally, or to the international community as a whole. That question is dealt with, at present, in articles 19 and 40. The requirement of damage as a prerequisite to a breach could arise equally in a strictly bilateral context, as it did in the *Rainbow Warrior* arbitration; ¹⁵⁹
- (c) Thirdly, articles 1 and 3 do not, of course, deny the relevance of damage, moral and material, for various purposes of responsibility. ¹⁶⁰ They simply deny that there is a categorical requirement of moral or material damage before a breach of an international norm can attract responsibility.
- 118. "Fault" as a general requirement. Similar arguments apply to the suggestion that international law impos-

lished that there has been a violation and receive reparation in that connection if the breach does not directly affect it."

(A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), para. 3 of France's comments on article 40)

But it is not the function of the draft articles to say in respect of which treaties, or which category of treaties, particular requirements of damage may exist. Exactly the same commitment (e.g. to compensation for expropriation, or to the protection of a linguistic minority) may be made in a bilateral and in a multilateral treaty. As soon as it is accepted that a State may suffer legal injury as a result of a commitment made to it, the question whether this is the case becomes a matter for the interpretation and application of the particular commitment, i.e. a matter for the primary rules.

158 Report of the United Nations Conference on the Human Environment, Stockholm, 5–16 June 1972 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.73.II.A.14 and corrigendum), part one, chap. I. Similar language is used in principle 2 of the Rio Declaration (Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, 3–14 June 1992 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.93.I.8 and corrigenda), vol. I: Resolutions adopted by the Conference, resolution I, annex I). Cf., however, the ICJ formulation of the principle in Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons, Advisory Opinion, I.C.J. Reports 1996, p. 242, para. 29. The text of the advisory opinion is also reproduced in "Advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice on the legality of the threat or use of nuclear weapons: note by the Secretary-General" (A/51/218, annex).

tions of the State which causes damage to the person or property of a foreigner on the territory of the State."

The commentary goes on to identify that article with the "fundamental principle" enunciated in paragraph (4) (ibid.).

 $^{^{156}\,\}mathrm{For}$ example, article 5 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Non-navigational Uses of International Watercourses.

¹⁵⁷ Cf. the French response in the *Rainbow Warrior* arbitration (para. 112 above). In its comments on the draft articles, France notes that it:

[&]quot;is not hostile to the idea that a State can suffer legal injury solely as a result of a breach of a commitment made to it. However, the injury must be of a special nature, which is automatically so in the case of a commitment under a bilateral or restricted multilateral treaty. By contrast, in the case of a commitment under a multilateral treaty, the supposedly injured State must establish that it has suffered special material or moral damage other than that resulting from a simple violation of a legal rule. A State cannot have it estab-

¹⁵⁹ See footnote 152 above.

¹⁶⁰ In part two, damage is relevant, *inter alia*, under articles 43 (c), 44 and 49.

es any general requirement of "fault" (*culpa, dolus*) as a condition of State responsibility. Again the answer is that the field of State obligations is extraordinarily wide and that very different elements and standards of care apply to different obligations within that field. Thus, there is no a priori requirement of particular knowledge or intent on the part of State organs which applies to all obligations, and could be stated as a prerequisite in article 1 or article 3. The point was made, for example, by Denmark on behalf of the Nordic countries:

If the element of fault is relevant in establishing responsibility, it already follows from the particular rule of international law governing that situation, and not from being a constituent element of international responsibility. ¹⁶¹

A similar conclusion is now drawn in the literature, despite certain earlier tendencies to the contrary. 162

- (c) Relationship between internationally wrongful conduct and injury to other States or persons
- 119. The second question identified in paragraph 105 with respect to article 1 is the absence of any specification of the States or entities to whom responsibility is owed. As noted, France criticizes the draft articles for not specifying that "the injured State is the State that has a subjective right corresponding to obligations incumbent on clearly identified States", and it proposes changes to articles 1 and 40 to resolve this question. Argentina suggests that the question of the responsibility of the wrongdoing State to the injured State is the *ratio legis* of the draft articles. ¹⁶³
- 120. An initial point which needs to be stressed is that the draft articles are not limited to State responsibility arising from primary obligations of a bilateral character, or from obligations owed by one State to another in any defined field of "inter-State relations" (even assuming that such a field could be defined a priori). This seems to be accepted in all the comments from Governments received so far, as well as by commentators.
- 121. It is another question whether the draft articles are limited to secondary responsibility relationships between States (even if those relationships arise from primary rules which are general in their scope, e.g. under multilateral treaties or general international law in the field of human rights). The commentary to article 1 notes that:

by using the term "international responsibility" in article 1, the Commission intended to cover every kind of new relations which may arise, in international law, from the internationally wrongful act of a State, whether such relations are limited to the offending State and the directly injured State or extend also to other subjects of international law, and whether they are centred on the duty of the guilty State to restore the injured State in its rights and repair the damage caused, or whether they also give the injured State itself or other subjects of international law the right to impose on the offending State a sanction admitted by international law. In other words, the formulation adopted for article 1 must be broad enough to cater for all the necessary developments in the

chapter which is to be devoted to the content and forms of international responsibility. $^{164}\,$

This needs to be read in the light of the following passage in the commentary to article 3:

in international law the idea of breach of an obligation can be regarded as the exact equivalent of the idea of infringement of the subjective rights of others ... The correlation between legal obligation on the one hand and subjective right on the other admits of no exception. 165

- 122. It should be noted that the term "injured State" is not used in part one. On the other hand, it is a central term in part two, which defines most of the obligations of restitution and reparation in terms of the entitlements of an "injured State". The definition of an "injured State" in article 40 is thus pivotal to the draft articles; careful attention will have to be given to that definition in due course.
- 123. As to the question of scope raised by article 1, the draft articles deal with the responsibility of States, and not with the responsibility of other legal persons such as international organizations. Part two goes on to deal with the rights and entitlements of injured States arising from the responsibility of a wrongdoing State. But the focus in part one on the wrongdoing State was not intended to imply that State responsibility can exist, as it were, in a vacuum. In its commentary to paragraph (3), the Commission expressly accepted that all cases of State responsibility have as a correlative an infringement of the actual rights of some other person. The reason this was not spelled out expressly in article 1 was that "the formulation adopted for article 1 must be broad enough to cater for all the necessary developments in the chapter which is to be devoted to the content and forms of international responsibility". 166 In the event, that chapter (which became part two) did not take full advantage of the broad formulation of article 1.
- 124. Thus, there are again two questions: one of substance and one of form. At the level of substance, the question is whether something more is required in part two to cover the ground pegged out in article 1, and specifically the question of the responsibility of States to other persons. At the level of form, the question is whether the persons to whom responsibility is owed should be identified in part one, and specifically in article 1.
- 125. The Special Rapporteur's tentative view is that no change is required in either respect. At the level of substance, it would be very difficult and would significantly expand the scope of the draft articles if part two were to deal with the rights and entitlements of injured persons other than States. At the level of form, the commentary already makes it clear that State responsibility involves a relationship between the wrongdoing State and another State, entity or person whose rights have been infringed. Thus, there is no question of a merely abstract form of responsibility; responsibility is always to someone. On the other hand, to limit part one to obligations owed exclusively to States would be unduly to limit the scope of the draft articles, and to do so at a time when international law is undergoing rapid changes in terms of the scope and

¹⁶¹ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by Denmark on part one of the draft articles.

¹⁶² See Brownlie, op. cit., pp. 38–48, and authorities there cited.

 $^{^{163}\,\}text{A/CN.4/488}$ and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by Argentina on article 3.

 $^{^{164}}$ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, pp. 175–176, para. (10) of the commentary to article 1.

¹⁶⁵ Ibid., p. 182, para. (9) of the commentary to article 3.

 $^{^{166}\,\}mathrm{Ibid.},\ \mathrm{pp.}\ 175{-}176,\ \mathrm{para.}\ (10)$ of the commentary to article 1; see also paragraph 121 above.

character of obligations assumed and the range of persons and entities engaged by those obligations or concerned with their performance. No specific difficulties have been pointed to which arise from the present open-ended formulation of article 1. Again, however, the matter will need to be revisited in the context of article 40.

(d) Recommendation

126. For these reasons, it is recommended that article 1 be adopted unchanged. The question of its relation to the concept of "injured State", as defined in article 40 and applied in part two, should, however, be further considered in that context.

2. ARTICLE 2 (POSSIBILITY THAT EVERY STATE MAY BE HELD TO HAVE COMMITTED AN INTERNATIONALLY WRONGFUL ACT)

(a) Observations

127. Article 2 provides that:

Every State is subject to the possibility of being held to have committed an internationally wrongful act entailing its international responsibility.

As expressed, article 2 is a truism. No State is immune from the principle of international responsibility. That proposition is implicit in articles 1 and 3, which apply to every internationally wrongful act of every State. It is affirmed in the commentaries to those articles, which could be reinforced. It is therefore very doubtful whether article 2 is necessary. ¹⁶⁷

- 128. The commentary 168 cites no writer and no decision supporting the contrary view to article 2, and this is not surprising. The proposition that a particular State was in principle immune from international responsibility would be a denial of international law and a rejection of the equality of States, and there is no support whatever for that proposition. Instead the commentary discusses a number of different issues. These include the problem of "delictual capacity" in national law (as in the case of minors); the question of the responsibility of the component units of a federal State; the responsibility of a State on whose territory other international legal persons are operating; and the issue of circumstances precluding wrongfulness. It concludes that none of these situations constitutes an exception to the principle of the international responsibility of every State for internationally wrongful conduct attributable to it. This conclusion is obviously correct.
- 129. Most of the issues identified in the commentary are dealt with elsewhere in the draft articles and do not need to be discussed here. ¹⁶⁹ As to the question of "delic-

tual capacity", the Commission in 1973 decided not to formulate article 2 in such terms, since it was paradoxical to assert that international law could confer the "capacity" to breach its own rules. 170 A further difficulty with the notion of "delictual capacity" is its undue focus on the question of breach. In the case of non-State entities, a bundle of questions about their legal personality, to what extent international law applies to them and their international accountability for possible breaches do indeed arise. So far as States are concerned, however, the position is clear: all States are responsible for their own breaches of international law, subject to the generally available excuses or defences which international law itself provides and which are dealt with in chapter V of part one. The draft articles deal only with the international responsibility of States, and accordingly it is not necessary to discuss the broader range of questions.

(b) Recommendation

130. Article 2 deals only with the possibility of responsibility, which in the context of draft articles dealing with State responsibility is an unnecessarily abstract notion. The proposition affirmed in article 2 is unquestioned and unquestionable. It will be sufficient to confirm it in the commentaries to articles 1 and 3. Article 2 is unnecessary and can be deleted.

3. ARTICLE 3 (ELEMENTS OF AN INTERNATIONALLY WRONGFUL ACT OF A STATE)

(a) Observations

131. According to article 3:

There is an internationally wrongful act of a State when:

- (a) Conduct consisting of an action or omission is attributable to the State under international law; and
- (b) That conduct constitutes a breach of an international obligation of the State.
- 132. Though in a sense axiomatic, this is a basic statement of the conditions of State responsibility. The issues it raises have already been discussed in relation to article 1. Indeed, there is a case for placing article 3 before article 1, since article 3 defines the general prerequisites for the responsibility which article 1 proclaims.
- 133. The inclusion of both acts and omissions within the scope of the phrase "internationally wrongful act" has already been discussed. In addition, France proposes that it be made clear that the phrase extends both to "legal acts and material conduct"; by "legal acts" is meant "acts in law" (e.g. the legal act of enacting a law, or denaturalizing a person), not "lawful acts".¹⁷¹ Acts in law are certainly intended to be covered, but it seems sufficient to make this clear in the commentary.

 $^{^{167}\,\}rm Its$ deletion was proposed by the United Kingdom (A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), in its comment on article 2.

¹⁶⁸ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, pp. 176–179.

¹⁶⁹ For the component units of a federal State, see article 7. For the responsibility of a State on whose territory other international legal persons are operating, see articles 12 and 13. For circumstances precluding wrongfulness, see articles 29 to 35.

 $^{^{170}}$ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 182, para. (10) of the commentary to article 3.

 $^{^{171}\,\}text{A/CN.4/488}$ and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 3.

134. Article 3 has the further important role of structuring the draft articles that follow. Chapter II deals with the requirement of attribution of conduct to the State under international law. Chapter III deals, so far as the secondary rules can do so, with the breach of an international obligation. Chapters IV and V deal with more specific issues, which do not need to be referred to in the text of article 3; their relationship to the basic principle can be made clear in the commentary.

(b) Recommendation

- 135. Essentially for the reasons given in relation to article 1 and on the same basis, it is recommended that article 3 be adopted unchanged.
- 4. ARTICLE 4 (CHARACTERIZATION OF AN ACT OF A STATE AS INTERNATIONALLY WRONGFUL)

(a) Observations

136. Article 4 provides:

An act of a State may only be characterized as internationally wrongful by international law. Such characterization cannot be affected by the characterization of the same act as lawful by internal law.

- 137. There appears to be no objection to or difficulty with this basic but important proposition. The second sentence does not of course mean that issues of "internal" law are necessarily irrelevant to international law: for example, national law may be relevant as a fact in an international tribunal.¹⁷² But the characterization of conduct as lawful or not is an autonomous function of international law. The long line of authorities supporting this proposition is surveyed in the commentary.¹⁷³
- 138. So far none of the governmental comments raises doubts about or proposes changes to article 4.¹⁷⁴

(b) Recommendation

139. It is recommended that article 4 be adopted unchanged.

C. Part one, chapter II. The "act of the State" under international law (arts. 5–15)

1. Introduction

140. This part of the report examines and makes proposals on chapter II (arts. 5–15) of the draft articles. It first

deals with issues of terminology, outlines the general comments of Governments on chapter II as a whole, and identifies certain general principles (see paragraphs 141–155 below). It then reviews in turn each of the articles, taking into account, in particular, the comments and observations of Governments, as well as proposing one additional article (paras. 156–283). Finally, the proposed articles are set out with brief explanatory notes (para. 284).

- 141. Chapter II defines the conditions in which conduct (acts or omissions of human beings or of other entities) is attributable to the State under international law, something which has already been specified as an essential requirement for the internationally wrongful act of a State under article 3 (a). It is plainly central to the definition of State responsibility.
- 142. Chapter II consists of 11 articles, in three groups. Five articles specify the circumstances in which conduct is attributable to the State (arts. 5, 7–9 and 15). They apply in the alternative; that is to say, conduct is attributable to the State if any one of the articles is satisfied. The first group of articles is subject to certain clarifications, provided for in articles 6 and 10. Finally, four articles state the circumstances in which conduct is not attributable to the State (arts. 11–14). In accordance with article 3 (a), however, it is a necessary condition for State responsibility that conduct is actually attributable to the State. Strictly speaking, it is not necessary to say when conduct is not attributable, except to create an exception to one of the clauses providing for attribution. None of the "negative" articles creates such an exception.
- 143. There is a measure of duplication. The conduct of organs of other States is dealt with in articles 9 and 12 (article 28, paragraph 1, might also be characterized as a rule of attribution). The conduct of international organizations is dealt with in articles 9 and 13. The conduct of insurrectional movements is dealt with in articles 14 and 15. The relation between these provisions requires consideration.
- 144. Some of these articles have been frequently referred to in judicial decisions and in the literature. In addition, there have been major developments in the law of attribution, in decisions of ICJ and of other international tribunals, including the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal¹⁷⁵ and the various human rights courts and committees.¹⁷⁶ These developments will need to be carefully taken into account.¹⁷⁷
- 145. Before turning to the individual articles, a number of general issues about chapter II as a whole need to be mentioned.

 $^{^{172}}$ As, for example, in Elettronica Sicula S.p.A (ELSI), Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1989, p. 15.

¹⁷³ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, pp. 185–188, paras. (3)–(13) of the commentary to article 4. The commentary convincingly explains why the language of article 27 of the 1969 Vienna Convention ("A party may not invoke the provisions of its internal law as justification for its failure to perform a treaty") was not more closely reflected in article 4 (see page 188, paras. (15)–(17).

 $^{^{174}}$ See A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments on article 4.

¹⁷⁵ For a thorough account of issues of attribution before the Claims Tribunal see Caron, "The basis of responsibility: attribution and other trans-substantive rules". See also Brower and Brueschke, *The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal*, pp. 442–456; Aldrich, *The Juris-prudence of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal*, pp. 174–215; and Avanessian, *Iran-United States Claims Tribunal in Action*, pp. 209–233.

¹⁷⁶ Usefully reviewed by Dipla, *La responsabilité de l'État pour violation des droits de l'homme: problèmes d'imputation.*

¹⁷⁷ For the extensive literature on attribution see the bibliography annexed to the present report.

(a) Questions of terminology

- 146. When he first proposed this group of articles, the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Ago, used the term "imputability", ¹⁷⁸ which is also common in the literature. The same term has been used by ICJ in later cases. ¹⁷⁹ The Commission itself, however, preferred the term "attribution", to avoid any suggestion that the legal process of connecting conduct to the State was a "fiction". ¹⁸⁰ The State can act only through individuals, whether those individuals are organs or agents or are otherwise acting on behalf of the State. In the words of one author: "Imputability implies a fiction where there is none, and conjures up the idea of vicarious liability where it cannot apply". ¹⁸¹ For these reasons, it is suggested that the term "attribution" should be retained.
- 147. The title of chapter II rather awkwardly places inverted commas around the phrase "act of the State", which also tends to recall the distinct notion of "act of State" current in some national legal systems. A more informative title might be preferable, such as "Attribution of conduct to the State under international law"; this would have the further advantage of corresponding exactly to the language of article 3 (a). Of course, under article 3, the rules of attribution are established for the purposes of the law of State responsibility; different rules of attribution exist, for example, for the purposes of the law of treaties. ¹⁸² This point is conveyed by the words "For the purposes of the present articles" in article 5, and is reinforced in the commentary. ¹⁸³
- (b) Comments of Governments on chapter II as a whole
- 148. A number of Government comments relate to the balance and structure of chapter II as a whole.

149. Germany doubts whether this chapter

sufficiently covers acts of natural persons and juridical persons, who, at the time of committing a violation of international law, do not act as State organs but nevertheless act under the authority and control of the State ... States increasingly entrust persons outside the structure of State organs with activities normally attributable to a State. ¹⁸⁴

It notes, however, the element of flexibility introduced by article 7, paragraphs 2 and 8.

150. A similar concern may underlie the comment of France with regard to article 5, that "the term 'State organ' is too restrictive. It would be better to use the expression 'any State organ or agent'. The same comment applies to articles 6, 7, 9, 10, 12 and 13". ¹⁸⁵

151. Mongolia also expresses:

some doubts as to the coverage of acts of natural persons, who, at the time of committing a violation of international law, do not act as State representatives but nevertheless act under the authority and control of the State. In this connection mention should be made of the trend towards [a] broader understanding that under customary international law, as applied to environmental protection, a State is responsible for its own activities and for those of persons, whether they be individuals, private or public corporations, as long as their activities are under the State's jurisdiction or control. ¹⁸⁶

- 152. The United Kingdom calls on the Commission "to consider whether an effective criterion of 'governmental' functions can be devised and incorporated" in this chapter. It calls attention, in particular, to religious bodies which may exercise some degree of State authority (e.g. to punish persons for breaches of religious law) while not formally part of the governmental structure. ¹⁸⁷
- 153. As a matter of drafting, Switzerland and the United States doubt the wisdom of a technique which first specifies which acts are attributable (arts. 5–10), and then specified acts which are not (arts. 11–14): this leads in their view to excessive complexity. ¹⁸⁸ In its 1981 comments, the Federal Republic of Germany likewise called for the consolidation of any useful elements of articles 11–14 into the other, positive, provisions of chapter II. ¹⁸⁹
- (c) Basic principles underlying the notion of attribution
- 154. Before turning to the specific articles in chapter II, it is useful to call attention to the basic principles which underlie the notion of attribution:
- (a) *Limited responsibility of the State*. Under international law, the fact that something occurs on the territory of a State, or in some other area under its jurisdiction, is not a sufficient basis for attributing that event to the State, or for making it responsible for any injury caused. ¹⁹⁰ A State is not an insurer in respect of injuries occurring on its territory; it is only responsible if the conduct in question (i) is attributable to it and (ii) involves a breach of an international obligation owed by the State to persons or entities injured thereby (see article 3);
- (b) *Distinction between State and non-State sectors*. Thus the rules of attribution play a key role in distinguishing the "State sector" from the "non-State sector" for the purposes of responsibility. However this immediately confronts the difficulty that international law does

¹⁷⁸ See his second report, *Yearbook* ... *1970*, vol. II, document A/CN.4/233, pp. 187–190, paras. 31–38.

¹⁷⁹ United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1980, p. 3, for example, at p. 29; Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. United States of America), Merits, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1986, p. 51, para. 86. Mr. Ago was a member of the majority on both occasions.

¹⁸⁰ See *Yearbook ... 1971*, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/246 and Add.1–3, p. 214, para. 50.

¹⁸¹ Brownlie, op. cit., p. 36.

¹⁸² See the 1969 Vienna Convention, arts. 7–8, 46–47, 50–51. Similarly the identification of State organs or instrumentalities for the purposes of State responsibility is not necessarily the same as it is for the purposes of foreign State immunity. For the latter, see the Commission's draft articles on jurisdictional immunities of States and their property, art. 2, para. 1 (*b*) and the commentary (*Yearbook ... 1991*, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 14–19).

 $^{^{183}}$ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 189, para. (5) of the commentary to chapter II.

¹⁸⁴ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1-3 (reproduced in the present volume).

¹⁸⁵ Ibid.

 $^{^{186}}$ Ibid., comments by Mongolia on article 8.

 $^{^{\}rm 187}$ Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 5.

 $^{^{188}}$ Ibid., comments by Switzerland on article 5, and by the United States on article 4.

¹⁸⁹ Yearbook ... 1981, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/342 and Add.1–4, p. 74.

¹⁹⁰ As ICJ noted in the *Corfu Channel* case (footnote 134 above), p. 18 (see paragraph 250 below).

not determine the particular structures of government within States. ¹⁹¹ Many activities carried out by Governments could be entrusted to the private sector, and the line between public and private varies continually over time within and between different countries. Without a fixed prescription for State authority, international law has to accept, by and large, the actual systems adopted by States, and the notion of attribution thus consists primarily of a *renvoi* to the public institutions or organs in place in the different States; ¹⁹²

- (c) *The "unity of the State"*. On the other hand, international law makes no distinction between different components of the State for the purposes of the law of responsibility, even if the State does so, for example, by treating different organs as distinct legal persons under its own law. The relevant international principle is that of the "unity of the State". ¹⁹³ In this respect, the process of attribution is an autonomous one under international law, as stipulated in article 4; ¹⁹⁴
- (d) **Lex specialis**. The principles of attribution under international law are not, however, overriding. States can by agreement establish different principles to govern their mutual relations, and the principle of *lex specialis* accordingly applies to chapter II in its entirety; ¹⁹⁵
- (e) Distinction between attribution and breach of obligation. Under article 3, State responsibility requires both that the conduct be attributable to the State and that it involve a breach of an international obligation of the State. To show that conduct is attributable to the State says nothing, as such, about the legality or otherwise of that conduct, and rules of attribution should not be formulated in terms which imply otherwise. But the cumulative effect of the principles of attribution make it essential in each case to articulate the precise basis of any claim. For example, a State may not be responsible for the acts of private individuals in seizing an embassy, but it will certainly be responsible if it fails to take all necessary steps to protect the embassy from seizure, or to regain control over it. In that respect, there may be a close link between the basis of attribution and the particular primary rule which is said to have been breached, even though the two elements are analytically distinct.
- 155. In summary, attribution is a necessary condition for State responsibility. A State is not responsible for conduct unless that conduct is attributable to it under at least one

of the "positive attribution" principles. These principles are cumulative, but they are also limitative. In the absence of a specific undertaking or guarantee (which would be *lex specialis*), a State is not responsible for the conduct of persons or entities in any circumstances not covered by articles 5, 7, 8, 9 or 15. In many cases, it will be obvious from the first that the State is involved, for example, where the injury flows directly from a law, a governmental decision or the determination of a court. But where there is doubt it will be for the claimant to establish attribution, in accordance with the applicable standard of proof, in the same way as the claimant will have to establish that there has been a breach of obligation. ¹⁹⁶ This follows already from the provisions of article 3.

2. REVIEW OF SPECIFIC ARTICLES

(a) Article 5 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of its organs)

156. Article 5 specifies what might be called the "primary" rule of attribution:

For the purposes of the present articles, conduct of any State organ having that status under the internal law of that State shall be considered as an act of the State concerned under international law, provided that organ was acting in that capacity in the case in question.

- 157. Article 5 needs to be read systematically, in the context of the articles of chapter II as a whole. Article 6 makes it clear that State organs may belong to the constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or any other branch of government, that they may exercise international functions or functions of a purely internal character, and that they may be located at any level of government, from the highest organs of State to the most subordinate. Article 10 indicates that an organ may act in its capacity as such, notwithstanding that it "exceeded its competence according to internal law or contravened instructions concerning its activity".
- 158. The commentary to article 5 makes no attempt to define an "organ", although it is clear that the term is used in its broadest sense to mean a person or entity constituting part of the Government and performing official functions of whatever kind and at whatever level. The breadth of the notion is further emphasized in article 6. The commentary does, however, distinguish between "organs" and "agents", on the basis that:

[I]t was agreed that the article should employ only the term "organ" and not the two terms "organ" and "agent". The term "agent" would seem to denote, especially in English, a person acting on behalf of the State rather than a person having the actual status of an organ. Actions or omissions on the part of persons of this kind will be dealt with in another article of this chapter. 197

Article 8 deals with "agents", although it does not use that term.

¹⁹¹ The main exception to this generalization is in the field of the administration of justice, especially criminal justice. Both international human rights law and the older institution of diplomatic protection require that there be independent tribunals established by law and operating in accordance with certain minimum standards.

¹⁹² This does not, however, limit the scope of obligations States may undertake, including obligations relating to the "non-State sector". See, for example, the case of *X and Y v. The Netherlands*, European Court of Human Rights, *Series A: Judgments and Decisions*, vol. 91, *Judgment of 26 March 1985* (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, Strasbourg, 1985).

¹⁹³ As noted by Chile in its comments of 9 October 1979 (*Yearbook ... 1980*, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/328 and Add.1–4, p. 96).

¹⁹⁴ See *Yearbook* ... *1973*, vol. II, p. 190, para. (10) of the commentary to chapter II ("The attribution of an act to a State in international law is wholly independent of the attribution of that act in national law").

¹⁹⁵ See paragraph 27 above, where it is suggested that article 37 (*Lex specialis*) be made applicable to the draft articles as a whole.

¹⁹⁶ This proposition has been repeatedly reaffirmed. See, for example, *Yeager v. Islamic Republic of Iran* (1987), *Iran-United States Claims Tribunal Reports* (Cambridge, Grotius, 1988), vol. 17, pp. 101–102 ("in order to attribute an act to the State, it is necessary to identify with reasonable certainty the actors and their association with the State").

¹⁹⁷ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 193, para. (13) of the commentary to article 5.

Comments of Governments on article 5

- 159. As already noted, France suggests that the term "any State organ or agent" be substituted in article 5 and elsewhere. 198
- 160. The United Kingdom queries whether this article does not give excessive weight to the State's municipal law:

If that law itself designates the organ as an organ of the State, it may be appropriate for international law to adopt a similar position. If, however, the municipal law of a State does not treat an organ as part of the State, it does not necessarily follow that the organ's acts are not attributable to the State. The municipal law cannot have determinative effect in this context: attribution is a matter for international law. ¹⁹⁹

161. The United States is strongly of the same opinion. It draws attention to a perceived conflict between articles 4 and 5 in this respect, and suggests that:

[T]he internal law loophole in article 5 effectively creates the possibility for a wrongdoing State to plead internal law as a defence to an unlawful act.

Under this formulaic rule, it could be that according to some State law, the conduct of State organs will be attributable to the State, while the conduct of identical entities in other States will not be attributable to the State. The determination whether a particular entity is a State organ must be the result of a factual inquiry. 200

It also notes that:

[T]he proviso that the organ of the State "was acting *in that capacity*" in the case in question" is not defined. The reference to "capacity" could be read as enabling a wrongdoing State to dispute its liability on the grounds that, while the State organ committed the wrongful act, it acted outside its scope of competence. Such a reading would undermine the principle that responsibility for the action of State organs is governed by international law.²⁰¹

The meaning of the term "acting in that capacity" will be discussed in the context of article 10.202

The term "organ"

162. In the case of a "corporate" entity such as the State it is useful to distinguish between organs of the State (persons or entities which are part of the structure of the State and whose conduct as such is attributable to the State) and agents. As explained in the commentary, "agents" for this purpose are persons or entities in fact acting on behalf of the State by reason of some mandate or direction given by a State organ, or (possibly) who are to be regarded as acting on behalf of the State by reason of the control exercised over them by such an organ. The latter category is dealt with in article 8.²⁰³ There are substantive differences between the two cases. For example, the unauthorized acts of organs are to be attributed to the State for the purposes of responsibility,²⁰⁴ whereas different considerations may apply to the unauthorized acts of agents: this distinction

is made by article 10. Thus while agreeing with France's observation that the draft articles should cover both the situation of "organs" and that of "agents", the Special Rapporteur believes that the distinction made between the two categories in articles 5 and 8 should be maintained.

The reference to "internal law"

163. As noted by several Governments, there is a problem with the *renvoi* in article 5 to the internal law of the State in determining whether a person or entity is to be classified as an organ. Article 5 refers to "any State organ having that status under the internal law of that State". No doubt internal law will be highly relevant to the question whether a person or body is an "organ", but there are several difficulties in treating internal law alone as decisive for that purpose. In the first place, the status of governmental entities in many systems is determined not only by law but by practice and convention; reference only to law can be seriously misleading. 205 Secondly, internal law may not classify, exhaustively or at all, which entities have the status of "organs". In such cases, while the powers of an entity and its relation to other bodies under internal law will be relevant to its classification as an "organ", internal law will not itself perform the task of classification. Thirdly, even if it does so, this will be for its own purposes, and there is no security that the term "organ" used in internal law will have the very broad meaning that it has under article 5. For example, under some legal systems the term "government" has a specialized meaning, referring only to bodies at the highest level such as the Head of State and the Cabinet of Ministers. In other legal systems, the police have a special status, independent of the executive; this cannot mean that for international law purposes they are not organs of the State. ²⁰⁶ The commentary to article 5 accepts this point, noting that the reference to internal law is "without prejudice to the different meanings which the term 'organ' may have, particularly in the internal public law of different legal systems". 207 But in most legal systems, the only classification of organs will be for the purposes of "internal public law".

The requirement that the organ act "in that capacity in the case in question"

164. Article 5 concludes with the phrase "provided that organ was acting in that capacity in the case in question". The term "acting in that capacity" will be discussed in the context of article 10.²⁰⁸ Subject to that point, there is no difficulty with the notion that a person or entity may have various capacities, not all involving conduct as an "organ" of the State. To take an obvious case, the Head of

 $^{^{198}\,\}mathrm{A/CN.4/488}$ and Add.1–4 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 5.

¹⁹⁹ Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 5.

 $^{^{200}}$ Ibid., comments by the United States on article 4.

²⁰¹ Ibid

²⁰² See paragraphs 235–240 below.

²⁰³ See paragraphs 195–213 below.

²⁰⁴ See paragraphs 235–240 below, for the question of *ultra vires* acts of persons under cover of their official functions.

 $^{^{205}}$ See Brownlie, op. cit., p. 136 (citing the case of the Metropolitan Police in the United Kingdom).

²⁰⁶ See, for example, Case No. VI ZR 267/76 (*Church of Scientology Case*), *Neue Juristische Wochenschrift*, 1979, p. 1101; and *International Law Reports*, vol. 65 (1984), p. 193 (Germany, Federal Supreme Court); *Propend Finance Pty Limited and Others* v. *Sing and Others*, England, High Court, Queen's Bench Division, 14 March 1996 and Court of Appeal, 17 April 1997, *International Law Reports*, vol. 111 (1998), p. 611. These were State immunity cases, but the same principle must also apply in the field of State responsibility.

 $^{^{207}}$ Yearbook ...1973, vol. II, p. 193, para. (13) of the commentary to article 5.

²⁰⁸ See paragraphs 232–240 below.

State may act in a private capacity;²⁰⁹ so may a diplomatic agent.²¹⁰ But the language of the proviso might tend to suggest that there is a special onus on a claimant to show, over and above the fact that the conduct was that of an organ, that it was acting in an official capacity. A more neutral phrase is to be preferred.

- 165. Before reaching conclusions on article 5, it is necessary to consider article 6, to which it is closely linked.
 - (b) Article 6 (Irrelevance of the position of the organ in the organization of the State)

166. Article 6 provides:

The conduct of an organ of the State shall be considered as an act of that State under international law, whether that organ belongs to the constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or other power, whether its functions are of an international or an internal character, and whether it holds a superior or a subordinate position in the organization of the State.

167. This is not so much a rule of attribution as an explanation of the scope of article 5. As the commentary points out, in the nineteenth century there had been uncertainty on each of the issues addressed in article 6, but these uncertainties had been conclusively resolved through State practice and judicial opinions. Article 6 is in a sense a memento of these dead controversies, but as will be seen, a number of new issues have taken their place.²¹¹

Comments of Governments on article 6

168. The only comment so far is that of France, which fully accepts the principle underlying article 6 but notes that:

the distinction it establishes between functions of an international character and those of an internal character is not without ambiguity. It would, furthermore, be preferable to replace the expression "constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or other power" ("pouvoir constituant, législatif, judiciaire ou autre") by "exercises constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or other functions" ("exerce des fonctions constituantes, législatives, exécutives, judiciaires ou autres"). ²¹²

Substantive issues raised by article 6

- 169. Article 6 has three elements, which need to be considered in turn.
 - (i) "Whether that organ belongs to the constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or other power"
- 170. As suggested by France, it seems better to refer not to legislative, judicial, etc. branches of government but to those functions, which are very differently distributed under different national systems. However the comment raises a question of substance. Are these words intended as words of limitation, namely, so as to limit State respon-

sibility to cases of the exercise of public power? At least one commentator has argued that the existing text and commentary at least leave the matter doubtful. ²¹³ Clearly doubts on so fundamental a question should be resolved.

- 171. As to the interpretation of the existing text, the position seems to the Special Rapporteur to be clear. Provided that a State organ is acting in its capacity as such (and not in some extraneous, purely private capacity), all its conduct is attributable to the State. This is what article 5 says prima facie, and the reference to the different "powers" of government in article 6 is nowhere expressed to limit the scope of article 5.
- 172. As to the question of whether article 5 should be so limited, again the position seems clear. It is true that distinctions between different classifications of State conduct, by reference to terms such as acta jure gestionis and acta jure imperii, have developed in the last 20 years in the context of the immunity of States from the jurisdiction of national courts.²¹⁴ But that is an entirely different question from State responsibility, and there is no basis for the idea that a State could evade responsibility for one of its own acts by arguing, not that the act was committed by a private party, but that it could have been so committed, that is, that it was an act jure gestionis. Thus, for example, a State could not refuse to employ persons of a particular race or religion, or refuse to employ women. in defiance of its international obligations in relation to non-discrimination. Nor could it refuse to procure goods from nationals of a particular State, or refuse to pay debts owing to such nationals, in violation of a bilateral trade or investment treaty or a multilateral trade commitment. The fact that in each of these cases the conduct in question could be classified as acta jure gestionis is irrelevant.
- 173. This is the position taken in most modern doctrine, ²¹⁵ and by those courts which have considered the question. For example the Mayor of Palermo requisitioned and attempted to run an industrial plant in order to maintain local employment; it was accepted without question that his conduct was attributable to the State of Italy, irrespective of the classification of that conduct. ²¹⁶ The jurisprudence of the human rights bodies is equally clear, and is reflected in the following passage from the Swedish Engine-Drivers' Union case:

The Convention nowhere makes an express distinction between the functions of a Contracting State as holder of public power and its responsibilities as employer. In this respect, Article II is no exception. What is more, paragraph 2 *in fine* of this provision clearly indicates that the State is bound to respect the freedom of assembly and association of its employees, subject to the possible imposition of "lawful restrictions" in the case of members of its armed forces, police or administration.

Article II is accordingly binding upon the "State as employer", whether the latter's relations with its employees are governed by public or private law. Consequently, the Court does not feel constrained to take

 $^{^{209}}$ As is recognized in the Commission's draft articles on jurisdictional immunities of States and their property, art. 2, para. 1 (b) (v), and paras. (17)–(19) of the commentary (Yearbook ... 1991, vol. II (Part Two), pp. 18–19).

²¹⁰ See the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, art. 39, para. 2.

 $^{^{211}}$ See *Yearbook* ... 1973, vol. II, pp. 197–198, para. (16) of the commentary to article 6.

²¹² A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–4 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 6.

²¹³ Condorelli, "L'imputation à l'État d'un fait internationalement illicite: solutions classiques et nouvelles tendances", pp. 66–76.

²¹⁴ It has frequently been pointed out that different legal systems interpret and apply these distinctions differently, and that the extent of the international consensus is limited. See, for example, Cosnard, La soumission des États aux tribunaux internes: face à la théorie des immunités des États.

 $^{^{215}}$ See especially Condorelli, loc. cit. In addition, see Dipla, op. cit., pp. 40–45 and authorities cited.

²¹⁶ I.C.J. Reports 1989 (see footnote 172 above).

into account the circumstance that in any event certain of the applicant's complaints appear to be directed against both the Office and the Swedish State as holder of public power. Neither does the Court consider that it has to rule on the applicability, whether direct or indirect, of Article II to relations between individuals *stricto sensu*.²¹⁷

- 174. Several clarifications are however in point. First, the character of an act may be relevant, among other factors, in deciding whether a State organ or official has acted in its capacity as such, or as a private individual or entity. Secondly, the distinction between attribution and breach needs always to be borne in mind. The reason a State is not, generally speaking, internationally responsible for the "private law" acts of its organs (e.g. the breach of a commercial contract entered into by the State) has nothing to do with attribution; it is simply that the breach of a contract is not a breach of international law but of the relevant national law. Thirdly, this discussion only relates to the conduct of organs of the State in the sense of article 5. The position of separate entities or of State-owned corporations is different and is discussed below.
 - (ii) "Whether its functions are of an international or an internal character"
- 175. This qualification is unnecessary. There cannot be the slightest doubt that State responsibility is attracted by acts whether "of an international or an internal character". In addition the formula tends to suggest a too categorical distinction between the "international" and "internal" domains. It will be sufficient to make the point in the commentary.
 - (iii) "Whether it holds a superior or a subordinate position in the organization of the State"
- 176. It is fundamental to the idea of State responsibility that the conduct of any organ within the governmental system, from the Head of State down, is attributable to the State, provided that the conduct is carried out by that organ in its capacity as such. As the commentary notes,

After the Second World War the Italian/United States of America, Franco-Italian and Anglo-Italian Conciliation Commissions established under article 83 of the Treaty of Peace of 10 February 1947 often had to consider the conduct of minor organs of the State, such as administrators of enemy property, mayors and police officials, and always agreed to treat the acts of such persons as acts attributable to the State. 219

The situation is thus beyond doubt, and is confirmed by more recent decisions. For example, in the *ELSI* case it was uncontested that the acts of a local government official, the Mayor of Palermo, were attributable to the Italian State. ²²⁰

177. As to the formula, "whether it holds a superior or a subordinate position", this might appear to omit "intermediate" bodies and bodies which because of their independence it may be inappropriate to describe as subordinate (e.g. the criminal courts). The phrase "whatever

position it holds in the organization of the State" is to be preferred.

Placement of article 6

178. Clearly the substance of article 6 should be retained. Since it is a clarification of the term "organ" in article 5, rather than a distinct rule of attribution, it could be included in the formulation of article 5 itself. This would have the advantage of allowing the three major rules of attribution in articles 5, 7 and 8 to be presented without interruption.

Conclusions on articles 5 and 6

- 179. For these reasons, articles 5 and 6 should be combined in a single article, with the various minor amendments indicated. In addition, and for greater consistency with article 4, the reference to internal law should be deleted. The commentary should explain the relevance of internal law in determining whether a person or body is an "organ" for the purposes of the draft articles, and the irrelevance of the classification of its functions once it is determined that the organ is acting as such.²²¹
- (c) Article 7 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of other entities empowered to exercise elements of the government authority)
- 180. As its title suggests, article 7 deals with "other entities", namely, bodies which are not organs in the sense of article 5, but which nonetheless exercise governmental authority. It provides:
- 1. The conduct of an organ of a territorial governmental entity within a State shall also be considered as an act of that State under international law, provided that organ was acting in that capacity in the case in question.
- 2. The conduct of an organ of an entity which is not part of the formal structure of the State or of a territorial governmental entity, but which is empowered by the internal law of that State to exercise elements of the governmental authority, shall also be considered as an act of the State under international law, provided that organ was acting in that capacity in the case in question.
- 181. The commentary to article 7 notes that the principle of attribution should apply to all entities which exercise governmental functions, both "when the basis of their separate existence is the local or territorial setting which they act (as in the case of municipalities, provinces, regions, cantons, component States of a federal State and so on) and when this basis is, instead, the special nature of the functions performed (as may be the case of a bank of issue, a transport company entitled to exercise police powers, and so forth)". ²²² Article 7 is designed to deal with both categories.
- 182. As to paragraph 1, the commentary focuses on the component units of federal States. It asserts "the principle of the international responsibility of the federal State for the conduct of organs of component States amounting to a breach of an international obligation of the federal State, even in situations in which internal law does not provide

²¹⁷ European Commission of Human Rights, *Series A: Judgments and Decisions*, vol. 20, *Judgment of 6 February 1976* (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, Strasbourg, 1976), p. 14. To similar effect, see *Schmidt and Dahlström*, ibid., vol. 21, p. 15.

²¹⁸ See paragraph 164 above.

 $^{^{219}}$ Yearbook ... 1973, vol. II, p. 197, para. (14) of the commentary to article 6, and the decisions cited in footnote 206 above.

²²⁰ I.C.J. Reports 1989 (see footnote 172 above), p. 52, para. 75.

²²¹ For the text of the proposed provision, see paragraph 284 below.

²²² Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 277, para. (2) of the commentary to article 7.

the federal State with means of compelling the organs of component States to abide by the federal State's international obligations". ²²³ Only when the obligation in question is incumbent on the component unit, as distinct from the federal State, does the question of separate attribution to that unit arise. ²²⁴

183. As to paragraph 2, the commentary notes its origin in the work of the 1930 Hague Conference for the Codification of International Law, where reference was made to such "autonomous institutions' which exercise public functions of a legislative or administrative character". ²²⁵ It also notes the proliferation of these bodies and the difficulty of defining them other than by reference to the delegation of public power by law:

The fact that an entity can be classified as public or private ..., the existence of a greater or lesser State participation in its capital or, more generally, in the ownership of its assets, and the fact that it is not subject to State control, or that it is subject to such control to a greater or lesser extent ... do not emerge as decisive criteria for the purposes of attribution or non-attribution to the State of the conduct of its organs. ... [T]he most appropriate solution is to refer to the real common feature which these entities have: namely that they are empowered, if only exceptionally and to a limited extent, to exercise specified functions which are akin to those normally exercised by organs of the State ... Thus, for example, the conduct of an organ of a railway company to which certain police powers have been granted will be regarded as an act of the State under international law if it falls within the exercise of those powers. ²²⁶

The term "entity" was chosen on the basis that it was "wide enough in meaning to cover bodies as different as territorial governmental entities, public corporations, semi-public entities, public agencies of various kinds and even, in special cases, private companies".²²⁷

Comments of Governments on article 7

184. France queries the notion of "territorial governmental entity", and suggests that the case of federal States be specifically mentioned.²²⁸

185. The United Kingdom asks for clearer guidance to be provided on the increasingly common phenomenon of parastatal entities (e.g. private security firms acting as railway police or as prison guards). Another example is former State corporations which have been privatized but which may retain certain public or regulatory functions. ²²⁹ It calls for clarification of the notion of "governmental authority". Along similar lines, Germany suggests that chapter II "might not sufficiently take into account the fact that States increasingly entrust persons outside the structure of State organs with activities normally attributable to a State". ²³⁰

"Territorial governmental entities"

186. The first issue presented by article 7 is its separate identification of "territorial governmental entities", which includes a wide range of territorial administrative units. The essential difficulty here was analysed by Czechoslovakia in its comment of 24 July 1981:

The internal organization of a State is not subject to international law, but is governed by its national law ... This principle has been duly reflected in articles 5 and 6. As far as the acts of organs of entities of territorial division of States are concerned, these organs should be taken as forming part of the structure of a State. Consequently, acts of organs of this kind should be already covered by the provisions of articles 5 and 6. In this light, the provision of article 7, paragraph 1, seems to be superfluous, at least as far as the entities of territorial division of a State without any international personality are concerned.²³¹

187. The present Special Rapporteur agrees with this analysis. As the commentaries to articles 5 and 6 make clear, those articles were intended to cover organs of government, superior, autonomous or subordinate, whether located in the capital or elsewhere, and whatever the extent of their jurisdiction within the State. On that basis, it is clear that local and regional governmental units are already covered by those articles, whatever their designation or status might be under the constitutional law of the State concerned. To treat them as "entities separate from the State machinery proper"232 is an error. The State as a whole is not to be equated with its central government. Moreover local or regional governmental units are like the organs of central government, and quite unlike the "entities" covered by article 7, paragraph 2, in that all their conduct as such is attributable to the State, and not only conduct involving the exercise of "governmental authority" in some narrower sense. 233 The commentary to article 7 expressly accepts the established principle that a State federal in structure is a State like any other, and that it cannot rely on the federal or decentralized character of its constitution to limit the scope of its international responsibilities.²³⁴ The separate identification of "territorial governmental entities" cuts across that principle.

188. This conclusion is not affected by the fact that federal or other territorial units within a State have separate legal personality under the law of that State. This is true of many of the organs referred to in article 5: it is for example common for the central departments of government to have separate legal personality, but this does not affect the principle of "the unity of the State" for the purposes of international law, as Arbitrator Dupuy pointed out in his Preliminary Award in the *Texaco* case. No doubt the position may be different in those exceptional cases where component units in a federal State exercise some limited international competencies, for example, for the purposes of concluding treaties on local issues. To the extent that

 $^{^{223}}$ Ibid., p. 279, para. (5) of the commentary to article 7; see also the authorities cited on pages 279–280, paras. (5)–(9).

²²⁴ Ibid., p. 280, para. (10) of the commentary to article 7.

²²⁵ Ibid., p. 282, para. (15) of the commentary to article 7, and p. 280, footnote 578 ("Basis of Discussion No. 23 of the Preparatory Committee for the Hague Conference (*Yearbook ... 1956*, vol. II, document A/CN.4/96, annex 2, p. 223)").

²²⁶ Ibid., para. (18) of the commentary to article 7.

 $^{^{227}}$ Ibid., pp. 282–283, para. (19) of the commentary to article 7.

²²⁸ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 7, para. 1.

²²⁹ Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 10.

²³⁰ Ibid., comments by Germany on chapter II.

²³¹ Yearbook ... 1981, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/342 and Add.1–4, p. 73, para. 5.

²³² Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 282, para. (17) of the commentary to article 7.

²³³ See paragraphs 164 and 170–174 above.

²³⁴ See *Yearbook* ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 279, para. (5) of the commentary to article 7, and paragraph 182 above.

²³⁵ Texaco Overseas Petroleum Company and California Asiatic Oil Company v. The Government of the Libyan Arab Republic, International Law Reports, vol. 53 (1979), p. 415, para. 23. See paragraph 154 above

these treaties do not commit the federation as such but only the local units, no question of State responsibility in the sense of the draft articles can arise. To the extent that they do commit the federation, the ordinary rules of attribution stated in article 5 should apply. It is accordingly recommended that article 7, paragraph 1, and the reference to territorial governmental entities in article 7, paragraph 2, be deleted. ²³⁶ The commentary to article 5 should make it clear that the organs of the State include the organs of local and regional governmental units of the State, whatever their designation may be.

"Parastatals" exercising government functions

189. The position is different so far as paragraph 2 is concerned. The number of "parastatal" entities performing governmental functions is increasing and the question needs to be addressed in the draft articles. For the reasons stated in the commentary and affirmed in various government comments, this aspect of article 7 should be maintained. It is clear from the commentary that article 7 intends to catch such persons as private security guards acting as prison warders, to the extent that they exercise public powers such as powers of detention and discipline pursuant to a judicial sentence or to prison regulations.²³⁷ This addresses concerns of the United Kingdom referred to above, ²³⁸ although no doubt the commentary could provide more and more recent examples.²³⁹

190. It is another thing to identify precisely the scope of "governmental authority" for this purpose, and it is very doubtful whether article 7 itself should attempt to do so. Beyond a certain limit, what is regarded as "governmental" depends on the particular society, its history and traditions. Of particular importance will be, not just the content of the powers, but the way they are conferred on an entity, the purposes for which they are to be exercised, and the extent to which the entity is accountable to government for their exercise. The commentary can give guidance on these questions, but they are essentially questions of the application of a general standard to particular and very varied circumstances. It will be a matter for the claimant to demonstrate that the injury does relate to the exercise of such powers: the language of the proviso to that effect in paragraph 2 should be retained, in contrast to the formulation already proposed for article 5.240

Conclusion as to article 7

- 191. For these reasons, it is recommended that the references to "territorial governmental entities" in article 7 and elsewhere be deleted, but that the substance of article 7, paragraph 2, be retained.²⁴¹
 - (d) Article 8 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of persons acting in fact on behalf of the State)
- 192. In contrast to articles 5 and 7, which deal with State organs or other entities exercising governmental authority, article 8 deals with other cases where persons or groups have in fact acted "on behalf of" the State. It provides:

The conduct of a person or group of persons shall also be considered as an act of the State under international law if:

- (a) It is established that such person or group of persons was in fact acting on behalf of that State; or
- (b) Such person or group of persons was in fact exercising elements of the governmental authority in the absence of the official authorities and in circumstances which justified the exercise of those elements of authority.

Comments of Governments on article 8

- 193. Although few Governments commented on article 8 as such, a number of general comments were directed to the problem of State responsibility for acts of individuals or entities not formally part of the State structure. Germany, Mongolia and the United Kingdom all suggested that the draft articles should be more expansive in dealing with this category. The United States, for its part, agreed with "the basic thrust of [article 8] that a relationship between a person and a State may exist de facto even where it is difficult to pinpoint a precise legal relationship". 243
- 194. Like article 7, article 8 deals with two different cases. Article 8 (*a*) is concerned with persons or groups of persons acting in fact on behalf of the State. Article 8 (*b*) deals with the much rarer case of conduct in the exercise of this governmental authority by a person or persons not actually authorized to act by the State but "justifiably" acting in its absence. It is necessary to deal with the two separately.
- (i) Persons acting in fact on behalf of the State
- 195. As the commentary points out, the attribution to the State or conduct in fact directed or authorized by it is "practically undisputed". ²⁴⁴ In such cases, it does not matter that the person or persons involved are private individuals; nor does it matter whether or not their conduct involves "governmental" activity. The commentary also

²³⁶ This is consistent with the position taken in the 1969 Vienna Convention, and with the literature on federal States in international law. See, for example, Wildhaber, *Treaty-Making Power and Constitution:* An International and Comparative Study; Bernier, International Legal Aspects of Federalism; Michelmann and Soldatos, eds., Federalism and International Relations: The Role of Subnational Units; and Opeskin and Rothwell, International Law and Australian Federalism.

²³⁷ Cf. also the *Barthold judgment of 25 March 1985*, European Commission of Human Rights, *Series A: Judgments and Decisions*, vol. 90 (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, Strasbourg, 1985), p. 21 (rules of professional association given force of law).

²³⁸ See paragraph 185 above.

²³⁹ A more recent example of an entity within the category of "separate entities" under article 7, para. 2, is the Foundation for the Oppressed. See *Hyatt International Corporation v. Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran*, Case No. 134, *Iran-United States Claims Tribunal Reports* (Cambridge, Grotius, 1987), vol. 9, p. 72.

²⁴⁰ See paragraph 164 above.

 $^{^{241}}$ A few minor amendments to the language of paragraph 2 are proposed. See paragraph 284 below for the proposed text and notes.

²⁴² See paragraphs 149, 151 and 152 above.

 $^{^{243}}$ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by the United States on article 8.

²⁴⁴ Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 284, para. (7) of the commentary to article 8, and para. (4), citing, inter alia, the D. Earnshaw and Others (Zafiro) and Stephens cases (UNRIAA, vol. VI (Sales No. 1955.V.3), p. 160; and ibid., vol. IV (Sales No. 1951.V.1), p. 267).

makes it clear that the term "person" includes an entity, whether or not it has separate legal personality.²⁴⁵

196. In its formulation of article 8 (*a*), the words "it is established that" were added. According to the commentary this was done because:

[I]n each specific case in which international responsibility of the State has to be established, it must be genuinely proved that the person or group of persons were actually appointed by organs of the State to discharge a particular function or to carry out a particular duty, that they performed a given task at the instigation of those organs. ²⁴⁶

But it is always the case that a claimant has to show that the conditions for State responsibility are satisfied.²⁴⁷ Why should this burden be heavier in cases where actual authority or direction is relied on, as compared with other cases? It is suggested that the phrase be deleted.

The relevance of State control

197. In the passage just cited, the phrases "actually appointed" and "performed ... at the instigation of" together imply that article 8 (a) is limited to cases of actual direction or instruction, that is, to cases of actual agency. Elsewhere the commentary is more equivocal. For example, in the commentary to article 11 it is said that:

Where that Government is known to encourage and even promote the organization of [armed opposition] groups, to provide them with financial assistance, training and weapons, and to co-ordinate their activities with those of its own forces for the purpose of possible operations, and so on, the groups in question cease to be individuals from the standpoint of international law. They become formations which act in concert with, and at the instigation of, the State, and perform missions authorized by or even entrusted to them by that State. They then fall into the category of persons or groups which are linked, in fact if not formally, with the State machinery and are frequently called "de facto organs", and which were dealt with in article 8 (a) of this draft. ²⁴⁸

The language of "promotion" and "coordination" is less emphatic than that of "appointment" or "instigation", and it raises the question whether the de facto control of a State over a person or group should be treated as a distinct basis for attribution. If not, then the language of article 8 (a) may need reconsideration. As a matter of ordinary language, a person may be said to act "on behalf of" another person without any actual instruction or mandate from that other person. The question is not simply one of drafting, it is one of substance. To what extent should de facto agency be limited to cases of express agency?

The Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua case

198. This was a key issue in the case concerning *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua*.²⁴⁹ Was the conduct of the contras as such attributable to the United States, so as to hold the latter generally responsible for that conduct? ICJ analysed that issue almost exclusively in terms of the notion of "control". On the one hand, it held that individual attacks by Nicaraguan operatives (so-called "UCLAs") were attributable to the

United States by reason of the "planning, direction, support and execution" of United States agents. ²⁵⁰ But it went on to consider, and reject, the broader claim of Nicaragua that all the conduct of the contras was attributable to the United States by reason of its control over them. It concluded that:

[D]espite the heavy subsidies and other support provided to them by the United States, there is no clear evidence of the United States having actually exercised such a degree of control in all fields as to justify treating the *contras* as acting on its behalf. ... All the forms of United States participation mentioned above, and even the general control by the respondent State over a force with a high degree of dependency on it, would not in themselves mean, without further evidence, that the United States directed or enforced the perpetration of the acts contrary to human rights and humanitarian law alleged by the applicant State. Such acts could well be committed by members of the *contras* without the control of the United States. For this conduct to give rise to legal responsibility of the United States, it would in principle have to be proved that that State had effective control of the military or paramilitary operations in the course of which the alleged violations were committed.*251

Thus, while the United States was held responsible for its own support for the contras, only in a few individual instances were the acts of the contras themselves held attributable to it.

199. It is relevant to note the comments of Judge Ago on these issues. Referring to article 11 of the draft articles, he stated in his concurring opinion that:

It would ... be inconsistent with the principles governing the question to regard members of the *contra* forces as persons or groups acting in the name or on behalf of the United States of America. Only in cases where certain members of those forces happened to have been specifically charged by United States authorities to commit a particular act, or carry out a particular task of some kind on behalf of the United States, would it be possible so to regard them. Only in such instances does international law recognize, as a rare exception to the rule, that the conduct of persons or groups which are neither agents nor organs of a State, nor members of its apparatus even in the broadest acceptation of that term, may be held to be acts of that State. ²⁵²

Judge Ago went on to criticize the Court for its use of the term "control". In his view,

the situations which can be correctly termed cases of indirect responsibility are those in which one State that, in certain circumstances, exerts control over the actions of another can be held responsible for an internationally wrongful act *committed by and imputable to that second State* ²⁵³

According to this view, the criterion of control is relevant in inter-State relations (indeed, the term "direction or control" is used in article 28). But it is not a criterion for attributing the conduct of non-State entities to the State.

200. Although there was no disagreement between Judge Ago and the majority of the Court as to the result, there was a difference in approach. The Court was prepared to hold the United States responsible for conduct of the contras in the course of specific operations over which the United States was shown to have "effective control", whereas Judge Ago required nothing less than specific authorization of the wrongful conduct itself. On the other hand, they agreed that a *general* situation of dependence and support was insufficient to justify attribution.

 $^{^{245}}$ Ibid., p. 283, para. (1) of the commentary to article 8.

²⁴⁶ Ibid., pp. 284–285, para. (8) of the commentary to article 8.

²⁴⁷ See paragraph 155 above.

 $^{^{248}}$ Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, p. 80, para. (32) of the commentary to article 11.

²⁴⁹ I.C.J. Reports 1986 (see footnote 32 above), p. 14.

²⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 50, para. 86.

²⁵¹ Ibid., p. 62, para. 109, and pp. 64–65, para. 115.

²⁵² Ibid., pp. 188–189, para. 16.

²⁵³ Ibid., p. 189, footnote 1.

The Tadić case

201. The International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia had to face a seemingly analogous problem in the *Tadić* case.²⁵⁴ The question there was whether the applicable law on a war crimes charge was the law of international or internal armed conflict. That in turn depended on whether the victims of the alleged crimes were at the relevant time "in the hands of a Party to the conflict or Occupying Power of which they are not nationals" within the meaning of article 4 of the Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Civilian Persons in Time of War. If they were not, the accused's conduct was to be judged only by reference to common article 3 of the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949.

202. According to the majority of the Trial Chamber, the Court in *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua* "set a particularly high threshold test for determining the requisite degree of control".²⁵⁵ After noting the differences between the two cases, it formulated the question in the following terms:

[W]hether, even if there had been a relationship of great dependency on the one side, there was such a relationship of control on the other that, on the facts of the instant case, the acts of the VRS [Republika Srpska Army] ... can be imputed to the Government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro).²⁵⁶

It concluded that:

There is, in short, no evidence on which this Trial Chamber may confidently conclude that the armed forces of the Republika Srpska, and the Republika Srpska as a whole, were anything more than mere allies, albeit highly dependent allies, of the Government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) in its plan to achieve a Greater Serbia from out of the remains of the former Yugoslavia. The continued, indirect involvement of the Government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro) in the armed conflict in the Republic of Bosnia and Herzegovina, without the ability to impute the acts of the armed forces of the Republika Srpska to the Government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro), gives rise to issues of State responsibility beyond the scope and concern of this case. ²⁵⁷

This finding had direct consequences for the innocence of the accused in relation to charges which were dependent on the finding of an international armed conflict.

203. Judge McDonald dissented on this point, essentially for three reasons. As a matter of law, the majority had read the *Nicaragua* test too strictly; as a matter of fact, she disagreed over the inferences to be drawn from the evidence (including the fact that all the members of the armed forces of Republika Srpska continued to be paid and armed by the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro)). But in particular, in her view:

By importing the standard of effective control which was designed to determine State imputability in *Nicaragua* to determine both whether a victim is a protected person and for the purpose of characterizing the nature of an armed conflict, the majority has expanded the reach of the holding of *Nicaragua* in a way that is incompatible with international humanitarian law.²⁵⁸

204. The decision is under appeal and it would be inappropriate to express any view about it. What can be said, however, is that both the majority and minority interpreted *Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua* as allowing attribution to be based on the exercise of command and control in relation to a particular operation, and that neither went as far as Judge Ago in requiring a "specific charge" or instruction.

The jurisprudence of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal

205. The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal has also had to deal with this problem, although care is needed in analysing the cases since its jurisdiction is explicitly extended to claims in contract against any "entity controlled by" either contracting party. In such cases, the Tribunal has acted as a surrogate for the relevant national court and issues of State responsibility have not been relevant. In particular, the fact that the Islamic Republic of Iran guaranteed the payment of awards from the escrow fund did not necessarily mean it was liable on the awards themselves. ²⁵⁹

206. The question of the responsibility of a State for its controlled corporations raises special issues and is discussed below. Turning to the question of "agency" dealt with in article 8 (a), the Tribunal has applied a broadly de facto analysis to such bodies as the Komitehs or Revolutionary Guards in the period prior to their incorporation as organs of the State. For example in *Yeager* v. *Islamic Republic of Iran*, the Tribunal said:

While there is some doubt as to whether revolutionary "Komitehs" or "Guards" can be considered "organs" of the Government of Iran, since they were not formally recognized during the period relevant to this Case, attributability of acts to the State is not limited to acts of organs formally recognized under internal law. Otherwise a State could avoid responsibility under international law merely by invoking its internal law. It is generally accepted in international law that a State is also responsible for acts of persons, if it is established that those persons were in fact acting on behalf of the State. See ILC-Draft Article 8(a). 260

The Loizidou case

207. The relationship of a State's control over a situation to its responsibility for the situation was also an issue before the European Court of Human Rights in *Loizidou* v. *Turkey*. The question was whether Turkey could be held responsible for the denial of access to the applicant's property in northern Cyprus arising from the division of Cyprus and the consequent barriers to freedom of movement. The Court said:

It is not necessary to determine whether, as the applicant and the Government of Cyprus have suggested, Turkey actually exercises detailed control over the policies and actions of the authorities of the "TRNC". It is obvious from the large number of troops engaged in active duties in northern Cyprus ... that her army exercises effective overall control over that part of the island. Such control, according to the relevant test and in

²⁵⁴ Prosecutor v. Duško Tadić, International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, case No. IT-94-1-A, judgement of 15 July 1999, *International Law Reports*, vol. 112 (1997), p. 1.

²⁵⁵ Ibid., p. 190, para. 585 (Judges Stephen and Vohrah).

²⁵⁶ Ibid., p. 191, para. 588.

²⁵⁷ Ibid., p. 200, para. 606.

²⁵⁸ Ibid., p. 270, para. 21 (dissenting opinion of Judge McDonald).

²⁵⁹ The distinction was explained by the Tribunal in *Starrett Housing Corporation* v. *Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran*, Case No. 24, *Iran-United States Claims Tribunal Reports* (Cambridge, Grotius, 1985), vol. 4, p. 143; see also Caron, loc. cit., pp. 112–119.

²⁶⁰ Case No. 10199, *Iran-United States Claims Tribunal Reports* (Cambridge, Grotius, 1988), vol. 17, p. 103, and see the whole passage at pp. 103–105. It should be noted that in that case there was evidence of encouragement from organs of the State but no evidence of any instructions or directives.

the circumstances of the case, entails her responsibility for the policies and actions of the "TRNC" ... Those affected by such policies or actions therefore come within the "jurisdiction" of Turkey for the purposes of Article 1 of the Convention. Her obligation to secure to the applicant the rights and freedoms set out in the Convention therefore extends to the northern part of Cyprus. ²⁶¹

The Court thus based Turkey's responsibility for the denial to the applicant of freedom of access to its property, contrary to article 1 of Protocol 1, on a global appreciation of Turkey's "control" over the island, an appreciation based both on the number of Turkish troops there and on the illegitimacy of the "TNRC". In effect, the Court held,

in conformity with the relevant principles of international law governing State responsibility, that the responsibility of a Contracting Party could also arise when as a consequence of military action whether lawful or unlawful it exercises effective control of an area outside its national territory. The obligation to secure, in such an area, the rights and freedoms set out in the Convention, derives from the fact of such control whether it be exercised directly, through its armed forces, or through a subordinate local administration. ²⁶²

208. This "global" approach was criticized in the dissenting opinion of Judge Bernhardt, who said that:

[T]he presence of Turkish troops in northern Cyprus is one element in an extremely complex development and situation. As has been explained and decided in the Loizidou judgment on the preliminary objections ... Turkey can be held responsible for concrete acts done in northern Cyprus by Turkish troops or officials. But in the present case, we are confronted with a special situation: it is the existence of the factual border, protected by forces under United Nations command, which makes it impossible for Greek Cypriots to visit and to stay in their homes and on their property in the northern part of the island. The presence of Turkish troops and Turkey's support of the "TRNC" are important factors in the existing situation; but I feel unable to base a judgement of the European Court of Human Rights exclusively on the assumption that the Turkish presence is illegal and that Turkey is therefore responsible for more or less everything that happens in northern Cyprus. 263

The case lies in the shadowland between issues of attribution and causation; the latter will be dealt with in reviewing part two of the draft articles, especially article 44. But it should be observed, first, that the majority of the Court regarded itself as applying principles of "imputability" and, secondly, that they did not base themselves exclusively on the unlawful character of Turkish control over northern Cyprus. 265

Conduct by State-owned corporations

209. Related questions arise with respect to the conduct of companies or enterprises which are State-owned and controlled. If such corporations act inconsistently with the international obligations of the State concerned, is

their conduct attributable to it? In discussing this issue it is necessary to recall, in accordance with the statement of ICJ in the *Barcelona Traction* case, that international law acknowledges the general separateness of corporate entities at national level, except in special cases where the "corporate veil" is a mere device or a vehicle for fraud.²⁶⁶

210. Clearly, the fact that the State initially establishes a corporate entity (whether by a special law or pursuant to general legislation) is not a sufficient basis for the attribution to the State of the subsequent conduct of that entity. 267 Since corporate entities, although owned by (and in that sense subject to the control of) the State, are considered to be separate, prima facie their conduct in carrying out their activities is not attributable to the State, unless they are exercising aspects of governmental authority as referred to in article 7, paragraph 2. This was the position taken, for example, in relation to the seizure of property by a State-owned oil company, in a case where there was no proof that the State used its ownership interest as a vehicle for directing the company to seize the property.²⁶⁸ On the other hand, where there was evidence that the corporation was exercising public powers, ²⁶⁹ or that the State was using its ownership interest in or control of a corporation specifically in order to achieve a particular result, ²⁷⁰ the conduct in question has been attributed to the State.

211. The distinction outlined in the previous paragraph seems to be a defensible one.²⁷¹ The consequence of attribution is to aggregate all the conduct concerned and to connect it to the State as an entity of international law, for the purposes of State responsibility. But this does not mean that differences, including differences in internal

²⁶¹ European Court of Human Rights, *Reports of Judgments and Decisions* 1996–VI, No. 26, *Judgment of 18 December 1996 (Merits)* (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, Strasbourg), pp. 2235–2236, para. 56.

²⁶² Ibid., p. 2234–2235, para. 52, referring back to its decision on the preliminary objections (ibid., *Series A: Judgments and Decisions*, vol. 310 (*Preliminary Objections*), *Judgment of 23 March 1995*, p. 23, para. 62).

²⁶³ Ibid. (see footnote 261 above), p. 2243, para. 3, dissenting opinion of Judge Bernhardt.

²⁶⁴ Ibid., p. 2234, para. 52.

²⁶⁵ The lack of separate international status of the "TRNC" was however relevant, since it deprived Turkey of the justification of basing its occupation on the consent of the latter. In effect the "TRNC" was treated as a subordinate organ of Turkey, and in this sense considerations of legality affected the decision on attribution.

 $^{^{266}}$ I.C.J. Reports 1970 (see footnote 16 above), p. 3.

²⁶⁷ For example. the workers' councils considered in *Schering Corporation* v. *Islamic Republic of Iran*, Case No. 38, *Iran-United States Claims Tribunal Reports* (Cambridge, Grotius, 1985), vol. 5, p. 361; *Otis Elevator Co. v. Islamic Republic of Iran*, Case No. 284, ibid., vol. 14, p. 283; *Eastman Kodak Company v. Islamic Republic of Iran*, Case No. 227, ibid., vol. 17, p. 153; discussed by Aldrich, op. cit., pp. 204–206; and Caron, loc. cit., pp. 134–135.

²⁶⁸ SEDCO, Inc. v. National Iranian Oil Company, Case No. 129, ibid., vol. 15, p. 23. See also International Technical Products Corp. v. Islamic Republic of Iran, Case No. 302, ibid., vol. 9, p. 206 (acts of Bank Tejarat, a nationalized bank, not attributable to Iran); Flexi-Van Leasing, Inc. v. Islamic Republic of Iran, Case No. 36, ibid., vol. 12, p. 349 (contractual liabilities of nationalized companies not attributable to the Islamic Republic of Iran in the absence of proof of "orders, directives, recommendations or instructions from the ... Government"). See the discussion by Caron, loc. cit., pp. 163–175.

²⁶⁹ Phillips Petroleum Co. Iran v. Islamic Republic of Iran, Case No. 39, ibid., vol. 21, p. 79; Petrolane Inc. v. Islamic Republic of Iran, Case No. 131, ibid., vol. 27, p. 64.

²⁷⁰ Foremost Tehran, Inc. v. Islamic Republic of Iran, Case No. 37, ibid., vol. 10, p. 228; and American Bell International v. Islamic Republic of Iran, Case No. 48, ibid., vol. 12, p. 170.

²⁷¹ See also Human Rights Committee, Communication No. R.14/61, Hertzberg v. Finland (Official Records of the General Assembly, Thirty-seventh Session, Supplement No. 40, A/37/40, annex XIV, p. 161), para. 9.1 (discretionary decision of Finnish Broadcasting Company executive not to broadcast a particular programme; conduct attributable to Finland on the grounds of its "dominant stake (90 per cent)" in the Company, but also on the basis that the Company was "under specific government control". See also Council of Europe, European Commission of Human Rights, Yearbook of the European Convention on Human Rights 1971, Application No. 4125/69, X. v. Ireland, vol. 14 (The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1973), p. 198; and the case of Young, James and Webster, European Court of Human Rights, Series A: Judgments and Decisions, vol. 44 (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, 1981).

legal status, between the entities involved are irrelevant in deciding whether conduct should be attributable. It is here that the approach to corporate personality set out by ICJ in *Barcelona Traction* must be taken into account. That approach, though not itself part of the law of attribution is a factor to be applied in the process of attribution. Consequently, the extension of article 8 (a) to cover cases of conduct carried out under the direction and control of a State would not have the effect of making all the conduct of all State corporations attributable to the State for the purposes of international law.

The question for the Commission

212. The question is whether article 8 (*a*) should extend beyond cases of actual authorization or instruction to cover cases where specific operations or activities are, in fact, under the direction and control of the State. The present text ("in fact acting on behalf of that State") is less than clear on the point, but Judge Ago seems to have thought that it was limited to cases of express instructions.²⁷² The difficulty is that, in many operations, in particular those which would obviously be unlawful if attributable to the State, the existence of an express instruction will be very difficult to demonstrate.

213. It can be argued that the issue presented in Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua related specifically to the extent of the obligation of a State to control irregular forces or auxiliaries acting under its auspices, and that this is either a question of the content of the relevant primary rule, or alternatively a customary lex specialis in that specific context. However that may be, the issue of the direction and control of a State as a basis for attribution does arise in a general way, and in the above-mentioned case the Court appears to have been treating this issue as one of general principle. Moreover it is not clear why conduct of auxiliary armed forces in operations under the specific direction and control of a State should be attributable to the State, but not analogous conduct under State direction and control in other spheres. The position taken by the majority of the Court in *Mili*tary and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua was not the subject of any specific dissent in that case, nor has it been criticized as overbroad in later decisions or in the literature.²⁷³ For all of these reasons, the Special Rapporteur is provisionally of the view that article 8 (a) should be clarified, that it is desirable to attribute to the State specific conduct carried out under its direction and control, and that appropriate language to that effect should be added. The text and commentary should make it clear that it is only if the State directed and controlled the specific operation and the conduct complained of was a necessary, integral or intended part of that operation, that the conduct should be attributable to the State. The principle should not extend to conduct which was only

incidentally or peripherally associated with an operation, or which escaped from the State's direction and control. 274

- (ii) Agents of necessity: the exercise of State powers in the absence of the State
- 214. Article 8 (b) makes attributable to the State the conduct of a person or group of persons "in fact exercising elements of the governmental authority in the absence of the official authorities and in circumstances which justified the exercise of those elements of authority". The commentary notes that the cases envisaged by subparagraph (b) only occur in exceptional cases, such as revolution, armed conflict or foreign occupation where the regular authorities dissolve, are suppressed or are for the time being inoperative. It stipulates that attribution to the State is:

admissible only in genuinely exceptional cases ... [F]or this purpose, the following conditions must be met: in the first place, the conduct of the person or group of persons must effectively relate to the exercise of elements of the governmental authority. In the second place, the conduct must have been engaged in because of the absence of official authorities ... and, furthermore, in circumstances which justified the exercise of these elements of authority by private persons.²⁷⁵

Comments of Governments

215. In its comment of 11 January 1980, Canada reserved its position with respect to article 8 (b), on the ground that a more restrictive formulation might be desirable. ²⁷⁶ There have been no more recent comments.

The underlying principle

216. The principle underlying article 8 (b) owes something to the old idea of the levée en masse, the self-defence of the citizenry in the absence of regular forces which is recognized as legitimate by article 2 of the Regulations respecting the Laws and Customs of War on Land, annexed to the 1907 Hague Convention IV, and by article 4 A, paragraph 6, of the Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War.²⁷⁷ But there are occasional instances in the field of State responsibility proper. Thus the position of the Revolutionary Guards or Komitehs immediately after the revolution in the Islamic Republic of Iran was treated by the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal as potentially covered by article 8 (b). Yeager v. Islamic Republic of Iran concerned, inter alia, the action of performing immigration, customs and similar functions at Tehran airport in the immediate aftermath of the revolution. The Tribunal held their conduct attributable to the Islamic Republic of Iran, on the basis that, if it was not actually authorized by the Government, then the Guards

²⁷² See paragraph 199 above.

²⁷³ See, for example, Eisemann, "L'arrêt de la C.I.J. du 27 juin 1986 (fond) dans l'affaire des activités militaires et paramilitaires au Nicaragua et contre celui-ci", pp. 179–180; Verhoeven, "Le droit, le juge et la violence: les arrêts Nicaragua c. États-Unis", pp. 1230–1232; and Lang, L'affaire Nicaragua/États-Unis devant la Cour internationale de Justice, pp. 216–222.

 $^{^{274}}$ See paragraph 284 below, for the proposed text of article 8 (a).

²⁷⁵ Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 285, para. (11) of the commentary to article 8. The commentary goes on to distinguish the de facto government of a State, the action of whose organs is covered by article 5, not article 8 (b) (ibid., para. (12), footnote 599, citing the award of 17 October 1923 in the Aguilar-Amory and Royal Bank of Canada Claims (Tinoco Case) (UNRIAA, vol. I (Sales No. 1948.V.2), pp. 381–382).

²⁷⁶ Yearbook ... 1980, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/328 and Add.1–4, p. 94, para. 3.

²⁷⁷ Cited in *Yearbook* ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/ Rev.1, p. 285, para. (9) of the commentary to article 8, footnote 593.

at least exercised elements of governmental authority in the absence of the official authorities, in operations of which the new Government must have had knowledge and to which it did not specifically object.²⁷⁸

The formulation of the principle

217. There is thus some authority in favour of the principle stated in article 8 (b), applicable in exceptional cases. Its formulation is however slightly paradoxical, in that it implies that conduct which may give rise to State responsibility is nonetheless "justified". It might be objected that if the conduct was wrongful it cannot have been "justified", so that the circumstances required for responsibility pursuant to paragraph (b) can never arise. This may have been why the Tribunal in Yeager v. Islamic Republic of Iran did not use the actual formulation of the paragraph in the dictum just quoted. The commentary to article 8 (b) captures rather better the idea that the circumstances must have justified the attempt to exercise police or other functions in the absence of any constituted authority, rather than justifying the actual events as they occurred. This idea could usefully be reinforced in the commentary by reference to cases such as Yeager v. Islamic Republic of

218. It is recommended that article 8(b) be retained. For the reasons given the term "justified" should be replaced by the term "called for", thereby indicating that some exercise of governmental functions was called for, but not necessarily the conduct in question.

(e) Article 9 (Attribution to the State of the conduct of organs placed at its disposal by another State or by an international organization)

219. Article 9 provides that:

The conduct of an organ which has been placed at the disposal of a State by another State or by an international organization shall be considered as an act of the former State under international law, if that organ was acting in the exercise of elements of the governmental authority of the State at whose disposal it has been placed.

220. The commentary to article 9 stresses that it deals with the limited and precise situation of organs of a State (or international organization) which are in effect "loaned" to another State.²⁷⁹ The notion of an organ "placed at the disposal" of the receiving State is a very specialized one, implying that the "foreign" organ is acting with the consent, under the authority of and for the purposes of the receiving State. It does not deal with experts from another State or an international organization advising a Government, or individual officials seconded to another

State.²⁸⁰ It also excludes the case of State organs sent to another State for the purposes of the former State, or even for shared purposes, but which retain their own autonomy and status: for example, foreign military liaison or cultural missions, ²⁸¹ foreign relief or aid organizations. One concrete example of a "loaned" agency is the United Kingdom Privy Council, which has acted as the final court of appeal for a number of independent States within the Commonwealth.²⁸² Its role is paralleled by certain final courts of appeal acting pursuant to treaty arrangements. 283 The commentary cites the Chevreau case as an instance of the form of "transferred responsibility" envisaged by article 9: in that case, a British Consul in Persia, in his capacity as temporary chargé of the French Consulate, received but then lost some papers entrusted to him. On a claim being brought by France, Arbitrator Beichmann held that "the British Government cannot be held responsible for negligence by its Consul in his capacity as the person in charge of the Consulate of another Power". 284 That was a case between the sending and the receiving States, and it is implicit in the Arbitrator's finding that the agreed terms on which the British Consul was acting contained no provision allocating responsibility for his acts. The more significant question will be: against which of the two States would a third State be entitled or required to claim? In accordance with article 9, the answer is the receiving State, provided the conduct was carried out on behalf of that State.²⁸⁵

Comments of Governments on article 9

221. The United Kingdom asks, in the context of article 7, paragraph 2, for clarification on the position of acts of international organizations or their organs (such as the European Commission). It calls for

a clear indication in the commentary that these draft articles are not intended to deal with the responsibility of member States for acts of international organizations (including military actions under the auspices of international or regional organizations). That is a complex issue; and it is not clear that it is desirable that the position of every international organization be the same. The topic of responsibility for acts of international organizations merits separate, detailed treatment.²⁸⁶

It also raises the question of compulsory reference to the courts of another State (e.g. under the Convention on Jurisdiction and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters) or to an international body (e.g. an ICSID tribunal). In such a case, is the referring State free of responsibility, no matter what happens after the case is

²⁷⁸ Iran-United States Claims Tribunal Reports (see footnote 260 above), p. 104.

²⁷⁹ The commentary notes (*Yearbook ... 1974*, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 287, para. (6)) that cases of dependent territories such as international protectorates are also not covered by article 9 and this is clearly correct. For example in *Rights of Nationals of the United States of America in Morocco, Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1952*, p. 176, it was understood that the responsibility of France acting both on its own behalf and on behalf of Morocco was engaged. The United States had lodged a preliminary objection in order to get clarification of this point; it was withdrawn once the clarification was obtained. See *I.C.J. Pleadings, Rights of Nationals of the United States of America in Morocco*, vols. I–II, p. 235; and *Order of 31 October 1951, I.C.J. Reports 1951*, p. 109.

 $^{^{280}}$ Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, pp. 286–287, para. (2) of the commentary to article 9.

²⁸¹ Ibid., p. 288, para. (7).

²⁸² Ibid., para. (10). This is a good example of convention and practice determining the status in which an organ acts (see paragraph 163 above)

²⁸³ For example, the Agreement relating to appeals to the High Court of Australia from the Supreme Court of Nauru and Australia (Nauru, 6 September 1976), United Nations, *Treaty Series*, vol. 1216, p. 151.

²⁸⁴ UNRIAA, vol. II (Sales No. 1949.V.1), p. 1141, cited in para. (13) of the commentary to article 9 (*Yearbook ... 1974*, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 289).

²⁸⁵ Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1 p. 290, para. (17) of the commentary to article 9.

²⁸⁶ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by the United Kingdom on article 7, paragraph 2.

referred? Again, in its view, the point should at least be addressed in the commentary.²⁸⁷

222. Uzbekistan also expresses the view that the responsibility of international organizations for their wrongful acts should be addressed, though in a separate instrument. ²⁸⁸

When are State organs "placed at the disposal" of another State?

223. Article 9 deals with an extremely specialized issue: how specialized is clear from the definition given of the crucial phrase "placed at the disposal". According to the commentary, this

does not mean only that the organ must be appointed to perform functions appertaining to the State at whose disposal it is placed. It also requires that, in performing the functions entrusted to it by the beneficiary State, the organ shall act in conjunction with the machinery of that State and under its exclusive direction and control, not on instructions from the sending State. ²⁸⁹

By comparison with the number of cases of cooperative action by States in fields such as mutual defence, aid and development, this must be an unusual situation, although it is not unknown.

224. The European Commission of Human Rights had to consider this question in two cases relating to the exercise by Swiss police in Liechtenstein of "delegated" powers. 290 At the relevant time Liechtenstein was not a party to the European Convention, so that if the conduct in question was attributable only to Liechtenstein, no breach of the Convention could have occurred. The Commission held the case admissible, on the basis that under the treaty governing the relations between Switzerland and Liechtenstein of 1923, Switzerland exercised its own customs and immigration jurisdiction in Liechtenstein, albeit with the latter's consent and in their mutual interest. The officers in question were governed exclusively by Swiss law and were considered to be exercising the public authority of Switzerland. In that sense, they were not "placed at the disposal" of the receiving State.

225. Analogous problems were faced by the European Commission and Court of Human Rights in a case concerning Andorra. ²⁹¹ At a time when Andorra was not a party to the European Convention, two individuals were tried and sentenced to long terms of imprisonment by the Tribunal de Corts of Andorra. They elected to serve their sentence in France. They brought proceedings under the Convention against both France and Spain, alleging that they were responsible for deficiencies in the organization

of the Andorran courts, and that France was responsible for their arbitrary detention, which no French law authorized.²⁹²

226. The Court drew a distinction between the original judicial process and the subsequent detention in France. The former was an Andorran process, which did not involve the exercise of governmental authority either of France or of Spain. French and Spanish judges served on the Andorran courts, but for that purpose they acquired Andorran nationality; they were formally seconded and in their Andorran capacity were neither responsible to nor controlled by the sending Governments. 293 As to their custody in France, on the other hand, France argued that "an adequate legal basis was provided by international custom and by the French and Andorran domestic law which implemented that custom". A narrow majority of the Court accepted that view and dismissed the complaint. To impose on France responsibility for ensuring that the original judgement complied with the Convention "would ... thwart the current trend towards strengthening international co-operation in the administration of justice"; thus the only obligation of France was not to participate in a "flagrant denial of justice", of which there was no sufficient evidence in that case. Thus the majority drew a distinction between the acts of French and Spanish officials (including the Co-Princes) in their capacity as Andorran organs, and the actions of France in giving effect to Andorran judgements: France's responsibility was attracted only by the latter.²⁹⁴

227. Another example of a "loaned" organ was the Auditor-General of New Zealand, who for a time acted as the auditor of the Cook Islands by agreement between the Cook Islands and New Zealand and pursuant to the Constitution of the Cook Islands.²⁹⁵ The question arose whether the Auditor-General could be compelled to disclose Cook Islands documents acquired as a result of the exercise of this function, or whether the documents were entitled to sovereign immunity. The New Zealand Court of Appeal denied immunity, but nonetheless approached the case on the basis that the Auditor-General was performing an official function on behalf of the Cook Islands as a foreign State, and was not responsible to any New Zealand authority for the exercise of that function.²⁹⁶

 $^{^{287}}$ Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 9.

 $^{^{288}}$ Ibid., comments by Uzbekistan under "General remarks".

²⁸⁹ Yearbook ... 1974, vol. II (Part One), document A/9610/Rev.1, p. 287, para. (5) of the commentary to article 9.

²⁹⁰ Council of Europe, European Commission of Human Rights, *Yearbook of the European Convention on Human Rights 1977*, Application Nos. 7289/75 and 7349/76, *X and Y v. Switzerland*, vol. 20 (The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1978), pp. 402–406, discussed by Dipla, op. cit., pp. 52–53.

²⁹¹ The Co-Princes of Andorra are the President of France and the Bishop of Urgel in Spain. See Crawford, "The international legal status of the valleys of Andorra", p. 259; and Duursma, *Fragmentation and the International Relations of Micro-States: Self-determination and Statehood*, pp. 316–373.

²⁹² Drozd and Janousek v. France and Spain, European Court of Human Rights, Series A: Judgments and Decisions, vol. 240 (Registry of the Court, Council of Europe, Strasbourg, 1992); and Duursma, op. cit., pp. 331–333.

²⁹³ Ibid., p. 31, para. 96. The Court noted that "the secondment of judges or their placing at the disposal of foreign countries is ... practised between member States of the Council of Europe, as is demonstrated by the practice of Austrian and Swiss jurists in Liechtenstein".

²⁹⁴ Ibid., p. 32, para. 106, and p. 35, para. 110. On this point the Court was narrowly divided (12–11). The minority refused to accept that "there is a watertight partition between the entity of Andorra and the States to which the two Co-Princes belong, when in so many respects (enforcement of sentences being a further example) those States participate in its administration", ibid., pp. 40–41 (Joint dissenting opinion of Judges Pettiti, Valticos, Lopes Rocha, approved by Judges Walsh and Spielmann).

²⁹⁵ For a period, the audit function was further delegated by the Auditor-General to a private firm.

²⁹⁶ Controller and Auditor-General v. Davidson, International Law Reports, vol. 104 (1996), pp. 536–537,, 569 and 574–576. An appeal to the Privy Council on other grounds was dismissed (*The Weekly Law Reports 1996*, vol. 3 (London), p. 859, and *International Law Reports*, vol. 108, p. 622).

Organs of international organizations as organs of States?

228. Thus examples can be found of State organs being "placed at the disposal" of another State in the sense of article 9. It is more difficult to find convincing examples of that practice in the case of international organizations. There is no doubt that an organ of an international organization may perform governmental functions for or in relation to States, pursuant to "delegated" powers or even on the authority of the organization itself. 297 But this does not necessarily mean that it is "loaned" to the States concerned, or that those States are responsible for its conduct. It seems clear, for example, that the various organs of the European Commission operating on the territory of the member States retain their Community character and are not covered by article 9. According to the Legal Office of the United Nations Secretariat, no United Nations operation, whether in the field of technical assistance, peacekeeping, election monitoring or in any other field, would involve "loaning" an organ to a State. In every case, the United Nations body would retain its separate identity and command structure. A possible example of an article 9 organ is the High Representative appointed pursuant to Annex 10 of the General Framework Agreement for Peace in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Annexes thereto of 14 December 1995. 298 Despite the rather reserved way in which the mandate of the High Representative is defined in article II of Annex 10, there is no doubt that the High Representative is exercising governmental authority in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Which entity is ultimately responsible for his activity is, however, unclear.²⁹⁹

229. As this example demonstrates, it may not be clear whether a person exercising governmental authority is doing so on behalf of an international organization or of a group of States, and in the latter case how the responsibility of the States concerned is to be related to their individual responsibility. ³⁰⁰ This latter problem will be discussed in more detail in the context of chapter IV of part one.

Provisional conclusion

230. In considering article 9 it is useful to distinguish between organs of States and of international organizations. Although it may only be rarely that the organ of one State is "placed at the disposal" of another for the purposes of exercising the public power of the latter, such cases do occur, as the examples of cooperative arrangements for final courts of appeal show. Thus, decisions of the Privy Council on appeal from an independent Commonwealth State will engage the responsibility of that State and not of the United Kingdom. For these reasons, it is provisionally recommended that article 9 be retained, as it applies to State organs. This recommendation may, however, need to be revisited in the light of the examination of some of the broader issues of responsibility for joint State action which are raised, inter alia, by articles 27 and 28.

231. As far as international organizations are concerned, the position is more difficult. There are few (if any) convincing cases of an organ of an international organization being "placed at the disposal" of States in the sense of article 9. Any such cases are bound to raise broader questions of the possible responsibility of the member States, as well as the receiving State, for the conduct of the organ. These questions are also implicated by article 13 of the draft articles, to be discussed shortly. In any event, however, the difficulties raised by article 9 in relation to international organizations outweigh the very limited clarification that article offers. It is recommended that the reference to international organizations in article 9 be deleted.

(f) Article 10 (Attribution to the State of conduct of organs acting outside their competence or contrary to instructions concerning their activity)

232. Article 10 deals with the important question of unauthorized or *ultra vires* acts. It provides that:

The conduct of an organ of a State, of a territorial governmental entity or of an entity empowered to exercise elements of the governmental authority, such organ having acted in that capacity, shall be considered as an act of the State under international law even if, in the particular case, the organ exceeded its competence according to internal law or contravened instructions concerning its activity.

233. The commentary to article 10 usefully records the development of the modern rule, and asserts categorically that "[t]here is no exception to this rule even in the case of manifest incompetence of the organ perpetrating the conduct complained of, and even if other organs of the State have disowned the conduct of the offending organ". 302 It goes on to discuss the central problem of distinguishing, on the one hand, cases where officials acted in their capacity as such, albeit unlawfully or contrary to instructions, and, on the other hand, cases where their conduct is so removed from the scope of their official functions

²⁹⁷ For example, the international tribunals for the former Yugoslavia and for Rwanda carry out investigatory and other functions in various States, not limited to the territories over which they exercise substantive jurisdiction. The European Commission can impose sanctions and penalties for certain breaches of European Union law, including on foreign corporations.

²⁹⁸ Collectively the Peace Agreement (S/1995/999, annex).

²⁹⁹ The High Representative was "designated" by a Peace Implementation Council and endorsed by the Security Council pursuant to Annex 10 of the Peace Agreement (see ILM, vol. XXXV, No. 1 (January 1996), pp. 228–229). Under article V of Annex 10, the "High Representative is the final authority in theater regarding interpretation of this Agreement on the civilian implementation of the peace settlement" (ibid., p. 148). See also Security Council resolution 1031 (1995), paras. 26–27. Whether article 9 of the draft articles would apply to the High Representative depends, *inter alia*, on whether the Peace Implementation Council qualifies as an "international organization". An earlier and less equivocal analogy was the High Commissioner for the Free City of Danzig, appointed by the League of Nations Council and responsible to it. See *Treatment of Polish Nationals and Other Persons of Polish Origin or Speech in the Danzig Territory, Advisory Opinion, 1932, P.C.I.J., Series A/B, No. 44, p. 4.*

 $^{^{300}\,\}mathrm{A}$ good example of the problem was presented by the question of State responsibility for quadripartite action in Germany, which was considered at different times by the European Commission of Human Rights, the German Federal Constitutional Court and the English Court of Appeal. All reached the same conclusion, viz., that the individual respondent State was not answerable in those proceedings. See Council of Europe, European Commission of Human Rights, *Decisions and*

Reports, Application 6231/73, Ilse Hess v. United Kingdom, vol. 1 (Strasbourg, 1975), p. 74; the Rudolf Hess Case, International Law Reports, vol. 90 (1980), p. 386; and Trawnik v. Gordon Lennox, All England Law Reports 1985, vol. 2, p. 368.

³⁰¹ See paragraphs 253–259 below.

³⁰² Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 61, para. (1) of the commentary to article 10.

that it should be assimilated to that of private individuals, not attributable to the State. This problem is dealt with below.

Comments of Governments on article 10

234. No Government comments have been made on article 10, and this appears to reflect very general if not universal agreement with the modern rule. Indeed it could hardly be otherwise, consistent with article 4.

Article 10 and the problem of distinguishing official from "private" conduct

235. The principle stated in article 10 is thus undoubted and clearly must be retained. 303 As noted, there is however a problem in distinguishing *ultra vires* conduct of officials from conduct which is wholly outside the scope of any official capacity, and is to be assimilated to private conduct. In the draft articles at present that problem is elided. 304 Both articles 5 and 7 require that the organ or entity has acted "in that capacity in the case in question", but no further definition is offered of the notion of "capacity". Article 10 again uses the phrase without further specification.

236. The matter has been extensively discussed in arbitral awards and in the literature.³⁰⁵ In its commentary to article 10 the Commission cites with apparent approval the following article adopted at the 1930 Hague Conference for the Codification of International Law:

International responsibility is likewise incurred by a State if damage is sustained by a foreigner as a result of unauthorized acts of its officials performed *under cover of their official character*,* if the acts contravene the international obligations of the State.³⁰⁶

This language derives from the decision of the French-Mexican Claims Commission in the *Caire* case, again cited in the commentary with approval as a "precise,

detailed and virtually definitive formulation of the principles applicable". The *Caire* case concerned the murder of a French national by two Mexican officers who, after failing to extort money, took Caire to the local barracks and shot him. The Commission held:

that the two officers, even if they are deemed to have acted outside their competence ... and even if their superiors countermanded an order, have involved the responsibility of the State, since they acted under cover of their status as officers and used means placed at their disposal on account of that status.

Presiding Commissioner Verzijl likewise referred to the two officials as having "availed [themselves] of [their] official status". ³⁰⁸

237. In the first phase of the Commission's work on this topic, the Special Rapporteur, F. V. García Amador, proposed the following language:

an act or omission shall likewise be imputable to the State if the organs or officials concerned exceeded their competence but purported to be acting in their official capacity. 309

238. The problem has continued to arise. For example, in Yeager v. Islamic Republic of Iran, the claimant complained of being unlawfully required to pay extra money to an Iran Air agent to get a prepaid air ticket issued, and of being robbed at the airport by Revolutionary Guards "performing the functions of customs, immigration and security officers". Iran Air was a wholly State-owned airline, whereas at the time, the Revolutionary Guards had not yet been formally incorporated as an organ of the State. Nonetheless, the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal distinguished between the two cases, holding that the Islamic Republic of Iran was not responsible for the apparently isolated act of the Iran Air agent, but that it was responsible for the later robbery.³¹⁰ In another case, the Tribunal posed the question in terms of whether it had been shown that the conduct had been "carried out by persons cloaked with governmental authority".311

239. The problem of drawing the line between unauthorized but still "official" conduct, on the one hand, and "private" conduct on the other, may be avoided if there is evidence that the conduct complained of is systematic or recurrent, such that the State knew or ought to have known of it and taken steps to prevent it. However, the distinction between the two situations still needs to be made for individual cases of outrageous conduct on the part of persons who are officials, and the line drawn by the authorities cited above seems a reasonable one. In the words of the commentary:

In international law, the State must recognize that it acts whenever persons or groups of persons whom it has instructed to act in its name in a given area of activity appear to be acting effectively in its name.³¹²

 $^{^{303}}$ It is confirmed, for example, in article 91 of the Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts (Protocol I), which provides that: "A Party to the conflict ... shall be responsible for all acts committed by persons forming part of its armed forces." This would include acts committed contrary to orders or instructions. The commentary notes that article 91 was adopted by consensus and "correspond[s] to the general principles of law on international responsibility" (ICRC, Commentary on the Additional Protocols of 8 June 1977 to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 (Geneva, Martinus Nijhoff, 1987)), pp. 1053-1054. See also the Velásquez Rodríguez v. Honduras Case (footnote 63 above), No. 4, para. 170; and International Law Reports, vol. 95 (1994), p. 296: "This conclusion [of a breach of the Convention] is independent of whether the organ or official has contravened provisions of internal law or overstepped the limits of his authority: under international law a State is responsible for the acts of its agents undertaken in their official capacity and for their omissions, even when those agents act outside the sphere of their authority or violate internal law."

³⁰⁴ As pointed out by Brownlie, op. cit., pp. 147–148.

³⁰⁵ Ibid., pp. 145–150.

³⁰⁶ League of Nations, *Acts of the Conference for the Codification of International Law*, held at The Hague from 13 March to 12 April 1930, vol. IV, *Minutes of the Third Committee* (document C.351(c)M.145(c).1930.V), p. 238, cited in *Yearbook* ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 64, para. (9) of the commentary to arti-

 $^{^{307}}$ Yearbook ... 1975 (see footnote 306 above), p. 65, para. (14) of the commentary to article 10.

³⁰⁸ UNRIAA, vol. V (Sales No. 1952.V.3), pp. 529 et seq.

³⁰⁹ Yearbook ... 1961, vol. II, document A/CN.4/134 and Add.1, p. 47, art. 12, para. 2.

³¹⁰ Case No. 10199 (see footnote 260 above), p. 110.

³¹¹ Petrolane, Inc. v. Islamic Republic of Iran (see footnote 269 above), p. 92.

³¹² Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 67, para. (17) of the commentary to article 10.

240. The remaining question is whether the actual language of articles 5, 7 and 10 should be altered so as to reflect more clearly the principle of "apparent capacity" reflected in the commentary and in the cases. On the one hand, it may seem difficult to say that a customs official who acts outrageously, unlawfully and for private gain, but while on duty and using the instruments of office, is still acting in his "capacity" as an organ. This would suggest that a formulation such as "acting in or under cover of that official capacity" be adopted in article 10. On the other hand, article 10 already makes it clear that the notion of "official capacity" is a specialized one, and the commentary to article 10 can be reinforced to the same effect. The question is finely balanced, but the absence of any comments or proposals for change on the part of Governments perhaps tilts the balance in favour of the existing text. It is, however, proposed that the concluding phrase in article 10 be amended to read "even if, in the particular case, the organ or entity exceeded its authority or contravened instructions concerning its exercise". This is clearer, as well as consistent with the proposal already made to delete the reference to internal law in article 5.313

(g) Article 11 (Conduct of persons not acting on behalf of the State)

- 241. Article 11 is the first of the "negative attribution" articles, to which reference has already been made.³¹⁴ It provides that:
- 1. The conduct of a person or a group of persons not acting on behalf of the State shall not be considered as an act of the State under international law.
- 2. Paragraph 1 is without prejudice to the attribution to the State of any other conduct which is related to that of the persons or groups of persons referred to in that paragraph and which is to be considered as an act of the State by virtue of articles 5 to 10.
- 242. The commentary to article 11 notes that it "confirms the rules laid down in the preceding articles", and that it is a merely "negative statement". Although "[t]he acts of private persons or of persons acting, in the case under consideration, in a private capacity are in no circumstances attributable to the State", this "strictly negative conclusion" does not mean that the State cannot be responsible for those acts, for example, if State organs breach an obligation to prevent private conduct in some respect. Indeed, States have "often" been held responsible for such acts. There follows a useful analysis of the earlier practice, and in particular of the *Tellini* case of 1923, which definitively established the modern rule. The commentary concludes that:
- (a) in accordance with the criteria which have gradually been affirmed in international legal relations, the act of a private person not acting on behalf of the State cannot be attributed to the State and cannot as

such involve the responsibility of the State. This conclusion is valid irrespective of the circumstances in which the private person acts and of the interests affected by his conduct; (b) although the international responsibility of the State is sometimes held to exist in connexion with acts of private persons its sole basis is the internationally wrongful conduct of organs of the State in relation to the acts of the private person concerned. In the view of the Commission, the rule which emerges from the application of the criteria outlined above fully meets the needs of contemporary international life and does not require to be altered.³¹⁸

Comments of Governments on article 11

243. The United States expresses the view that article 11 "adds nothing to the draft ... The duplication of rules provides a tribunal with an additional, if not trouble-some, question of which rule to apply in a given situation and whether the rules differ in application. Article 11 should be deleted."³¹⁹ Similar misgivings were expressed by Chile in its comments of 9 October 1979: it described article 11 as "an almost pedantic clarification" and suggested that "its provisions might well have been combined with those of article 8(a)".³²⁰

The difficulty with article 11

244. As these comments suggest, article 11 presents a difficulty. At one level, it records the outcome of an important evolution in general international law away from notions of the "vicarious liability" of the State for the acts of its nationals, and towards a clear distinction in principle between the State and the non-State domains. It also provides apparent security to States that they will not be held responsible for the acts of private parties. On the other hand, as a matter of law, and in the context of the draft articles as a whole, that security is illusory, because article 11 lacks any independent content. On analysis, it says nothing more than that the conduct of private individuals or groups is not attributable to the State unless that conduct is attributable under other provisions of chapter II. This is both circular and potentially misleading, because in any given situation of injury caused by private individuals, it tends to focus on the wrong question. The issue in such cases is not whether the acts of private individuals as such are attributable to the State (they are not), but rather, what is the extent of the obligation of the State to prevent or respond to those acts. In short, not only is article 11 not a rule of attribution, it does not have the slightest impact, even in terms of the burden of proof, on the application of the other prvisions of chapter II which are rules of attribution. If, under any of those provisions, conduct is attributable to the State, then article 11 has no application. If the conduct is not so attributable, then article 11 has no effect. There is no third possibility.

Tentative conclusion

245. For these reasons, the Special Rapporteur tentatively proposes that article 11 be deleted. The problem is,

³¹³ See paragraph 163 above.

³¹⁴ See paragraph 142 above.

 $^{^{315}}$ Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 70, para. (1) of the commentary to article 11.

³¹⁶ Ibid., p. 71, paras. (3)–(5).

³¹⁷ Report of the Special Commission of Jurists, League of Nations, *Official Journal*, 5th year, No. 4 (April 1924), p. 524, as adopted unanimously by the Council of the League on 13 March 1924; and ibid., 4th year, No. 11 (November 1923), Twenty-sixth Session of the Council, p. 1305.

 $^{^{318}}$ Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 82, para. (35) of the commentary to article 11.

 $^{^{319}}$ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by the United States on article 8.

³²⁰ Yearbook ... 1980, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/328 and Add.1–4, p. 97, para. 15.

however, that to delete it might imply, *a contrario*, a move back to discredited notions of "vicarious responsibility" for the acts of private persons, and may give rise to concern on the part of some States. To a considerable extent, this can be avoided by appropriate discussion in the commentary to other articles of part two (and the substance of the commentary to article 11 should be retained). In addition, however, it will be suggested that appropriate language can be inserted in a proposed new article which will address any residual concerns.³²¹

(h) Article 12 (Conduct of organs of another State)

246. Article 12 provides that:

- 1. The conduct of an organ of a State acting in that capacity which takes place in the territory of another State or in any other territory under its jurisdiction shall not be considered as an act of the latter State under international law.
- 2. Paragraph 1 is without prejudice to the attribution to a State of any other conduct which is related to that referred to in that paragraph and which is to be considered as an act of that State by virtue of articles 5 to 10.
- 247. The commentary to article 12 recounts the many cases where organs of one State act as such on the territory of another State, and gives as examples of problems arising from such action a number of incidents from the 1950s, all involving the then Soviet Union in one capacity or another.³²² It notes however that in none of those incidents was the mere fact that they occurred on the territory of a State taken to be a sufficient basis for the responsibility of that State. Surprisingly, the commentary does not mention the *Corfu Channel* case.³²³

Comments of Governments on article 12

248. No comments were made on article 12 as such.³²⁴

The context of article 12

249. Article 12 has to be considered in the light of the provisions of chapter IV of part one, which deal with the implication of a State in the internationally wrongful act of another State. Article 27 deals with aid or assistance by one State in the commission of an internationally wrongful act of another State. Article 28 deals with situations where one State is subject to the "direction or control" of another in committing a wrongful act, and with situations of actual coercion. By comparison with article 12, these cases are much more likely to generate claims of responsibility; indeed it is difficult to see on what basis the mere

fact that one State acts on the territory of another could, without more, give rise to the responsibility of the latter.³²⁵ In other words, the problem with article 12 (as with article 11) is that it addresses a "non-problem", while at the same time there is a real problem which it does not address.

Territory and responsibility

250. In short, the occurrence of conduct of one State on the territory of another is not, as such and of itself, a sufficient basis for the attribution of the conduct to the latter State. The leading authority is the ICJ decision in the *Corfu Channel* case. In that case, mines had recently been laid in the Corfu Channel within Albanian territorial waters, but it was not shown that Albania was actually responsible for laying them.³²⁶ The question was whether Albania was responsible for damage to British ships which had struck the mines. The Court said:

It is clear that knowledge of the minelaying cannot be imputed to the Albanian Government by reason merely of the fact that a minefield discovered in Albanian territorial waters caused the explosions of which the British warships were the victims. It is true, as international practice shows, that a State on whose territory or in whose waters an act contrary to international law has occurred, may be called upon to give an explanation. It is also true that that State cannot evade such a request by limiting itself to a reply that it is ignorant of the circumstances of the act and of its authors. The State may, up to a certain point, be bound to supply particulars of the use made by it of the means of information and inquiry at its disposal. But it cannot be concluded from the mere fact of the control exercised by a State over its territory and waters that that State necessarily knew, or ought to have known, of any unlawful act perpetrated therein, nor yet that it necessarily knew, or should have known, the authors. This fact, by itself and apart from other circumstances, neither involves prima facie responsibility nor shifts the burden of proof.*327

The Court went on to hold Albania fully responsible for the damage, on the basis that Albania knew or should have known of the presence of the mines but failed to warn the United Kingdom: its obligation to warn was based, *inter alia*, on "every State's obligation not to allow knowingly its territory to be used for acts contrary to the rights of other States". ³²⁸ In summary, the Court held that:

- (a) The territorial State could be responsible for the conduct of another State on its territory, even if it was not shown to be complicit in that conduct;
- (b) The mere occurrence of a wrongful act on the territory of a State did not, however, involve prima facie responsibility, nor even shift the burden of proof; but
- (c) As a matter of substance, the occurrence of a wrongful act on the territory of a State was *relevant* to responsibility, because a State must not knowingly allow its territory to be used for acts contrary to the rights of other States; and

³²¹ See paragraph 283 below.

³²² These were Soviet complaints to the Federal Republic of Germany at meteorological balloons launched on its territory by the United States which strayed over the border; and a protest by the Federal Republic of Germany to Austria about the Austrian Foreign Minister's presence at a speech in Vienna by Mr. Khrushchev during which he insulted the Federal Republic of Germany (see *Yearbook* ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, pp. 84–85, paras. (6)–(7) of the commentary to article 12).

³²³ See footnote 134 above.

³²⁴ For general comments on the issue of the "negative attribution" clauses, see paragraph 153 above.

³²⁵ The special case of a State organ placed at the disposal of another State is dealt with in article 9, discussed above (paras. 219–231). The special provision in article 9 clearly implies that article 12 is unnecessary.

³²⁶ In fact, they had been laid by Yugoslavia, as was suspected at the time

³²⁷ I.C.J. Reports 1949 (see footnote 134 above), p. 18.

³²⁸ Ibid., p. 22.

- (d) As a matter of evidence, the location of the act was relevant in that, without shifting the burden of proof, it might provide a basis for an inference that the territorial State knew of the situation and allowed it to occur or to continue
- 251. By comparison with these findings, the content of article 12 can be seen to raise difficulties. On the one hand, article 12 states a truism, that the location of wrongful conduct on the territory of a State is not a sufficient basis for responsibility. If that is all article 12 says, its usefulness is extremely limited, since no one suggests the contrary. But the problem is that article 12 might be understood to imply that the location of a conduct of State B on the territory of State A is legally irrelevant so far as the responsibility of State A is concerned, and this is certainly not true. The Court in the *Corfu Channel* case treated location as highly relevant.

Recommendation

252. Article 12 touches on a much broader field of the combined action of States, which is dealt with to some extent in chapter IV and which may need further elaboration. But for essentially the same reasons as for article 11, article 12 adds little or nothing as a statement of the law of attribution, 330 and it has the further disadvantages analysed above. It is recommended that it be deleted. Elements of the commentary can be included in the commentary to article 9.

(i) Article 13 (Conduct of organs of an international organization)

253. Article 13 provides that:

The conduct of an organ of an international organization acting in that capacity shall not be considered as an act of a State under international law by reason only of the fact that such conduct has taken place in the territory of that State or in any other territory under its jurisdiction.

254. The commentary points out that, unlike States, international organizations lack territory and always act on the territory of a State, usually though not invariably with the consent of that State.³³¹ It reviews the limited experience of claims by States against international organizations, noting the absence of any suggestion that

the host State is liable for such acts.³³² It stresses that "the responsibility of international organizations is governed by rules which are not necessarily the same as those governing the responsibility of States" and disclaims any intention to deal with the former subject, or with the subject of the responsibility of member States for the acts of international organizations. 333 It explains that article 13 does not repeat the savings clause contained in the other three negative attribution articles, because of a reluctance "to include in the draft any provision which might suggest the idea that the action of an international organization is subject to the controlling authority of the State in whose territory the organization is called upon to function". 334 At the same time it notes that in certain circumstances a State might become responsible for the conduct of an international organization on its territory, for example, as a result of joint action with the organization.

Comments of Government on article 13

255. As noted, a number of Governments raised issues about attribution of acts of international organizations in the context of article 9. No comments related specifically to article 13.

Responsibility of States for the conduct of international organizations

256. Over and above the problem of the "negative attribution" clauses, already discussed, article 13 raises several difficulties:

a. The irrelevance of location

257. A similar comment applies here to the issue of the location of conduct as it does in relation to article 12, but the problem of the a contrario implication which might appear to flow from the language of article 13 is greater. As has been seen, the fact of a State acting on the territory of another State is legally relevant, although it is by no means sufficient of itself to attract the responsibility of the latter. 335 But international organizations always act, as it were, on the territory of a "foreign" State. Even in relation to the host State, with which it has a special relationship, an international organization is still legally an entirely distinct entity, and the host State cannot be expected to assume any special responsibility for its conduct or its debts. Moreover, as the commentary notes, there is a principle of the independence of international organizations, different and quite possibly stronger than the position that arises when one State acts on the territory of another. 336 For these reasons, the fact that an international organiza-

³²⁹ Nor is it a *necessary* basis: a State can be responsible for its conduct in the de facto occupation or administration of territory not its own. As ICJ said in the *Namibia* case: "Physical control of a territory, and not sovereignty or legitimacy of title, is the basis of State liability for acts affecting other States." (*Legal Consequences for States of the Continued Presence of South Africa in Namibia (South West Africa) notwithstanding Security Council Resolution 276 (1970), Advisory Opinion, I.C.J. Reports 1971, p. 54.) Earlier in the same paragraph the Court had been discussing issues of State responsibility; the reference to "liability" in the English version may have been a slip. The European Court of Human Rights has strongly affirmed the same principle in <i>Loizidou v. Turkey, judgment of 23 March 1995 (Preliminary Objections), Series A No. 310*, para. 62; and ibid., *judgment of 18 December 1996 (Merits), Reports of Judgments and Decisions* 1996–VI, para. 52. Thus, even since article 12 was proposed, the link between territoriality and responsibility has been further attenuated.

³³⁰ It is significant that the two precedents for article 12 cited in the commentary (*Yearbook ... 1975*, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 85, para. (8)), are both primary rules, not rules of attribution.

³³¹ Ibid., p. 87, para. (2) of the commentary to article 13.

³³² Ibid., pp. 87–88, paras. (3)–(4).

³³³ Ibid., pp. 89–90, paras. (8)–(9).

³³⁴ Ibid., p. 91, para. (13).

 $^{^{335}}$ See paragraph 250 above for the analysis of the *Corfu Channel* case.

³³⁶ For example, the principle of the immunity of an international organization from the jurisdiction of the courts of a territorial State is more extensive than the immunity of a foreign State would be. In part, this may be a historical accident, but in part at least it reflects a functional difference between States and international organizations.

tion has acted on the territory of a State would appear to be entirely neutral, so far as concerns the responsibility of that State under international law for the acts of the organization. But if so, for article 13 to single out that neutral factor as a basis for non-attribution is extremely odd.

b. The problem of substance

258. There is a broader question of attribution to a State of the conduct of international organizations, which has acquired much greater significance since the adoption of article 13, given the controversies, inter alia, over the International Tin Council³³⁷ and the Arab Organization for Industrialization.³³⁸ The most detailed study of that problem which takes these developments into account is that of the Institute of International Law, which produced a carefully considered resolution in 1995. 339 That resolution does not mention the location of the organization or of its activities as a relevant factor in determining State responsibility for its acts. Indeed, article 6 of the resolution, which lists a number of factors which are not to be taken into account for that purpose, does not mention territorial location. Evidently it was thought completely irrelevant.

Recommendation

- 259. The responsibility of States for the acts of international organizations needs to be treated in its own right, in the context of the broader range of issues relating to responsibility for the acts of international organizations. As a statement of the law of attribution, article 13 raises awkward *a contrario* issues without resolving them in any way. It should be deleted. Instead, a savings clause should be inserted, reserving any question of the responsibility under international law of an international organization or of any State for the acts of an international organization. State for the commentary to article 13 can be included in the commentary to that savings clause.
- (j) Article 14 (Conduct of organs of an insurrectional movement)/Article 15 (Attribution to the State of the act of an insurrectional movement which becomes the new government of a State or which results in the formation of a new State)

260. The position of "insurrectional movements" is dealt with in two articles, which reflects the substantial historical importance of the problem and the considerable bulk of earlier arbitral jurisprudence. Article 14 is the "negative" attribution clause, article 15 the affirmative one. It is convenient to deal with them together.

261. Article 14 provides that:

- 1. The conduct of an organ of an insurrectional movement which is established in the territory of a State or in any other territory under its administration shall not be considered as an act of that State under international law.
- 2. Paragraph 1 is without prejudice to the attribution to a State of any other conduct which is related to that of the organ of the insurrectional movement and which is to be considered as an act of that State by virtue of articles 5 to 10.
- 3. Similarly, paragraph 1 is without prejudice to the attribution of the conduct of the organ of the insurrectional movement to that movement in any case in which such attribution may be made under international law.

262. Article 15 provides that:

- 1. The act of an insurrectional movement which becomes the new government of a State shall be considered as an act of that State. However, such attribution shall be without prejudice to the attribution to that State of conduct which would have been previously considered as an act of the State by virtue of articles 5 to 10.
- 2. The act of an insurrectional movement whose action results in the formation of a new State in part of the territory of a pre-existing State or in a territory under its administration shall be considered as an act of the new State.
- 263. In its commentary to article 14, the Commission notes that, once an organized insurrectional movement comes into existence as a matter of fact, it will rarely if ever be possible to impute responsibility to the State, since the movement will by then be "entirely beyond its control". ³⁴¹ After analysing the extensive arbitral jurisprudence, ³⁴² diplomatic practice, ³⁴³ and the literature, ³⁴⁴ it affirms strongly that the State on whose territory the insurrectional movement is located is not responsible for the latter's conduct, unless in very special circumstances where the State should have acted to prevent the harm. That rule is stated in categorical terms; in particular it is denied that the State is responsible for or is bound to respect "routine administrative acts performed by the organs of the insurrectional movement in that part of the State territory which is under their control". 345 On the other hand, the insurrectional movement itself may be held responsible for its own acts.³⁴⁶
- 264. The commentary explains the two rules set out in article 15 on the basis of the organizational continuity of an insurrectional movement which succeeds in displacing the previous government of the State or even in forming

³³⁷ J. H. Rayner Ltd. v. Dept. of Trade and Industry, case 2 AC 418 (1990) (United Kingdom, House of Lords), and International Law Reports, vol. 81, p. 670; Maclaine Watson & Company Limited v. Council and Commission of the European Communities, Court of Justice of the European Communities, case C-241/87, Reports of Cases before the Court of Justice and the Court of First Instance 1990–5, p. I-1797.

³³⁸ Westland Helicopters Ltd v. Arab Organization for Industrialization, International Law Reports, vol. 80 (1985), p. 595 (International Chamber of Commerce, Court of Arbitration); Arab Organization for Industrialization and Others v. Westland Helicopters Ltd, ibid. (1988), p. 622 (Switzerland, Federal Supreme Court); and Westland Helicopters Ltd v. Arab Organization for Industrialization, ibid., vol. 108 (1994), p. 564 (England, High Court).

³³⁹ Institute of International Law, *Yearbook*, vol. 66, part II (Session of Lisbon, 1995), p. 445. For the *travaux préparatoires*, see part I (ibid.), p. 251.

³⁴⁰ For the parallel recommendation to delete references to international organizations in article 9, see paragraph 231 above.

³⁴¹ Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 92, para. (4) of the commentary to article 14.

³⁴² Ibid., pp. 93–95, paras. (12)–(18).

³⁴³ Ibid., pp. 95–97, paras. (19)–(23).

³⁴⁴ Ibid., pp. 97–98, paras. (24)–(27).

³⁴⁵ Ibid., p. 98, para. (26).

 $^{^{346}}$ Ibid., pp. 98–99, para. (28), with reference to some older precedents.

a new State on part of its territory.³⁴⁷ This has nothing to do with State succession; in the former case there is no succession of States, and in the latter the rule of continuity applies whether or not the predecessor State was responsible for the conduct itself (under article 14, it will almost always not be).³⁴⁸ Thus it is not clear what the systematic or structural basis for responsibility is, but the earlier jurisprudence and doctrine, at least, firmly support the two rules set out in article 15.³⁴⁹

265. In formulating both the "negative attribution" rule in article 14 and the positive rule in article 15, the Commission made "no distinction … between different categories of insurrectional movements on the basis of any international 'legitimacy' or any illegality in respect of their establishment as the government, despite the possible importance of such distinctions in other contexts". ³⁵⁰

Comments of Governments on articles 14 and 15

266. Austria remarks that:

The issue of the conduct of organs of an insurrectional movement contained in draft articles 14 and 15 leaves considerable doubt and requires further consideration. This pertains in particular to draft articles 14, paragraph 2, and 15, paragraph 1 ... The relationship between the first and the second sentence of draft article 15, paragraph 1, should for instance be re-examined in the light of the experience gained in Eastern Europe following the breakdown of the Iron Curtain and other instances of civil unrest. ³⁵¹

In an earlier comment, Austria had noted that article 14 did not expressly deal with "the case of an insurrectional movement, *recognized by foreign States as a local* de facto *government*, which in the end does not establish itself in any of the modes covered by article 15 but is defeated by the central authorities", and had called for clarification. 352

267. France proposes new wording for article 14, establishing a presumption of responsibility subject to exoneration in the event of *force majeure* etc., combined with the deletion of paragraphs 2 and 3 whose scope is "singularly unclear". It thus proposes an entirely new formulation in the following terms:

The conduct of an organ or agent of an insurrectional movement in the territory of a State or in any other territory under its jurisdiction shall not be considered as an act of that State if:

- (a) The State in question establishes that the act is attributable to the insurrectional movement; and
- (b) The State in question establishes that it exercised the functions pertaining to its territorial jurisdiction over the territories concerned in a lawful manner ³⁵³

268. The United Kingdom notes that:

It is desirable that a new Government should not be able to escape international responsibility for the acts that brought it to power, especially as there is a particular likelihood of injury to foreign States and nationals during an insurrection. On the other hand, to entitle ... successful insurrectionists to consent to departures from legal obligations owed to their national State might be thought to promote the non-observance of such obligations at a critical juncture for the State, and even to encourage intervention by third States in its internal affairs. It might therefore be thought preferable, in the interest of stability, to adopt the position that only the incumbent Government may consent to departures from legal obligations. ³⁵⁴

This comment goes not so much to article 15 as to the question of whether or in what circumstances the consent given by an insurrectional movement may bind the State for the purpose of article 30. It will accordingly be considered when discussing that article.

The definition of "insurrectional movement"

269. The commentary declines to attempt any definition of an "insurrectional movement", on the ground that this is a matter for the international law of personality rather than of responsibility.³⁵⁵ It does, however, note that insurrectional movements are intended to be covered whether they are based on the territory of the "target" State or on the territory of a third State.³⁵⁶ This calls for several remarks.

270. First of all, the insurrectional movements considered in the earlier cases were by no means all at a level which might have entailed their having international personality as belligerents, and subsequent developments have done little to confirm the concept of the legal personality of belligerent forces in general. For example, recognition of belligerency in internal armed conflict is in virtual desuetude. Instead the threshold for the application of the laws of armed conflict contained in the Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of Non-International Armed Conflicts (Protocol II) may be taken as a guide. Article 1, paragraph 1, refers to "dissident armed forces or other organized armed groups which, under responsible command, exercise such control over a part of [the relevant State's] territory as to enable them to carry out sustained and concerted military operations and to implement this Protocol", and it contrasts such groups with "situations of internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots, isolated and sporadic acts of violence and other acts of a similar nature" (art. 1, para. 2). This definition of "dissident armed forces" would appear to reflect, in the context of the Protocols, the essential idea of an

³⁴⁷ Ibid., pp. 100–101, paras. (2)–(6) of the commentary to article 15. Although organizational continuity is given as the justification, it is also said that the rule extends "to the case of a coalition government formed following an agreement between the 'legitimate' authorities and the leaders of the revolutionary movement" (ibid., p. 104, para. (17)). It is doubtful how far this principle should be pressed in cases of governments of national reconciliation. A State should not be made responsible for the acts of a violent opposition movement merely because, in the interests of an overall peace settlement, elements of the opposition are drawn into a reconstructed government. In this respect, the commentary needs some qualification.

³⁴⁸ Ibid., p. 101, para. (8).

³⁴⁹ Ibid., pp. 102–104, paras. (9)–(16). Only one case of practice is cited subsequent to 1930. For an analysis of doctrine and codification attempts, see pages 104–105, paras. (18)–(19).

³⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 105, para. (20).

³⁵¹ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by Austria on articles 14 and 15.

³⁵² Yearbook ... 1980, vol. II (Part One), document A/CN.4/328 and Add.1–4, p. 92, para. 38.

 $^{^{353}}$ A/CN.4/488 and Add.1–3 (reproduced in the present volume), comments by France on article 14, paras. 1–3.

³⁵⁴ Ibid., comments by the United Kingdom on article 29, para. 1.

 $^{^{355}}$ Yearbook ... 1975, vol. II, document A/10010/Rev.1, p. 92, para. (5) of the commentary to article 14.

³⁵⁶ Ibid., p. 99, para. (29).

"insurrectional movement", but even a movement which clearly possessed all the characteristics listed in article 1, paragraph 2, would not necessarily be regarded as having international legal personality. Moreover, if the rationale for the rule of attribution in article 15 is one of institutional continuity and of the continuing responsibility of the entities concerned for their own acts while they were in armed opposition, there is no reason why it should be limited to situations where the insurrectional movement is recognized as having legal personality.

271. Secondly, these Protocols make a sharp distinction between "dissident" groups covered by Protocol II and national liberation movements covered by Protocol I (Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts). The latter are defined by article 1, paragraph 4, as engaged in a legitimate struggle for self-determination.³⁵⁷ It has been objected that articles 14 and 15 fail to distinguish between the two cases, but for the purposes of the law of attribution it is not clear that such a distinction should be made. 358 Whether particular conduct is attributable to a State or other entity, and whether there has been a breach of an obligation are different questions, and the distinctions between Protocols I and II may be relevant to the latter. 359 But that provides no rationale for the differential treatment of different categories of insurrectional movement for the purposes of chapter II. For these reasons, it should be irrelevant to the application of the rules stated in articles 14 and 15 whether and to what extent the insurrectional movement has international legal personality.

The substantive rules reflected in articles 14 and 15

272. Turning to the substance of the rules stated in the two articles, the first point to note is that article 14, paragraph 3, deals with the international responsibility of liberation movements which are, *ex hypothesi*, not States. It therefore falls outside the scope of the draft articles and should be omitted. The responsibility of such movements, for example, for breaches of international humanitarian law, can certainly be envisaged, but this can be dealt with in the commentary.

273. The basic principle stated in article 14 is well established, as the authorities cited in the commentary show. It is true that the possibility of the State being held responsible independently for the acts of insurrectional movements remains, but this would of course be true in any event, since the "positive attribution" articles are cumulative in their effect; there is no need to state this specifically in article 14, paragraph 2. 360 That leaves article 14, paragraph 1, as an isolated "negative attribution" clause.

For the reasons already given, such provisions are unnecessary and undesirable within the framework of article 3 and chapter $\rm II.^{361}$

274. The few judicial decisions on the issues presented by article 15 are inconsistent. In Minister of Defence, Namibia v. Mwandinghi, the High Court of Namibia had to interpret a provision of the new Constitution accepting responsibility for "anything done" by the predecessor administration of South Africa. The question was whether this made Namibia responsible for delicts committed by the South African armed forces. The Court held that it did, on the basis of a presumption that the acquired right of the claimant to damages in pending proceedings, a right which existed immediately prior to independence, should not be negated, especially having regard to the new State's policy of general continuity. In the course of a decision essentially founded on the interpretation of the Namibian Constitution, the Court nonetheless expressed the view that, under article 15, "the new government inherits responsibility for the acts committed by the previous organs of the State". ³⁶² With all due respect, this confuses the situations covered by paragraphs 1 and 2. Namibia, as a new State created as the result, inter alia, of the actions of the South West Africa People's Organization, a recognized national liberation movement, was not responsible for the conduct of South Africa in respect of its territory. That it assumed such a responsibility attests to its concern for individual rights, but it was not required by the principles of article 15.

275. At the other extreme is a decision of the High Court of Uganda in 44123 Ontario Ltd v. Crispus Kiyonga and Others. That case concerned a contract made by a Canadian company with the National Resistance Movement at a time when the latter was an "insurrectional movement"; it later became the Government, but denied its liability to perform the remainder of the contract, although a substantial performance bond was returned to the company. Without any reference to international law or to article 15, the Court rejected the claim. It said, inter alia, that "at the time of the contract the Republic of Uganda had a well established government and therefore there cannot have been two governments contending for power whose acts must be recognized as valid". 363

Conclusion

276. Despite inconsistencies such as these, it should be noted that the two positive attribution rules in article 15 seem to be accepted, and to strike a fair balance *at the level of attribution* in terms of the conflicting interests involved. It is true that there are continuing difficulties of rationalization, but there has so far been no suggestion in government comments or in the literature that the substantive rules should be deleted: if anything the proposals are

³⁵⁷ See generally Wilson, *International Law and the Use of Force by National Liberation Movements*.

 $^{^{358}\,\}mathrm{See}$ Atlam, "National liberation movements and international responsibility", p. 35.

³⁵⁹ Under article 1, paragraph 4, of Protocol I, national liberation movements are subject to higher standards of conduct and responsibility than are dissident armed forces covered by article 1, paragraph 1, of Protocol II.

³⁶⁰ France's proposed version of article 14 (para. 267 above) fails to take account of the distinction between attribution and breach of obligation, and appears to specify a primary rule. As will be seen, how-

ever, the structure proposed by France is partly adopted in article 15 (see paragraph 277 below).

³⁶¹ See paragraphs 142 and 153 above.

³⁶² The South African Law Reports (1992 (2)), pp. 359–360; and International Law Reports, vol. 91 (1993), p. 361.

³⁶³ Kampala Law Reports (1992), vol. 11, p. 20; and International Law Reports, vol. 103 (1966), p. 266. It should be noted that the Government had relied on a number of other legal defences potentially available under the proper law of the contract.

for reinforcement. It should be stressed, however, that the rules of attribution in the law of State responsibility have a limited function, and are without prejudice to questions of the validity and novation of contracts under their proper law, or to any question of State succession.³⁶⁴

277. It is suggested, therefore, that the essential principles stated in articles 14, paragraph 1, and 15, paragraphs 1–2, should be restated in a single article. Despite the difficulties with negative attribution clauses standing alone, it seems desirable to specify article 15 in the form of a negative rule subject to certain exceptions: this avoids the problem of circularity and will provide some assurance to Governments that they will not be held generally responsible for the acts of insurrectional groups. ³⁶⁵

(k) Subsequent adoption of conduct by a State

278. All the bases for attribution covered in chapter II (with the exception of the conduct of insurrectional movements under article 15) assume that the status of the person or body as a State organ, or its mandate to act on behalf of the State, are established at the time of the allegedly wrongful conduct. But that is not a necessary prerequisite to responsibility. A State might subsequently adopt or ratify conduct not otherwise attributable to it; if so, there is no reason why it should not be treated as responsible for the conduct. Adoption or ratification might be expressed or might be inferred from the conduct of the State in question. This additional possibility needs to be considered.

The Lighthouses Arbitration

279. There were, in fact, examples of this in judicial decisions and State practice before the adoption of chapter II. For example in the Lighthouses Arbitration, an arbitral tribunal held Greece liable for the breach of a concession agreement initiated by Crete at a period when it was an autonomous territory of the Ottoman Empire, partly on the basis that the breach had been "endorsed by [Greece] as if it had been a regular transaction ... and eventually continued by her, even after the acquisition of territorial sovereignty over the island". 366 It is no accident that this was a case of State succession. There is a widely held view that a new State does not, in general, succeed to any State responsibility of the predecessor State with respect to its territory. 367 But if the successor State, faced with a continuing wrongful act on its territory, endorses and continues that situation, the inference may readily be drawn that it has assumed responsibility for the wrongful act.

The United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran case

280. This was also found to be the case, outside the context of State succession, in *United States Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Tehran*.³⁶⁸ There ICJ drew a clear distinction between the legal situation immediately following the seizure of the United States Embassy and its personnel by the militants, and that created by a decree of the Islamic Republic of Iran which expressly approved and maintained the situation they had created. In the words of the Court:

The policy thus announced by the Ayatollah Khomeini, of maintaining the occupation of the Embassy and the detention of its inmates as hostages for the purpose of exerting pressure on the United States Government was complied with by other Iranian authorities and endorsed by them repeatedly in statements made in various contexts. The result of that policy was fundamentally to transform the legal nature of the situation created by the occupation of the Embassy and the detention of its diplomatic and consular staff as hostages. The approval given to these facts by the Ayatollah Khomeini and other organs of the Iranian State, and the decision to perpetuate them, translated continuing occupation of the Embassy and detention of the hostages into acts of that State. The militants, authors of the invasion and jailers of the hostages, had now become agents of the Iranian State for whose acts the State itself was internationally responsible. On 6 May 1980, the Minister for Foreign Affairs, Mr. Ghotbzadeh, is reported to have said in a television interview that the occupation of the United States Embassy had been "done by our nation". 369

It is not clear from this passage whether the effect of the "approval" of the conduct of the militants was merely prospective, or whether it made the State of the Islamic Republic of Iran responsible for the whole process of seizure of the embassy and detention of its personnel ab initio. In fact, it made little difference which position was taken, since the Islamic Republic of Iran was held responsible in relation to the earlier period on a different legal basis, viz. its failure to take sufficient action to prevent the seizure or to bring it to an immediate end.³⁷⁰ But circumstances can be envisaged in which no such prior responsibility could have existed, for example, where the State in question adopted the wrongful conduct as soon as it became aware of it, or as soon as it assumed control over the territory concerned. If the adoption is unequivocal and unqualified (as was the statement of the Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Islamic Republic of Iran, quoted by the Court in the passage above), there is good reason to give it retroactive effect, and this is what the Tribunal did in the *Lighthouses* Arbitration.³⁷¹ This has the desirable consequence of allowing the injured State to obtain reparation in respect of the whole transaction or event. It is also consistent with the position established by article 15 for insurrectional movements.

Recommendation

281. For these reasons, the draft articles should contain a provision stating that conduct not otherwise attributable to a State is so attributable if and to the extent that the conduct is subsequently adopted by that State. In formulating such a provision, it is necessary to draw a distinction between the mere approval of a situation and its actual

³⁶⁴ Questions of State succession may be raised by the ICJ reservation with respect to the routine administrative acts of South Africa in Legal Consequences for States of the Continued Presence of South Africa in Namibia (South West Africa) notwithstanding Security Council Resolution 276 (1970) (footnote 329 above), p. 56, para. 125.

³⁶⁵ For the proposed formulation, see paragraph 284 below and the notes.

³⁶⁶ UNRIAA, vol. XII (Sales No. 63.V.3), p. 198.

³⁶⁷ See O'Connell, State Succession in Municipal Law and International Law, p. 482.

³⁶⁸ Judgment, I.C.J. Reports 1980, p. 3.

³⁶⁹ Ibid., p. 35, para. 74.

³⁷⁰ Ibid., pp. 31–33.

³⁷¹ UNRIAA (footnote 366 above), pp. 197–198; and *International Law Reports*, 1956, vol. 23, pp. 91–92.

adoption. In international controversies, States may take positions on the desirability of certain conduct, positions which may amount to "approval" or "endorsement" in some general sense but which clearly do not involve any assumption of responsibility. In the *United States Diplo*matic and Consular Staff in Tehran case, the Court used such phrases as "approval", "endorsement", "the seal of official governmental approval", "the decision to perpetuate [the situation]", and in the context of that case these terms were sufficient for the purpose. As a general criterion, however, the notion of "approval" or "endorsement" is too wide. Thus, for the purposes of article 27 (Aid or assistance by a State to another State for the commission of an internationally wrongful act), it is clear that mere approval or endorsement by one State of the unlawful conduct of another is not a sufficient basis for the responsibility of the former. It is suggested that the proposed provision use the language of "adoption", which already appears in the literature³⁷² and which carries the idea that the conduct is acknowledged by the State as, in effect, its own conduct.³⁷³ The commentary should make it clear that adoption or acknowledgement must be unequivocal. 374

- 282. It should be stressed that the proposed rule is one of attribution only. In respect of conduct which has been adopted, it will always be necessary to consider whether the conduct contravenes the international obligations of the adopting State at the relevant time. The question of the complicity of one State in the wrongful conduct of another is dealt with in chapter IV of part one. For the purposes of adoption of conduct, the international obligations of the adopting State should be the criterion for wrongfulness. The conduct may have been lawful so far as the original actor was concerned, or the actor may have been a private party whose conduct was not directly regulated by international law at all. By the same token, a State which adopts or acknowledges conduct which is lawful in terms of its own international obligations, would not thereby assume responsibility for the unlawful conduct of any other person or entity. In such cases, it would need to go further and clearly assume the responsibility to pay compensation.
- 283. As to the location of the proposed article, since it is a supplementary basis of responsibility, it is suggested that it be included as article 15 *bis*. The proposed article can make it clear that, except in the case of adoption or other cases covered by the preceding articles, conduct is not attributable to the State, and this can be suitably reinforced in the commentary. In this way the proposed article 15 *bis* can also perform the function of the former article 11.³⁷⁵

3. Summary of recommendations in relation to chapter II

284. For the reasons given, the Special Rapporteur proposes the following articles in chapter II of part one. The notes appended to each article explain very briefly the changes that are proposed. They are merely for the purposes of explanation at this stage and are not intended to substitute for the formal commentary.

CHAPTER II

ATTRIBUTION OF CONDUCT TO THE STATE UNDER INTERNATIONAL LAW

Article 5. Attribution to the State of the conduct of its organs

For the purposes of the present articles, the conduct of any State organ acting in that capacity shall be considered an act of that State under international law, whether the organ exercises constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or any other functions, and whatever the position that it holds in the organization of the State.

Note

- 1. Article 5 combines into a single article the substance of former articles 5, 6 and 7, paragraph 1. The reference to a "State organ" includes an organ of any territorial governmental entity within the State, on the same basis as the central governmental organs of that State: this is made clear by the final phrase, "whatever the position that it holds in the organization of the State".
- 2. Chapter II deals with attribution for the purposes of the law of State responsibility, hence the phrase "For the purposes of the present articles" in article 5.
- 3. The requirement that an organ should have "that status under the internal law of that State" is deleted, for the reasons explained in paragraph 163 above. The status and powers that a body has under the law of the State in question are obviously relevant in determining whether that body is an "organ" of the State. But a State cannot avoid responsibility for the conduct of a body which does in truth act as one of its organs merely by denying it that status under its own law.
- 4. The requirement that the organ in question should have acted in its capacity as such is retained, but it is no longer formulated as a proviso, thereby avoiding any inference that the claimant has any special burden of showing that the act of a State organ was not carried out in a private capacity.
- 5. The words "whether the organ exercises constituent, legislative, executive, judicial or any other functions" are words of extension and not limitation. Any conduct of a State organ, in its capacity as such, is attributable to the State, irrespective of the classification of the function performed or power exercised. In particular, no distinction is drawn for the purposes of attribution in the law of State responsibility between acta jure imperii and acta jure gestionis. It is sufficient that the conduct is that of an organ of the State acting in that capacity.
- 6. The phrase "whether it holds a superior or a subordinate position" might imply that organs which are independent and which cannot be classified as either "superior" or "subordinate" are excluded, whereas the intention is to cover all organs whatever their position within the State. The language proposed in article 5 is intended to make that clear.

³⁷² See, for example, Brownlie, op. cit., pp. 157–158 and 161.

³⁷³ Although the term "ratification" is sometimes used in this context, it should be avoided because of its formal connotations in the law of treaties and in the constitutional law of many States. In the context of State responsibility, adoption of conduct may be informal and inferred from conduct.

³⁷⁴ Thus in the *Lighthouses* Arbitration, Greece was held not to be responsible for a completed violation of the claimant's rights, attributable to the autonomous Government of Crete, even though it had previously indicated that it was disposed to pay some compensation (UNRIAA (footnote 366 above), p. 196; and *International Law Reports*, 1956, p. 89)

 $^{^{375}}$ See paragraphs 241–245 above, where the deletion of article 11 is proposed.

Article 6. Irrelevance of the position of the organ in the organization of the State

Note

Article 6 as adopted on first reading was not a rule of attribution but rather an explanation as to the content and effect of article 5. It is convenient and economical to include the qualification in article 5 itself, with minor drafting amendments. On that basis, article 6 can be deleted without any loss of content to chapter II as a whole.

Article 7. Attribution to the State of the conduct of separate entities empowered to exercise elements of the governmental authority

The conduct of an entity which is not part of the formal structure of the State but which is empowered by the law of that State to exercise elements of the governmental authority shall also be considered as an act of the State under international law, provided the entity was acting in that capacity in the case in question.

Note

- 1. Article 7, paragraph 1, as adopted on first reading, dealt with bodies which should be considered as part of the State in the general sense. As explained in paragraph 188 above, for the purposes of State responsibility, all governmental entities which constitute "organs" are treated as part of the State, and this was made clear by the general language of what was article 6 and is now proposed as part of article 5. Paragraph 1 is accordingly deleted.
- 2. The remaining paragraph (formerly paragraph 2) deals with the important problem of "parastatals" or "separate entities", which are not part of the formal structure of the State in the sense of article 5 but which exercise elements of the governmental authority of that State.
- 3. In contrast to State organs in the sense of article 5, the normal situation will be that these "separate entities" do not act on behalf of the State; but if they are empowered to exercise elements of governmental authority, their conduct may, nonetheless, be attributed to the State. It is appropriate to make the distinction between the two cases by retaining the proviso in article 7 ("provided the entity was acting in that capacity in the case in question").
- 4. The reference to internal law was deleted from article 5 for reasons explained above, and there is a case for doing the same in relation to article 7. On balance, however, the reference to internal law has been maintained. By definition, these entities are not part of the formal structure of the State, but they exercise governmental authority in some respect; the usual and obvious basis for that exercise will be a delegation or authorization by or under the law of the State. The position of separate entities acting in fact on behalf of the State is sufficiently covered by article 8.
- 5. The earlier reference to "an organ of an entity" has been deleted, on the ground that the entities are very diverse and may not have identifiable "organs". It is sufficient that the conduct is properly regarded as that of the entity in question, but it is impossible to identify in advance when this will be the case.

Article 8. Attribution to the State of conduct in fact carried out on its instructions or under its direction and control

The conduct of a person or group of persons shall also be considered as an act of the State under international law if:

- (a) The person or group of persons was in fact acting on the instructions of, or under the direction and control of, that State in carrying out the conduct; or
- (b) The person or group of persons was in fact exercising elements of the governmental authority in the absence of the official authorities and in circumstances which called for the exercise of those elements of authority.

Note

- 1. Article 8 (a) deals with the case of conduct carried out for a State by someone in fact acting on its behalf, for example by virtue of a specific authorization or mandate. The reference to a "person or group of persons" is not limited to natural persons but includes other entities. It does not matter whether or not a group or entity has separate legal personality for this purpose.
- 2. In addition (and for the reasons given in paragraphs 212–213 above), article 8 (a) should cover the situation where a person, group or entity is acting under the direction and control of a State in carrying out particular conduct. In short, article 8 (a) should cover cases of agency and cases of direction and control; in both cases, the person who carries out the conduct is acting in fact on behalf of the State. On the other hand, the power or potential of a State to control certain activity (for example, the power inherent in territorial sovereignty, or in the ownership of a corporation) is not of itself sufficient. For the purposes of attribution, the control must actually be exercised so as to produce the desired conduct. This is intended to be conveyed by the requirement that the person should be acting "under the direction and control of the State in carrying out the particular conduct".
- 3. Subparagraph (b) deals with the special case of entities performing governmental functions on the territory of a State in circumstances of governmental collapse or vacuum. It is retained from the text as adopted on first reading, subject only to minor drafting amendments. The most significant of these is the substitution of the phrase "called for" instead of "justified"; as to which, see paragraphs 217-218 above.

Article 9. Attribution to the State of the conduct of organs placed at its disposal by another State

The conduct of an organ placed at the disposal of a State by another State shall be considered an act of the former State under international law if the organ was acting in the exercise of elements of the governmental authority of the State at whose disposal it had been placed.

Note

- 1. Article 9 as adopted on first reading dealt both with organs of other States and of international organizations placed at the disposal of a State. For the reasons given in paragraph 231 above, the reference to international organizations has been deleted. Article 9 is, however, retained in its application to organs of States, subject to minor drafting amendments.
- 2. The situation covered by article 9 is to be distinguished from cases where another State acts on the territory of a State but for its own purposes, with or without the consent of the territorial State. In such cases, the organ in question is not "placed at the disposal" of the territorial State and, unless there is some other basis for attribution, the territorial State is not responsible for its conduct. This "rule of non-attribution" was previously covered by article 12, but for the reasons given in paragraphs 251–252, it is recommended that that article be deleted. The commentary to article 12 should be incorporated in the revised commentary to article 9.

Article 10. Attribution to the State of conduct of organs acting outside their competence or contrary to instructions concerning their activity

The conduct of an organ of a State or of an entity empowered to exercise elements of the governmental authority, such organ or entity having acted in that capacity, shall be considered an act of the State under international law even if, in the particular case, the organ or entity exceeded its authority or contravened instructions concerning its exercise.

Note

- 1. This important principle is retained with minor amendments from the text adopted on first reading. See paragraphs 235–240 above.
- 2. The minor amendments are as follows: first, the reference to "territorial governmental entities" is deleted, consequential upon the deletion of article 7, paragraph 1. Territorial governmental entities within a State are subsumed as organs of the State in article 5. Secondly, the term "authority" is preferred to the previous term "competence according to internal law" (see paragraph 240 above). In addition, the words "or entity" need to be inserted in the first sentence for the sake of completeness, and in the second sentence it is more elegant to refer to the "exercise" of authority than to an "activity".

Article 11. Conduct of persons not acting on behalf of the State

Note

For the reasons given in paragraphs 241–245 above, it is recommended that article 11 be deleted. However, the substantial point which it seeks to make is covered by the proposed new article 15 *bis*, to which the commentary to article 11 can be attached.

Article 12. Conduct of organs of another State

Note

For the reasons given in paragraphs 246-247 above, it is recommended that article 12 be deleted. Aspects of the commentary to article 12 can be included in the commentary to article 9.

Article 13. Conduct of organs of an international organization

Note

For the reasons given in paragraphs 253–259 above, it is recommended that article 13 be deleted. Instead, there should be a savings clause referring to international responsibility of or for international organizations.³⁷⁶ Elements of the commentary to article 12 can be included in the commentary to that savings clause.

Article A. Responsibility of or for the conduct of an international organization

These draft articles shall not prejudge any question that may arise in regard to the responsibility under international law of an international organization or of any State for the conduct of an international organization.

Article 14. Conduct of organs of an insurrectional movement

Note

For the reasons given in paragraphs 272–273 above, it is recommended that article 14 be deleted. The substance of paragraph 1 and of the commentary to article 14 can be included in the commentary to article 15.

Article 15. Conduct of organs of an insurrectional movement

- 1. The conduct of an organ of an insurrectional movement, established in opposition to a State or to its government, shall not be considered an act of that State under international law unless:
- (a) The insurrectional movement succeeds in becoming the new Government of that State; or
- (b) The conduct is otherwise considered to be an act of that State under articles 5, 7, 8, 9 or 15 bis.
- 2. The conduct of an organ of an insurrectional movement whose action results in the formation of a new State shall be considered an act of the new State under international law.

Note

- 1. For the reasons given in paragraphs 276–277 above, it is desirable to retain an article dealing with the conduct of insurrectional movements to the extent (but only to the extent) that such conduct may give rise to the responsibility of a State. Article 15 maintains the substance of article 15 as adopted on first reading.
- 2. Consistently with the scope of the draft articles as a whole, article 15 does not deal with any issue of the responsibility of entities which are not States, nor does it take any position on whether or to what extent "insurrectional movements" may be internationally responsible for their own conduct, or may in other respects have international legal personality.
- 3. Nor does article 15 define the point at which an opposition group within a State qualifies as an "insurrectional movement" for these purposes: this is a matter which can only be determined on the basis of the facts in each case, in the light of the authorities cited in the commentary. However, a distinction must be drawn between the more or less uncoordinated conduct of the supporters of such a movement and conduct which for whatever reason is attributable to an "organ" of that movement. Thus, the language of article 15 has been changed to refer to "the conduct of an organ of an insurrectional movement".
- 4. Paragraph 1 is proposed in negative form to meet concerns expressed about the attribution to the State of unsuccessful insurrectional movements. Unless otherwise attributable to the State under other provisions of chapter II, the acts of such unsuccessful movements are not attributable to the State.

Article 15 bis. Conduct of persons not acting on behalf of the State which is subsequently adopted or acknowledged by that State

Conduct which is not attributable to a State under articles 5, 7, 8, 9 or 15 shall be considered an act of that State if and to the extent that the State subsequently acknowledges or adopts that conduct as its own.

³⁷⁶ Such a savings clause might read as follows:

Note

- 1. This is a new provision, which is proposed for the reasons given in paragraphs 278-279.
- 2. The phrase "if and to the extent that" is intended to convey the idea: (a) that the conduct of, in particular, private persons, groups or entities is not attributable to the State unless it is under some other

article of chapter II, or unless it has been adopted or acknowledged; (b) that a State might acknowledge responsibility for conduct only to a certain extent; and (c) that the act of adoption or acknowledgement, whether it takes the form of words or conduct, must be clear and unequivocal. The phrase "adopts or acknowledges that conduct as its own" is intended to distinguish cases of adoption from cases of mere support or endorsement by third parties. The question of aid or assistance by third States to internationally wrongful conduct is dealt with in chapter IV of part one.

Annex

SELECT BIBLIOGRAPHY ON STATE RESPONSIBILITY

The present bibliography includes works published since 1985 on subjects related to the Commission's draft articles on State responsibility. An earlier listing is contained in Marina Spinedi, "Bibliography on the codification of State responsibility by the United Nations", in Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility* (New York, Oceana Publications, 1987), pp. 395–407.

ABI-SAAB, Georges

"The concept of 'international crimes' and its place in contemporary international law", *in* Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., *International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility*. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 141–150.

ACOSTA ESTÉVEZ, José B.

"Normas de *ius cogens*, efecto *erga omnes*, crimen internacional y la teoría de los circulos concéntricos", *Anuario de derecho internacional* (Pamplona), vol. XI, 1995, pp. 3–22.

Ago, Roberto

- "Le délit international", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1939—II. Paris, 1939. Vol. 68, pp. 419–554.
- Scritti sulla responsabilità internazionale degli Stati. Vols. II, parts 1 and 2. University of Camerino, Jovene, 1986.
- "Obligations *erga omnes* and the international community", *in* Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., *International Crimes of State:* A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 237–238.

AKEHURST, Michael

"Reprisals by third States", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1970 (London), vol. 44, pp. 1–18.

AKHAVAN, Payam and Morten BERGSMO

"The application of the doctrine of State responsibility to refugee creating States", *Nordic Journal of International Law*, vol. 58, 1989, pp. 243–256.

ALAIMO, Maria Luisa

"The nature of consent in internationally wrongful acts", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXV, 1982, pp. 257–287.

ALDRICH, George H.

The Jurisprudence of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1996.

ALEXIDZE, Levan

"Legal nature of *jus cogens* in contemporary international law", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1981–III.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1982. Vol. 172, pp. 219–270.

ALKEMA, Evert

"Written communication on 'responsibilities deriving from the implementation of the European Convention on Human Rights: responsibilities for States parties to the Convention'", *Proceedings of the Sixth International Colloquy about the European Convention on Human Rights, Seville, 13–16 November 1985.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1988, pp. 706–731.

ALLAND, Denis

- "La légitime défense et les contre-mesures dans la codification du droit international de la responsabilité", *Journal du droit international* (Paris), vol. 110, No. 1, 1983, pp. 728–762.
- "International responsibility and sanctions: self-defence and countermeasures in the ILC codification of rules governing international responsibility", in Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 143–195.
- Justice privée et ordre juridique international: étude théorique des contre-mesures en droit international public. Paris, Pedone, 1994. 503 p.

ALLOTT, Philip

"State responsibility and the unmaking of international law", *Harvard International Law Journal*, vol. 29, No. 1, winter 1988, pp. 1–26.

ALZAMORA, Carlos

"Reflections on the UN Compensation Commission", *Arbitration International*, vol. 9, No. 4, 1993, pp. 349–358.

AMERASINGHE. C. F.

"Issues of compensation for the taking of alien property in the light of recent cases and practice", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly* (London), vol. 41, 1992, pp. 22–65.

ANDERSON, Michael R.

"State obligations in a transnational dispute: the Bhopal case", *in* W. E. Butler, ed., *Control over Compliance with International Law*. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1991, pp. 83–95.

Ando, Nisuke

- "State responsibility in international law", *Kihon hōgaku*, vol. 5. Tokyo, Iwanami Shoten, 1985, pp. 107–136. In Japanese.
- "The content and problems of the draft articles on State responsibility of the International Law

Commission", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy*, vol. 93, Nos. 3–4, 1994, pp. 322–362. In Japanese.

ANNACKER, Claudia

- "Part two of the International Law Commission's draft articles on State responsibility", *German Year-book of International Law* (Berlin), vol. 37, 1994, pp. 206–253.
- "The legal régime of *erga omnes* obligations in international law", *Austrian Journal of Public and International Law* (Vienna), vol. 46, No. 2, 1994, pp. 131–166.
- Die Durchsetzung von erga omnes Verpflichtungen vor dem Internationalen Gerichtshof. Hamburg, Kovač, 1994.

ANZILOTTI, Dionisio

- "La responsabilité internationale des États à raison des dommages soufferts par des étrangers", RGDIP, vol. XIII, 1906, pp. 5–29, 285–309. (Reprinted in S.I.O.I., *Opere di Dionisio Anzilotti*, vol. II, *Scritti di diritto internazionale pubblico*, vol. 1. Padua, CEDAM, 1956)
- "Teoria generale della responsabilità dello Stato nel diritto internazionale", in S.I.O.I., Opere di Dionisio Anzilotti, vol. II, Scritti di diritto internazionale pubblico, vol. 1. Padua, CEDAM, 1956, pp. 1–147.

APOLLIS, Gilbert

"Le règlement de 1'affaire du 'Rainbow Warrior'", RGDIP, vol. 91, 1987, pp. 9–43.

APRAXINE, Pierre

"Violation des droits de l'homme par une organisation internationale et responsabilité des États au regard de la Convention européenne", *Revue trimestrielle des droits de l'homme* (Brussels), vol. 6, 1995, pp. 13–32.

ARANGIO-RUIZ, Gaetano

- "State fault and the forms and degrees of international responsibility: questions of attribution and relevance", *Le droit international au service de la paix, de la justice et du développement: mélanges Michel Virally.* Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 25–41.
- "Counter-measures and amicable dispute settlement means in the implementation of State responsibility: a crucial issue before the International Law Commission", *European Journal of International Law* (Florence), vol. 5, No. 1, 1994, pp. 20–53.
- "The 'federal analogy' and UN Charter interpretation: a crucial issue", *European Journal of International Law* (Florence), vol. 8, No. 1, 1997, pp. 1–28.
- "Fine prematura del ruolo preminente di studiosi italiani nel progetto di codificazione della responsabilità degli Stati: specie a proposito di crimini internazionali e dei poteri del Consiglio di sicurezza", *Rivista* di diritto internazionale (Milan), vol. LXXXI, 1998, pp. 110–129.

ARSANJANI, Mahnoush H. and W. Michael REISMAN

"The quest for an international liability regime for the protection of the global commons", *in* Karel Wellens, ed., *International Law: Theory and Practice: Essays in Honour of Eric Suy.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1998, pp. 469–492.

ASANTE, Samuel K. B.

"International law and foreign investment: a reappraisal", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly* (London), vol. 37, 1988, pp. 588–628.

ATLAM, Hazem

"National liberation movements and international responsibility", *in* Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 35–56.

AVANESSIAN, Aida B.

Iran-United States Claims Tribunal in Action. London, Graham & Trotman, 1993. 325 p.

BARAK, Gregg, ed.

Crimes by the capitalist State: an introduction to State criminality. Albany, State University of New York Press, 1991. 291 p.

BARBOZA, Julio

- "Necessity (revisited) in international law", *in Jerzy Makarczyk*, ed., *Essays in International Law in Honour of Judge Manfred Lachs*. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1984, pp. 27–43.
- "La responsabilité 'causale' à la Commission du droit international", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXXIV, 1988, pp. 513–522.

BARIATTI, Stefania

L'azione internazionale dello stato a tutela di non cittadini. Milan, Giuffrè, 1993.

BARILE, Giuseppe

"Obligationes erga omnes ei individui nel diritto internazionale umanitario", Rivista di diritto internazionale (Milan), vol. LXVIII, 1985, pp. 5–31.

BEDERMAN, David J.

"Contributory fault and State responsibility", *Virginia Journal of International Law*, vol. 30, No. 2, winter 1990, pp. 335–369.

BEDJAOUI, Mohammed

"Responsibility of States: fault and strict liability", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 10. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 358–362.

BERNARD, Thomas J.

"The historical development of corporate criminal liability", *Criminology*, vol. 22, 1984, pp. 3–17.

BETTAUER, Ronald J.

"The United Nations Compensation Commission: developments since October 1992", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 89, No. 1, January 1995, pp. 416–423.

BETTEMS, Denis

Les contrats entre États et personnes privées étrangères: droit applicable et responsabilité internationale. Lausanne, META, 1988. (Thesis, University of Lausanne)

BIANCHI, Andrea

"Denying State immunity to violators of human rights", *Austrian Journal of Public and International Law* (Vienna), vol. 46, No. 3, 1994, pp. 195–229.

BISSONNETTE, Pierre André

La satisfaction comme mode de réparation en droit international. Annemasse, Imprimerie Granchamp, 1952. (Thesis, University of Geneva)

BLECKMANN, Albert

"The subjective right in public international law", *German Yearbook of International Law* (Berlin), vol. 28, 1985, pp. 144–162.

"General theory of obligations under public international law", *German Yearbook of International Law* (Berlin), vol. 38, 1995, pp. 26–40.

BOELAERT-SUOMINEN, Sonja

"Iraqi war reparations and the laws of war: a discussion of the current work of the United Nations Compensation Commission with specific reference to environmental damage during warfare", *Austrian Journal of Public and International Law* (Vienna), vol. 50, 1996, pp. 225–316.

Boisson de Chazournes, Laurence

"The collective responsibility of States to ensure respect for humanitarian principles", in Arie Bloed and others, eds., Monitoring Human Rights in Europe: Comparing International Procedures and Mechanisms. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1993, pp. 247–260.

Les contre-mesures dans les relations internationales économiques. Paris, Pedone, 1992. 246 p.

BOLLECKER-STERN, Brigitte

Le préjudice dans la théorie de la responsabilité internationale. Paris, Pedone, 1973.

"La responsabilité internationale aujourd'hui ... demain ...", Perspectives du droit international et européen: recueil d'études à la mémoire de Gilbert Apollis. Paris, Pedone, 1992, pp. 75–101.

BOREK, Jamison Selby

"Other State responsibility issues", in Richard B. Lillich and Daniel Barstow Magraw, eds., The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Its Contribution to the Law of State Responsibility. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1998, pp. 303–323.

Bourquin, Maurice

"Crimes et délits contre la sûreté des États étrangers", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1927–I. Paris, 1928. Vol. 16, pp. 121–246.

BOVEN, Theo van and others, eds.

Seminar on the right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of gross violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms, Maastricht, 11–15 March 1992 (Utrecht), SIM Special No. 12, 1992. 264 p.

BOWETT, Derek William

"State contracts with aliens: contemporary developments on compensation for termination or breach", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1988 (Oxford), vol. 59, pp. 49–74.

"Treaties and State responsibility", *Le droit internatio*nal au service de la paix, de la justice et du développement: mélanges Michael Virally. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 137–145.

"Crimes of State and the 1996 report of the International Law Commission on State responsibility", *European Journal of International Law* (Florence), vol. 9, No. 1, 1998, pp. 163–173.

BOYLE, Alan E.

"State responsibility and international liability for injurious consequences of acts not prohibited by international law: a necessary distinction?", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly* (London), vol. 39, 1990, pp. 1–26.

"State responsibility for breach of obligations to protect the global environment", *in* W. E. Butler, ed., *Control over Compliance with International Law*. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1991, pp. 69–81.

BOYLE, Francis A.

"Determining U. S. responsibility for contra operations under international law", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 81, 1987, pp. 86–93.

BRIERLY, J. L.

"The theory of implied State complicity in international claims", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1928 (Oxford), vol. 9, pp. 42–49.

Brower, Charles N.

"The United Nations sets the stage for Gulf war compensation claims", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 8, No. 2, June 1991, pp. 7–11.

"Lessons to be drawn from the Iran-U.S. Claims Tribunal", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 9, No. 1, March 1992, pp. 51–58.

Brower, Charles N. and Jason D. Brueschke

The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1998. 931 p.

Brownlie, Ian

System of the Law of Nations: State Responsibility. Part I. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1983.

"State responsibility: the problem of delegation", in Konrad Ginther and others, eds., Völkerrecht zwischen normativem Anspruch und politischer Realität: Festschrift für Karl Zemanek zum 65. Geburtstag. Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1994, pp. 299–306.

Byers, Michael

"Conceptualising the relationship between *jus cogens* and *erga omnes* rules", *Nordic Journal of International Law*, vol. 66, Nos. 2–3, 1997, pp. 211–239.

CAHIER, Philippe

"Les éléments constitutifs de la responsabilité extracontractuelle de la Communauté économique européenne", *Mélanges offerts à Paul Reuter Le droit international: unité et diversité*. Paris, Pedone, 1981, pp. 127–152.

CARDONA LLORÉNS, Jorge

"La responsabilidad internacional por violación grave de obligaciones esenciales para la salvaguarda de intereses fundamentales de la comunidad internacional (el 'crimen internacional')", *Anuario de derecho internacional* (Faculty of Law, University of Navarra), vol. VIII, 1985, pp. 265–336.

CARELLA, Gabriella

- "I *punitive damages* e la riparazione del danno morale in diritto internazionale", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXVII, 1984, pp. 751–766.
- La responsabilità dello Stato per crimini internazionali. Naples, Jovene, 1985.
- "Responsabilità internazionale", *Digesto delle discipline pubblicistiche* (Turin), vol. XIII, 1997, pp. 241–273.

CARON, David D.

- "The legitimacy of the collective authority of the Security Council", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 87, 1993, pp. 552–588.
- "The basis of responsibility: attribution and other trans-substantive rules", *in* Richard B. Lillich and Daniel Barstow Magraw, eds., *The Iran-United State Claims Tribunal: Its Contribution to the Law of State Responsibility*. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1998, pp. 109–184.

Cassese, Antonio

"Remarks on the present legal regulation of crimes of States", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 49–64.

CHARNEY, Jonathan I.

"Third State remedies in international law", *Michigan Journal of International Law*, vol. 10, No. 1, winter 1989, pp. 57–101.

CHARPENTIER, Jean

- "L'affaire du Rainbow Warrior", Annuaire français de droit international (Paris), vol. XXXI, 1985, pp. 210–220.
- "L'affaire du *Rainbow Warrior*: le règlement interétatique", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXXII, 1986, pp. 873–885.
- "L'affaire du *Rainbow Warrior*: la sentence arbitrale du 30 avril 1990 (Nouvelle Zélande c. France)",

- Annuaire français de droit international (Paris), vol. XXXVI, 1990, pp. 395–407.
- "L'affaire *Rainbow-Warrior* et la responsabilité internationale des États", *Vorträge, Reden und Berichte aus dem Europa-Institut.* No. 245. Saarbrücken, 1991.

CHATTERJEE, Charles

- "The *Rainbow Warrior* arbitration between New Zealand and France", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 9, No. 1, March 1992, pp. 17–28.
- "The use of the discounted cash flow method in the assessment of compensation: comments on the recent World Bank guidelines on the treatment of foreign direct investment", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 10, No. 4, December 1993, pp. 19–27.

CHINKIN, Christine

Third Parties in International Law. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1993. 385 p.

CHRISTENSON, Gordon A.

- "The doctrine of attribution in State responsibility", in Richard B. Lillich, ed., International Law of State Responsibility for Injuries to Aliens. Charlottesville, University Press of Virginia, 1983, pp. 321–360.
- "The World Court and *jus cogens*", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 81, 1987, pp. 93–101.
- "Jus cogens: guarding interests fundamental to international society", Virginia Journal of International Law, vol. 28, No. 3, spring 1988, pp. 585–648.
- "Attributing acts of omission to the State", *Michigan Journal of International Law*, vol. 12, No. 2, winter 1991, pp. 312–370.
- "State responsibility and the UN Compensation Commission: compensating victims of crimes of State", in Richard B. Lillich, ed., *The United Nations Compensation Commission*. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1995, pp. 311–364.

CLAGETT, Brice M.

"The expropriation issue before the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: is 'just compensation' required by international law or not?", *Law and Policy in International Business*, vol. 16, No. 3, 1984, pp. 813–891.

CLAPHAM, Andrew

Human Rights in the Private Sphere. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1993. 385 p.

COFFMAN, Peter D.

"Obligations *erga omnes* and the absent third State", *German Yearbook of International Law* (Berlin), vol. 39, 1996, pp. 285–333.

COHEN-JONATHAN, Gérard

"Responsabilité pour atteinte aux droits de l'homme", La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 101–135.

63

COLE, Charles V.

"A generation of Canadian experience with international claims", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1965–1966 (London), vol. 41, pp. 368–400.

Combacau, Jean

"Obligations de résultat et obligations de comportement: quelques questions et pas de réponse", *Mélanges offerts à Paul Reuter—Le droit international: unité et diversité.* Paris, Pedone, 1981, pp. 181– 204.

COMBACAU, Jean and Denis ALLAND

"'Primary' and 'secondary' rules in the law of State responsibility: categorizing international obligations", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XVI, 1985, pp. 81–109.

COMBACAU, Jean and Serge SUR

"La responsabilité internationale de 1'État", *Droit international public*. 2nd ed. Paris, Montchrestien, 1995, pp. 527–564.

CONDORELLI, Luigi

"L'imputation à l'État d'un fait internationalement illicite: solutions classiques et nouvelles tendances", Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1984–VI. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1988. Vol. 189, pp. 9–221.

"The imputability to States of acts of international terrorism", *Israel Yearbook on Human Rights*, vol. 19, 1989, pp. 233–246.

CONDORELLI, Luigi and Laurence Boisson de Chazournes

"Quelques remarques à propos de 1'obligation des États de 'respecter et faire respecter' le droit international humanitaire 'en toutes circonstances'", in Christophe Swinarski, ed., Studies and essays on international humanitarian law and Red Cross principles in honour of Jean Pictet. Geneva, Martinus Nijhoff, 1984, pp. 17–35.

CONDORELLI, Luigi and Haritini DIPLA

"Solutions traditionnelles et nouvelles tendances en matière d'attribution à 1'État d'un fait internationalement illicite dans la Convention de 1982 sur le droit de la mer", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 65–97.

CONFORTI, Benedetto

"In tema di responsabilità degli Stati per crimini internazionali", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago.* Vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 99–111.

"Obblighi di mezzi e obblighi di risultato nelle convenzioni di diritto uniforme", *Rivista di diritto internazionale privato e processuale* (Padua), vol. XXIV, No. 2, April-June 1988, pp. 233–238.

CORLISS, Steven

"Asylum State responsibility for the hostile acts of foreign exiles", *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 2, No. 2, April 1990, pp. 181–210.

COTTEREAU, Gilles

"Système juridique et notion de responsabilité", La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 3–90.

"De la responsabilité de 1'Iraq selon la résolution 687 du Conseil de sécurité", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXXVII, 1991, pp. 99–117.

COVE. Ruth L.

"State responsibility for constructive wrongful expulsion of foreign nationals", *Fordham International Law Journal*, vol. 11, No. 4, summer 1988, pp. 802–838.

CRAWFORD, James

"Counter-measures as interim measures", *European Journal of International Law* (Florence), vol. 5, 1994, pp. 65–76.

Скоок, John R.

"The United Nations Compensation Commission: a new structure to enforce State responsibility", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 87, 1993, pp. 144–157.

"Debt and contract claims before the Tribunal", in Richard B. Lillich and Daniel Barstow Magraw, eds., *The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Its Contribution to the Law of State Responsibility*. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1998, pp. 267–302.

CZAPLINSKI, Władysław

"State succession and State responsibility", *Canadian Yearbook of International Law* (Vancouver), vol. XXVIII, 1990, pp. 339–358.

D'AMATO, Anthony and Kirsten ENGEL

"State responsibility for the exportation of nuclear power technology", *Virginia Law Review* (Charlottesville), vol. 74, No. 6, September 1988, pp. 1011–1066.

DAMROSCH, Lori Fisler

"The collective enforcement of international norms through economic sanctions", *Ethics & International Affairs*, vol. 8, 1994, pp. 59–75.

DANILENKO, Gennady M.

"International *jus cogens*: issues of law-making", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 2, 1991, pp. 42–65.

Davi, Angelo

Comunità europee e sanzioni economiche internazionali. Naples, Jovene, 1993.

DAVIDSON, J. Scott

"The *Rainbow Warrior* arbitration concerning the treatment of the French agents Mafart and Prieur", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, vol. 40, 1991, pp. 446–457.

DECAUX, Emmanuel

"Responsabilité et réparation", *La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans.* Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 147–190.

DE SENA, Pasquale

- "Condotta di singoli organi e condotta dell'apparato statale in tema di colpa nell'illecito internazionale", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXI, 1988, pp. 525–553.
- "Questioni in tema di responsibilità internazionale per attività spaziali", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXIII, 1990, pp. 294–319.

DE VISSCHER, Charles

- "La responsabilité des États", *Bibliotheca Visseriana*, vol. II. Leyden, Brill, 1923, pp. 87–119.
- "Le déni de justice en droit international", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1935–II. Paris, Sirey. Vol. 52, pp. 365–442.
- "Positivisme et 'jus cogens'", RGDIP, vol. LXXV, 1971, pp. 5–11.

Delbrück, Jost

- "Proportionality", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 7. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1984, pp. 396–400.
- "International economic sanctions and third States", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, No. 1, 1992, pp. 86–100.

DEMAN, Catherine

"La cessation de 1'acte illicite", *Belgian Review of International Law* (Brussels), vol. XXIII, 1990, pp. 476–495.

DENZA, Eileen and Shelagh BROOKS

"Investment protection treaties: United Kingdom experience", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, vol. 36, part 4, October 1987, pp. 908–923.

DIMITRIJEVIĆ, Vojin

"International and national dimensions of State responsibility for gross violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms", *Human Rights in Developing Countries* 1991 (Oslo), pp. 25–32.

DINSTEIN, Yoram

"The *erga omnes* applicability of human rights", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, No. 1, 1992, pp. 16–21.

DOEHRING, Karl

"Die Selbstdurchsetzung völkerrechtlicher Verpflichtungen: Einige Einzelprobleme der Repressalie", Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht (Stuttgart), vol. 47, 1987, pp. 44–55.

DOELDER, Hans de and Klaus TIEDEMANN, eds.

Criminal Liability of Corporations. The Hague, Kluwer, 1996. 401 p.

DOMINICÉ, Christian

- "La satisfaction en droit des gens", *in* Bernard Dutoit and Etienne Grisel, eds., *Mélanges Georges Perrin*. Lausanne, Payot, 1984, pp. 91–121.
- "La responsabilité non contentieuse", *La responsabilité dans le système international*. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 191–223.
- "La contrainte entre États à l'appui des droits de l'homme", *Hacia un nuevo orden internacional* y europeo: estudios en homenaje al Profesor Don Manuel Diéz de Velasco. Madrid, Tecnos, 1993, pp. 261–272.
- "De la réparation constructive du préjudice immatériel souffert par un État", *International Law in an Evolving World:* liber amicorum *in tribute to Professor Eduardo Jiménez de Aréchaga.* Montevideo, Fundación de cultura universitaria, 1994, pp. 505–522.

DRAETTA, Ugo

"I 'consequential damages' nella prassi dei contratti internazionali", Diritto comunitario e degli scambi internazionali, vol. XXVI, 1987, pp. 57–69.

DROST, Pieter N.

The Crime of State: Penal Protection for Fundamental Freedoms of Persons and Peoples. Book I. Humanicide: International Governmental Crime against Individual Human Rights; and Book II. Genocide: United Nations Legislation on International Criminal Law. Leyden, Sythoff, 1959.

Dupuy, Pierre-Marie

- "Action publique et crime international de 1'État: à propos de 1'article 19 du projet de la Commission du droit international sur la responsabilité des États", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXV, 1979, pp. 539–554.
- "Observations sur le 'crime international de l'État'", RGDIP, vol. 84, 1980, pp. 449–486.
- "Observations sur la pratique récente des 'sanctions' de 1'illicite", RGDIP, vol. 87, 1983, pp. 505–548.
- "Le fait générateur de la responsabilité internationale des États", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1984–V.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1986. Vol. 188, pp. 9–134.
- "Implications of the institutionalization of international crimes of State", *in* Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., *International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility*. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 170–185.
- "The international law of State responsibility: revolution or evolution?", *Michigan Journal of International Law*, vol. 11, 1989–1990, pp. 105–128.
- "À propos de l'opposabilité de la coutume générale: enquête brève sur l'objecteur persistant", *Le droit international au service de la paix, de la justice et du développement: mélanges Michel Virally.* Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 257–279.

- "Responsabilité et légalité", *La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans.* Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 263–297.
- "Dionisio Anzilotti and the law of international responsibility of States", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 3, 1992, pp. 139–148.
- "International control and State responsibility", in Konrad Ginther and others, eds., Völkerrecht zwischen normativem Anspruch und politischer Realität: Festschrift für Karl Zemanek zum 65. Geburtstag. Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1994, pp. 307–318.
- "The constitutional dimension of the Charter of the United Nations revisited", *in* Jochen A. Frowein and Rüdiger Wolfrum, eds., *Max Planck Yearbook of United Nations Law*, vol. 1, 1997, pp. 1–33.

DUPUY, René-Jean

La communauté internationale entre le mythe et l'histoire. Paris, Economica, 1986. 182 p.

EAGLETON, Clyde

The Responsibility of States in International Law. New York, New York University Press, 1928. 291 p.

EICHHORN, Bert Wolfgang

Reparation als völkerrechtliche Deliktshaftung: Rechtliche und praktische Probleme unter besonderer Berücksichtigung Deutschlands 1918–1990. Baden-Baden, Nomos, 1992.

EISEMANN, Pierre Michel

"L'arrêt de la C.I.J. du 27 juin 1986 (fond) dans 1'affaire des activités militaires et paramilitaires au Nicaragua et contre celui-ci", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXXII, 1986, pp. 153–191.

ELAGAB, Omer Yousif

The Legality of Non-Forcible Counter-Measures in International Law. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1988.

EPINEY, Astrid

Die völkerrechtliche Verantwortlichkeit von Staaten für rechtswidriges Verhalten im Zusammenhang mit Aktionen Privater. Baden-Baden, Nomos-Verlagsgesellschaft, 1992.

ERASMUS, Gavin M.

- Compensation for Expropriation: A Comparative Study. Oxford, Jason Reese in association with the United Kingdom National Committee of Comparative Law, 1990.
- "Third States and sanctions in public international law: the position of South Africa", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, book 1, 1992, pp. 128–145.

EUSTATHIADES, Constantin Th.

"Les sujets du droit international et la responsabilité internationale: nouvelles tendances", *Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1953–III.* Leyden, Sijthoff, 1955. Vol. 84, pp. 401–633.

FATOUROS, A. A.

"Transnational entreprise in the law of State responsibility", *in* Richard B. Lillich, ed., *International Law of State Responsibility for Injuries to Aliens*. Charlottesville, University Press of Virginia, 1983, pp. 361–403.

FEIST, Christian

"Die Tätigkeit der International Law Commission in den Jahren 1993 und 1994", German Yearbook of International Law (Berlin), vol. 38, 1995, pp. 376– 388.

FINES, Francette

Étude de la responsabilité extracontractuelle de la Communauté économique européenne: de la référence aux "principes généraux communs" à l'édification jurisprudentielle d'un système autonome. Paris, LGDJ, 1990.

FISCH, Jörg

Reparationen nach dem Zweiten Weltkrieg. Munich, Beck, 1992.

FISCHER, Christophe

La responsabilité internationale de l'État pour les comportements ultra vires de ses organes. Tolochenaz, Chabloz, 1993. (Thesis, University of Lausanne Law Faculty)

Fisse, Brent and John Braithwaite

Corporations, Crime and Accountability. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1993.

FOCARELLI, Carlo

- "La reciprocità nel trattamento degli stranieri in Italia come forma di ritorsione o rappresaglia", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXII, 1989, pp. 825–865.
- "Le contromisure pacifiche collettive e la nozione di obblighi *erga omnes*", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXVI, 1993, pp. 52–72.
- Le contromisure nel diritto internazionale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1994, 531 p.

Fox, Hazel M.

"Reparations and state responsibility: claims against Iraq arising out of the invasion and occupation of Kuwait", *in* Peter Rowe, ed., *The Gulf War 1990–91 in International and English Law*. London, Sweet & Maxwell, 1993, pp. 261–286.

FRANCIONI, Francesco

"Crimini internazionali", *Digesto delle discipline pub-blicistiche* (Turin), vol. IV, 1989, pp. 464–479.

Francioni, Francesco and Tullio Scovazzi, eds.

International Responsibility for Environmental Harm. London, Graham & Trotman, 1991. 499 p.

Freeman, Alwyn V.

- The International Responsibility of States for Denial of Justice. London, Longman, Green & Co., 1938. 758 p.
- "Responsibility of States for unlawful acts of their armed forces", Recueil des cours de l'Académie de

droit international de La Haye, 1955-II. Leyden, Sijthoff, 1956. Vol. 88, pp. 261-416.

FRIEDLAND, Paul D. and Eleanor Wong

"Measuring damages for the deprivation of incomeproducing assets: ICSID case studies", *Foreign Investment Law Journal*, vol. 6, No. 1, spring 1991, pp. 400–430.

FROWEIN, Jochen A.

- "Collective enforcement of international obligations", Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht (Stuttgart), vol. 47, 1987, pp. 67–79.
- "Legal consequences for international law enforcement in case of Security Council inaction", *in* Jost Delbrück, ed., *The Future of International Law Enforcement—New Scenarios: New Law?* Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1993, pp. 111–124.
- Die Verpflichtungen *erga omnes* im Völkerrecht und ihre Durchsetzung", *Völkerrecht als Rechtsordnung Internationale Gerichtsbarkeit Menschenrechte: Festschrift für Hermann Mosler.* Berlin, Springer, 1983, pp. 241–262.
- "Reactions by not directly affected States to breaches of public international law", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1994–IV.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1995. Vol. 248, pp. 345–437.

GAINES, Sanford E.

"Taking responsibility for transboundary environmental effects", *Hastings International and Comparative Law Review*, vol. 14, No. 4, 1991, pp. 781–809.

GAJA, Giorgio

- "Jus cogens beyond the Vienna Convention", Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1981–III. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1982. Vol. 172, pp. 271–316.
- "Obligations *erga omnes*, international crimes and *jus cogens*: a tentative analysis of three related concepts", *in* Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., *International Crimes of State:* A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 151–160.
- "Réflexions sur le rôle du Conseil de sécurité dans le nouvel ordre mondial: à propos des rapports entre maintien de la paix et crimes internationaux des États", RGDIP, vol. XCVII, 1993, pp. 297–320.

GALVÃO TELES, Patrícia

"Obligations *erga omnes* in international law", *Revista Jurídica da Associação Académica* (Law Faculty of Lisbon), No. 20, new series, 1996, pp. 73–173.

GANN, Pamela B.

"Compensation standard for expropriation", *Columbia Journal of Transnational Law* (New York), vol. 23, No. 3, 1985, pp. 615–653.

GARCÍA AMADOR, Francisco V.

- "State responsibility: some new problems", *Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1958–II.* Leyden, Sijthoff, 1959. Vol. 94, pp. 365–491.
- "The proposed new international economic order: a new approach to the law governing nationalization and compensation", *Lawyer of the Americas*, vol. 12, No. 1, winter 1980, pp. 1–58.
- "A basic dispute: conflicting views on expropriation", in Joseph J. Norton, ed., *Public International Law and the Future World Order*: Liber Amicorum in honor of A. J. Thomas, Jr. Littleton, Colo., Rothman, 1987, pp. 7-1–7-12.
- "State responsibility in case of 'stabilization' clauses", *Journal of Transnational Law and Policy* (Florida State University College of Law), vol. 1, No. 1, 1992, pp. 23–50.

GARCÍA AMADOR, Francisco V., Louis B. Sohn and R. R. Baxter

Recent Codification of the Law of State Responsibility for Injuries to Aliens. Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., Oceana Publications, 1974. 402 p.

GATTINI, Andrea

- "La notion de faute à la lumière du projet de convention de la Commission du droit international sur la responsabilité internationale", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 3, 1992, pp. 253–284.
- Zufall und force majeure im System der Staatenverantwortlichkeit anhand der ILC-Kodifikationsarbeit. Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1991.
- "La riparazione dei danni di guerra causati dall'Iraq", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXVI, 1993, pp. 1000–1046.

GERVAIS, Daniel J.

"La responsabilité des États à l'égard des actes des organes judiciaires", *Revue québécoise de droit international*, vol. 6, No. 1, 1989–1990, pp. 71–82.

GIANELLI, Alessandra

- "Rappresaglia nel diritto internazionale", *Digesto delle discipline pubblicistiche* (Turin), vol. 12, 1997, pp. 411–444.
- Adempimenti preventivi all'adozione di contromisure internazionali. Milan, Giuffrè, 1997.

GIARDINA, Andrea

"Compensating nationals for damages suffered abroad: Italian practice", *Italian Yearbook of International Law* (Milan), vol. VII, 1986–1987, pp. 3–25.

GILBERT, Geoff

"The criminal responsibility of States", *International* and *Comparative Law Quarterly*, vol. 39, 1990, pp. 345–369.

GINTHER, Konrad

"Verantwortlichkeit, Haftung und Verantwortung im Völkerrecht", Völkerrecht zwischen normativem Anspruch und politischer Realität: Festschrift für

67

Karl Zemanek zum 65. Geburtstag. Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1994, pp. 335–352.

GLASER, Stefan

"L'État en tant que personne morale est-il pénalement responsable?", *Revue de droit pénal et de criminologie* (Brussels), No. 5, February 1949, pp. 425–452.

GÓMEZ ROBLEDO, Antonio

"Le *ius cogens* international: sa genèse, sa nature, ses fonctions", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1981–III.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1982. Vol. 172, pp. 9–217.

GÓMEZ-PINZÓN, Enrique

"State responsibility for external consequences of domestic economic-related acts", *California Western International Law Journal*, vol. 16, 1986, pp. 52–92

GOUNELLE, Max

"Quelques remarques sur la notion de 'crime international' et sur l'évolution de la responsabilité internationale de l'État", *Mélanges offerts à Paul Reuter—Le droit international: unité et diversité.* Paris, Pedone, 1981, pp. 315–326.

GOWLLAND-DEBBAS, Vera

- Collective Responses to Illegal Acts in International Law: United Nations Action in the Question of Southern Rhodesia. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1990.
- "Security Council enforcement action and issues of State responsibility", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly* (London), vol. 43, 1994, pp. 55–98.
- "Judicial insights into fundamental values and interests of the international community", *The International Court of Justice: Its Future Role after Fifty Years.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1997, pp. 327–366.

GRAEFRATH, Bernhard

- "Responsibility and damages caused: relationship between responsibility and damages", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1984–II.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1985. Vol. 185, pp. 9–149.
- "International crimes: a specific regime of international responsibility of States and its legal consequences", in Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 161–169.
- "Gegenmaßnahmen als Bestandteil völkerrechtlicher Verantwortlichkeit", *Neue Justiz: Zeitschrift für Rechtsetzung und Rechtsanwendung* (Berlin), vol. 49, No. 5, 1995, pp. 239–242.
- "Iraqi reparations and the Security Council", *Heidelberg Journal of International Law*, vol. 55, 1995, pp. 1–68.

- "Complicity in the law of international responsibility", *Belgian Review of International Law* (Brussels), vol. XXIX, No. 1, 1996, pp. 370–380.
- "International crimes and collective security", *in* Karel Wellens, ed., *International Law Theory and Practice: Essays in Honour of Eric Suy.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1998, pp. 237–252.

GRAEFRATH, Bernhard and Manfred MOHR

"Legal consequences of an act of aggression: the case of the Iraqi invasion and occupation of Kuwait", *Austrian Journal of Public and International Law* (Vienna), vol. 43, Nos. 2–3, 1992, pp. 109–138.

GRAY, Christine D.

- "Is there an international law of remedies?", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1985 (Oxford), vol. 56, pp. 25–47.
- *Judicial Remedies in International Law.* Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1987. 250 p.

GREIG, D. W.

"Reciprocity, proportionality and the law of treaties", *Virginia Journal of International Law*, vol. 34, No. 2, winter 1994, pp. 295–403.

GRUNER, Richard

"To let the punishment fit the organization: sanctioning corporate offenders through corporate probation", *American Journal of Criminal Law*, vol. 16, 1988–1989, pp. 1–106.

GUHA ROY, S. N.

"Is the law of responsibility of States for injuries to aliens a part of universal international law", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 55, 1961, pp. 863–891.

GUILLAUME, Gilbert

"Terrorisme et droit international", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1989–III.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1990. Vol. 215, pp. 287–416

GÜNDLING, Lothar

"Verantwortlichkeit der Staaten für grenzüberschreitende Umweltbeeinträchtigungen", Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht, vol. 45, 1985, pp. 265–292.

Gusy, Christoph

"Völkerrechtliche Verantwortlichkeit der Staaten für Handlungen Privater", *Recht der Internationalen Wirtschaft*, vol. 32, 1986, pp. 585–590.

GUTTRY, Andrea de

- "Le contromisure adottate nei confronti dell'Argentina da parte delle Comunità Europee e dei terzi Stati ed il problema della loro liceità internazionale", in Natalino Ronzitti, ed., *La questione delle Falkland-Malvinas nel diritto internazionale*. Milan, Giuffrè, 1984, pp. 343–409.
- Le rappresaglie non comportanti la coercizione militare nel diritto internazionale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1985. 329 p.

"Some recent cases of unilateral countermeasures and the problem of their lawfulness in international law", *Italian Yearbook of International Law* (Milan), vol. VII, 1986–1987, pp. 169–189.

GYE-WADO, Onje

"Africa, reparations and international law", *Nigerian Journal of International Affairs* (Lagos), vol. 19, 1993, pp. 115–140.

Haasdijk, S. L.

"The lack of uniformity in the terminology of the international law of remedies", *Leiden Journal of International Law*, vol. 5, No. 2, October 1992, pp. 245–263.

HAILBRONNER, Kay

"Sanctions and third parties and the concept of public international order", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, book 1, 1992, pp. 2–15.

HAIMBAUGH JR., George D.

"Jus cogens: root & branch (an inventory)", Touro Law Review, vol. 3, issue 2, spring 1987, pp. 203–227.

HANNIKAINEN, Lauri

Peremptory Norms (Jus Cogens) in International Law: Historical Development, Criteria, Present Status. Helsinki, Finnish Lawyers' Publishing Company, 1988. 781 p.

HASEGAWA, Masakuni

"The countermeasures against the breach of treaties: the interrelationship between the law of treaties and the law of State responsibility (3 parts)", *Fukuoka University Review of Law*, vol. 32, 1988, pp. 459–493; vol. 34, 1990, pp. 373–407; vol. 35, 1991, pp. 173–226. In Japanese.

HAUSEN, Christof H.

"Die Schadensabwicklung des zweiten Golfkonflikts durch die Vereinten Nationen", *Recht der Internationalen Wirtschaft* (Heidelberg), vol. 38, 1992, pp. 533–536.

HEINTSCHEL VON HEINEGG, Wolff

"Kriegsentschädigung, Reparation oder Schadenersatz? Die möglichen Forderungen an den Irak nach Beendigung des Golf-Kriegs", Zeitschrift für Vergleichende Rechtswissenschaft (Heidelberg), vol. 90, 1991, pp. 113–129.

HERDEGEN, Matthias

"Völkerrechtliche Restitutionspflichten und ihre Wirkungen im innerstaatlichen Recht", *Neue Juristische Wochenschrift* (Frankfurt), vol. 41, March 1988, pp. 593–596.

HEYDER, Markus B.

"The International Law Commission's draft articles on State responsibility: draft article 19 and native American self-determination", *Columbia Journal of Transnational Law* (New York), vol. 32, No. 1, 1994, pp. 155–177.

HIGGINS, Rosalyn

- "Aspects of the case concerning the Barcelona Traction, Light and Power Company, Ltd.", *Virginia Journal of International Law* (Charlottesville), vol. 11, No. 3, May 1971, pp. 327–343.
- "The taking of property by the State: recent developments in international law", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1982–III.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1983. Vol. 176, pp. 259–391.
- "International law and the avoidance, containment and resolution of disputes: general course on public international law", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1991–V.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1993. Vol. 230, pp. 9–342.

HOCHSTEDLER, Ellen, ed.

Corporations as Criminals. Beverly Hills, Sage in cooperation with the Academy of Criminal Sciences, 1984.

HOFMANN, Rainer

- "Refugee-generating policies and the law of State responsibility", *Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht* (Stuttgart), vol. 45, 1985, pp. 694–713.
- "The distinction between international crimes and international delicts in the law of State responsibility", *Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht* (Stuttgart), vol. 45, 1985, pp. 195–231.

Hoogh, Andreas Johannes Joseph de

- "The relationship between *jus cogens*, obligations *erga omnes* and international crimes: peremptory norms in perspective", *Austrian Journal of Public and International Law* (Vienna), vol. 42, 1991, pp. 183–214.
- Obligations Erga Omnes and International Crimes: A Theoretical Inquiry into the Implementation and Enforcement of the International Responsibility of States. The Hague, Kluwer, 1996. 397 p.

HORBACH, N. L. J. T.

"The confusion about State responsibility and international liability", *Leiden Journal of International Law*, vol. 4, No. 1, April 1991, pp. 47–74.

Hossain, Kamal and Subrata Roy Chowdhury, eds.

Permanent Sovereignty over Natural Resources in International Law: Principle and Practice. London, Frances Pinter, 1984. 194 p.

Hu, Henry T. C.

"Compensation in expropriations: a preliminary economic analysis", *Virginia Journal of International Law*, vol. 20, No. 1, fall 1979, pp. 61–95.

HUNTER, Martin and Volker TRIEBEL

"Awarding interest in international arbitration", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 6, No. 1, March 1989, pp. 7–23.

HUTCHINSON, D. N.

"Solidarity and breaches of multilateral treaties", *British Year Book of International Law, 1988* (Oxford), vol. 59, pp. 151–215.

INSTITUTE OF INTERNATIONAL LAW

"Résolutions votées par l'Institut au cours de sa XXXIX^e session: le régime des représailles en temps de paix", *Yearbook of the Institute of International Law* (Brussels), 1934, pp. 708–711.

Institute of Public International Law and International Relations of Thessaloniki

Responsibility of States: Thesaurus acroasium. Vol. XX, 1993. 381 p.

IOVANE, Massimo

La riparazione nella teoria e nella prassi dell'illecito internazionale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1990. 340 p.

IVALDI, Paola

Inquinamento marino e regole internazionali di responsabilità. Padua, CEDAM, 1996. 402 p.

JAGOTA, S. P.

"State responsibility: circumstances precluding wrongfulness", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XVI, 1985, pp. 249–277.

JANIS, Mark W.

"The nature of *jus cogens*", *Connecticut Journal* of *International Law*, vol. 3, No. 2, spring 1988, pp. 359–363.

JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCHAGA, Eduardo

"State responsibility for the nationalization of foreignowned property", *New York University Journal of International Law and Politics*, vol. 11, No. 2, fall 1978, pp. 179–195.

JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCHAGA, Eduardo and Attila TANZI

"International State responsibility", in Mohammed Bedjaoui, ed., International Law: Achievements and Prospects. Paris, UNESCO and Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1991, pp. 347–380.

JØRGENSEN, Nina H. B.

"A reappraisal of punitive damages in international law?", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1997 (Oxford), vol. 68, pp. 247–266.

JUSTE RUIZ, Jose

"Las obligaciones *erga omnes* en derecho internacional público", *Estudios de derecho internacional: homenaje al Profesor Miaja de la Muela*. Madrid, Tecnos, 1979. Vol. I, pp. 219–233.

KALSHOVEN, Frits

"State responsibility for warlike acts of the armed forces: from article 3 of Hague Convention IV of 1907 to article 91 of Additional Protocol I of 1977 and beyond", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, vol. 40, part 4, October 1991, pp. 827–858.

KAMMINGA, Menno T.

State responsibility

Inter-State Accountability for Violations of Human Rights. Philadelphia, University of Philadelphia Press, 1992. 217 p.

KANEHARA, Atsuko

"The 'legal damage' to be remedied by the law of State responsibility and the concept of general interest: a critical review", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy* (Tokyo), vol. 94, 1995, pp. 471–520. In Japanese.

"The role of fault in the law of State responsibility for internationally wrongful acts", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy* (Tokyo), vol. 96, 1997, pp. 867–912. In Japanese.

KARL, Wolfram

"The time factor in the law of State responsibility", *in* Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 95–114.

KASOULIDES, George C.

"State responsibility and assessment of liability for damage resulting from dumping operations", *San Diego Law Review*, vol. 26, issue 3, 1989, pp. 497–523.

KATO, Nobuyuki

"The rule of exhaustion of local remedies: its nature and functional development (4 parts)", *Hokkaigakuen Law Journal*, vol. 23, 1987, pp. 1–22 and 349–366; vol. 24, 1988, pp. 1–25; vol. 25, 1990, pp. 499–514. In Japanese.

"State responsibility and the nature of the local remedies rule: a critical analysis of the I.L.C.'s draft articles", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy* (Tokyo), vol. 90, 1991, pp. 691–721. In Japanese.

Kawasaki, Kyoji

"The notion of 'injured State' in the law of international responsibility of States: the ILC's draft article 5 of part two on State responsibility (3 parts)", *Shudo Law Review*, vol. 11, 1989, pp. 319–353; vol. 12, 1990, pp. 95–120; vol. 13, 1991, pp. 225–262. In Japanese.

"Crimes of State in international law", *Shudo Law Review*, vol. 15, 1993, pp. 27–45.

"Subsystems of State responsibility in international law (2 parts)", *Shudo Law Review*, vol. 18, 1996, pp. 213–244; vol. 19, 1996, pp. 91–155. In Japanese.

KHALILIAN, Seyed Khalil

"The place of discounted cash flow in international commercial arbitrations: awards by Iran-United States Claims Tribunal", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 8, No. 1, March 1991, pp. 31–50.

KHAN, Rahmatullah

The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Controversies, Cases, and Contribution. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1990. 343 p.

Kiss, Alexandre

"La réparation pour atteinte à l'environnement", *La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans*. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 225–237.

KUYPER, P. J.

"The law of GATT as a special field of international law: ignorance, further refinement or self-contained system of international law?", *Netherlands Year-book of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XXV, 1994, pp. 227–257.

LACHS, Manfred

"Quelques réflexions sur la communauté internationale", Le droit international au service de la paix, de la justice et du développement: mélanges Michel Virally. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 349–357.

LAMBERTI ZANARDI, Pierluigi

- "Aggressione armata indiretta ed elemento soggettivo dell'illecito internazionale", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 153–165.
- "Necessità: diritto internazionale", *Enciclopedia del diritto*, vol. XXVII. Milan, Giuffrè, 1977, pp. 898–906.

LAPIDOTH, Ruth

"Some reflections on the law and practice concerning imposition of sanctions by the Security Council", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, 1992, pp. 114–127.

LATTANZI, Flavia

- "Sanzioni internazionali", *Enciclopedia del diritto*, vol. XLI. Milan, Giuffrè, 1989, pp. 536–575.
- Garanzie dei diritti dell'uomo nel diritto internazionale generale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1983. 582 p.

LEBEN, Charles

"Les contre-mesures inter-étatiques et les réactions à 1'illicite dans la société internationale", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXVIII, 1982, pp. 9–77.

LEE, Luke T.

"The right to compensation: refugees and countries of asylum", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 80, 1986, pp. 532–567.

LERNER, Natan

"Comment: third States and international measures against terrorism", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, 1992, pp. 55–62.

Lı, Haopei

"Jus cogens and international law", Selected Articles from Chinese Yearbook of International Law. Beijing, China Translation & Publishing Corporation, 1983, pp. 41–75.

LIEBLICH, William C.

"Determinations by international tribunals of the economic value of expropriated enterprises", *Journal*

- of International Arbitration (Geneva), vol. 7, No. 1, March 1990, pp. 37–76.
- "Determining the economic value of expropriated income-producing property in international arbitrations", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 8, No. 1, March 1991, pp. 59–80.

LILLICH, Richard B.

"Joint ventures and the law of international claims", *Michigan Journal of International Law*, vol. 10, No. 2, spring 1989, pp. 430–449.

LILLICH, Richard B., ed.

- Economic Coercion and the New International Economic Order. Charlottesville, Michie, 1976. 401 p.
- International Law of State Responsibility for Injuries to Aliens. Charlottesville, University Press of Virginia, 1983. 412 p.
- *The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal, 1981–1983.* Charlottesville, University Press of Virginia, 1984. 175 p.
- The Valuation of Nationalized Property in International Law. Vol. 4. Charlottesville, University Press of Virginia, 1987.
- The United Nations Compensation Commission. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1995. 486 p.

LILLICH, Richard B. and Daniel Barstow MAGRAW, eds.

The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Its Contribution to the Law of State Responsibility. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1998. 400 p.

LILLICH, Richard B. and Burns H. WESTON, eds.

International Claims: Contemporary European Practice. Charlottesville, University Press of Virginia, 1982. 204 p.

MACDONALD, R. St. J.

- "Fundamental norms in contemporary international law", *Canadian Yearbook of International Law* (Vancouver), vol. XXV, 1987, pp. 115–149.
- "The principle of solidarity in public international law", *in* Christian Dominicé, Robert Patry and Claude Reymond, eds., *Études de droit international en l'honneur de Pierre Lalive*. Basel, Helbing & Lichtenhahn, 1993, pp. 275–307.
- "The common heritage of mankind", *Recht zwischen Umbruch und Bewahrung: Festschrift für Rudolf Bernhardt.* Berlin, Springer, 1995, pp. 153–171.

MALANCZUK, Peter

- "Countermeasures and self-defence as circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the International Law Commission's draft articles on State responsibility", *Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht* (Stuttgart), vol. 43, 1983, pp. 705–812.
- "Reprisals in the codification of State responsibility by the International Law Commission", *Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht* (Stuttgart), vol. 45, 1985, pp. 293–323.
- "Countermeasures and self-defence as circumstances precluding wrongfulness in the International Law Commission's draft articles on State responsibility",

in Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 197–286.

MALEKIAN, Farhad

International Criminal Responsibility of States: A Study on the Evolution of State Responsibility with Particular Emphasis on the Concept of Crime and Criminal Responsibility. Motala, Borgström, 1985. 234 p. (Thesis, University of Stockholm)

MANN, F. A.

- "State contracts and State responsibility", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 54, 1960, pp. 572–591.
- "The consequences of an international wrong in international and national law", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1976–1977 (Oxford), vol. 48, pp. 1–65.
- "On interest, compound interest and damages", *Law Quarterly Review* (London), vol. 101, 1985, pp. 30–47.
- "Compound interest as an item of damage in international law", *University of California Davis Law Review*, vol. 21, No. 3, spring 1988, pp. 577–586.
- "The doctrine of *jus cogens* in international law", *Further Studies in International Law*. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1990, pp. 84–102.
- "Problems of compound interest", *Law Quarterly Review* (London), vol. 106, 1990, pp. 176–179.

MAREK, Krystyna

"Criminalizing State responsibility", *Belgian Review of International Law* (Brussels), vol. XIV, No. 2, 1978–1979, pp. 460–485.

Marks, Susan

"Expropriation: compensation and asset valuation", *Cambridge Law Journal*, vol. 48, part 2, July 1989, pp. 170–173.

Marschik, Axel

- "Too much order? The impact of special secondary norms on the unity and efficacy of the international legal system", *European Journal of International Law* (Florence), vol. 9, No. 1, 1998, pp. 212–239.
- Subsysteme im Völkerrecht: ist die Europäische Union ein 'self-contained regime'? Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1997.

MARUYAMA, Shuri

A Study of the Attribution of Acts to the State on State Responsibility. Tokyo, Kokusai Shoin, 1992. In Japanese.

MATEESCO-MATTE, Nicolas

"La pollution aérospatiale et le régime juridique des responsabilités", *Annuaire de droit maritime et aéro-spatial* (Nantes), vol. XI, 1991, pp. 251–278.

MATSUI, Yoshiro

"The nature of the law of State responsibility under traditional international law: the transformation of the law of State responsibility (2 parts)", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy* (Tokyo),

- vol. 89, 1990, pp. 1–52; vol. 91, 1992, pp. 419–461. In Japanese.
- "Countermeasures in the international legal order", *Japanese Annual of International Law* (Tokyo), No. 37, 1994, pp. 1–37.
- "The concept of 'countermeasures' in international law", *Journal of Law and Politics (Nagoya University)*, vol. 154, 1994, pp. 319–360. In Japanese.

MAVROIDIS, Petros C.

"Das GATT als 'self-contained' regime", *Recht Internationalen der Wirtschaft* (Heidelberg), vol. 37, 1991, pp. 497–501.

MBAYE, Kéba

"L'interêt pour agir devant la Cour internationale de Justice", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1988–II.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1989. Vol. 209, pp. 223–345.

McKinnon, Fiona

"Reprisals as a method of enforcing international law", *Leiden Journal of International Law*, vol. 4, No. 2, September 1991, pp. 221–248.

MENDELSON, Maurice H.

- "Compensation for expropriation: the case law", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 79, 1985, pp. 414–420.
- "International law and the valuation of nationalised shares: two French decisions", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, vol. 34, part 2, April 1985, pp. 284–296.
- "The United Kingdom nationalization cases and the European Convention on Human Rights", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1986 (Oxford), vol. 57, pp. 33–76.

MENG, Werner

"Responsibility of international organizations under public international law", Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht (Stuttgart), vol. 45, 1985, pp. 324–357.

MERON, Theodor

- "On a hierarchy of international human rights", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 80, 1986, pp. 1–23.
- "Common rights of mankind in Gentili, Grotius and Suárez", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 85, 1991, pp. 110–116.

MIGLIORINO, Luigi

"Sur la déclaration d'illicéité comme forme de satisfaction: à propos de la sentence arbitrale du 30 avril 1990 dans 1'affaire du *Rainbow Warrior*", RGDIP, vol. 96, 1992, pp. 61–74.

Mik, Cezary

"On the specific character of State obligations in the field of human rights", *Polish Yearbook of International Law* (Warsaw), vol. XX, 1993, pp. 113–136.

MOHR, Manfred

"The ILC's distinction between 'international crimes' and 'international delicts' and its implications", *in* Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 115–141.

Morelli, G.

"Norme c.d. fondamentali e norme cogenti", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXIV, 1981, pp. 509–510.

MORIKAWA, Koichi

"Legal consequences of 'international crimes' of State: 'an obligation for every other State' in the sense of draft article 14 of part II on State responsibility proposed by W. Riphagen", *Journal of Law and Political Science (Senshu University)*, vols. 55–56, 1992, pp. 465–500. In Japanese.

Mosler, Hermann

"The international society as a legal community", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1974–IV.* Leyden, Sijthoff, 1976. Vol. 140, pp. 1–320.

The International Society as a Legal Community, Alphen aan der Rijn, Sijthoff & Noordhoff, 1980. 327 p.

"International legal community", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 7. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1984, pp. 309–312.

Munch, F.

"Criminal responsibility of States", *in* Bassiouni, ed., *International Criminal Law*. Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., Transnational, 1986, pp. 123–129.

NAGY, Károly

"The problem of reparation in international law", *in* Hanna Bokor-Szegö, ed., *Questions of International Law*. Vol. 3. Budapest, Akadémiai Kiadó, 1986, pp. 173–190.

"Invalidity of international acts as a sanction for the violation of law", *in* Hanna Bokor-Szegö, ed., *Questions of International Law.* Vol. 4. Budapest, Akadémiai Kiadó, 1988, pp. 205–226.

NAKATANI, Kazuhiro

"The functions and the legality of economic sanctions under international law: a study of the legal consequences of international wrongful acts (6 parts)", *Journal of the Association of Political and Social Sciences* (Tokyo), vol. 100, 1987, pp. 373–419, 630–702, 895–959; vol. 101, 1988, pp. 125–183, 257–306, 445–480. In Japanese.

NAPEL, Hans-Martien ten

"The concept of international crimes of States: walking the thin line between progressive development and disintegration of the international legal order", *Leiden Journal of International Law*, vol. 1, No. 2, November 1988, pp. 149–169.

NEWMAN, Lawrence W.

"Dealing with claims arising out of the Gulf crisis", *Journal of International Arbitration* (Geneva), vol. 7, No. 4, December 1990, pp. 49–53.

NISHIMURA, Yumi

"The function of the law of State responsibility: remedy or control?", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy* (Tokyo), vol. 95, 1996, pp. 356–387. In Japanese.

NORTON, Patrick M.

"A law of the future or a law of the past? Modern tribunals and the international law of expropriation", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 85, No. 3, July 1991, pp. 474–505.

Noyes, John E.and Brian D. SMITH

"State responsibility and the principle of joint and several liability", *Yale Journal of International Law*, vol. 13, No. 2, summer 1988, pp. 225–267.

OELLERS-FRAHM, Karin

"Comment: the *erga omnes* applicability of human rights", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 30, 1992, pp. 28–37.

Omori, Masahito

"The international crimes of States and their international responsibility", *Journal of Law, Politics and Sociology* (Keio University), vol. 59, No. 3, 1986, pp. 21–67. In Japanese.

"Some aspects of punitive damages in international law", *Journal of Law, Politics and Sociology* (Keio University), vol. 67, No. 6, 1994, pp. 1–24. In Japanese.

PADELLETTI, Maria Luisa

Pluralità di Stati nel fatto illecito internazionale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1990. 239 p.

PALMISANO, Giuseppe

"Sulla decisione arbitrale relativa alla seconda fase del caso 'Rainbow Warrior'", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXIII, 1990, pp. 874–910.

Colpa dell'organo e colpa dello Stato nella responsabilità internazionale: spunti critici di teoria e prassi. Milan, Giuffrè, 1992, pp. 625–755.

"Les causes d'aggravation de la responsabilité des États et la distinction entre 'crimes' et 'délits' internationaux", RGDIP, vol. XCVIII, 1994, pp. 629–673.

PARKER, Karen and Jennifer F. CHEW

"Compensation for Japan's World War II war-rape victims", *Hastings International and Comparative Law Review*, vol. 17, No. 3, spring 1994, pp. 497–549.

PARRY, Clive

"Some considerations upon the protection of individuals in international law", *Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1956–II*. Leyden, Sijthoff, 1957. Vol. 90, pp. 653–726.

"Defining economic coercion in international law", *Texas International Law Journal*, vol. 12, No. 1, winter 1977, pp. 1–4.

Pau, Giovanni

"Responsabilità internazionale". *Enciclopedia del diritto*, vol. XXXIX. Milan, Giuffrè, 1988, pp. 1432– 1459.

PAUST, Jordan J.

- "The link between human rights and terrorism and its implications for the law of State responsibility", *Hastings International and Comparative Law Review*, vol. 11, No. 1, fall 1987, pp. 41–54.
- "The complex nature, sources and evidences of customary human rights", *Georgia Journal of International and Comparative Law*, vol. 25, Nos. 1–2, 1995/1996, pp. 147–164.

PAUWELYN, Joost

"The concept of a 'continuing violation' of an international obligation: selected problems", *British Year Book of International Law, 1995* (Oxford), vol. 66, pp. 415–450.

PEDRAZZI, Marco

Danni causati da attività spaziali e responsabilità internazionale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1996. 375 p.

PELLA, Vespasien V.

- La criminalité collective des États et le droit pénal de l'avenir. Bucharest, Imprimerie de 1'État, 1925. 360 p.
- "La répression des crimes contre la personnalité de l'État", *Recueil des cours de l'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1930–III.* Paris, Sirey, 1931. Vol. 33, pp. 671–837.
- La guerre-crime et les criminels de guerre: réflexions sur la justice pénale internationale, ce qu'elle est et ce qu'elle devrait être. Neuchâtel, Éditions de la Baconnière, 1964. 208 p.

PELLET, Alain

- "Remarque sur une révolution inachevée: le projet d'articles de la CDI sur la responsabilité des États", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XLII, 1996, pp. 7–32.
- "Vive le crime! Remarques sur les degrés de 1'illicite en droit international", *International Law on the Eve of the Twenty-first Century: Views from the International Law Commission*. United Nations publication, Sales No. E/F.97.V.4, pp. 287–315.

PELLONPÄÄ, Matti

"Compensable claims before the Tribunal: expropriation claims", in Richard B. Lillich and Daniel Barstow Magraw, eds., The Iran-United States Claims Tribunal: Its Contribution to the Law of State Responsibility. Irvington-on-Hudson, N.Y., Transnational, 1998, pp. 185–266.

PELZER, Norbert

"Grenzüberschreitende Haftung für nukleare Ereignisse: geltendes Recht und Überlegungen zu künftigen Regelungen", *Deutsches Verwaltungsblatt*, vol. 101, 1986, pp. 875–883.

PENROSE, Edith, George Joffe and Paul Stevens

"Nationalisation of foreign-owned property for a public purpose: an economic perspective on appropriate compensation", *Modern Law Review*, vol. 55, 1992, pp. 351–367.

PEREZ GONZALEZ, Manuel

"Les organisations internationales et le droit de la responsabilité", RGDIP, vol. 92, 1988, pp. 63–102.

PERRIN, Georges

"La naissance de la responsabilité internationale et l'épuisement des voies de recours internes dans le projet d'articles de la Commission du droit international", *Festschrift für Rudolf Bindschedler*. Bern, Stämpfli, 1980, pp. 271–291.

PETERS, Paul, Nico Schrijver and Paul de Waart

"Responsibility of States in respect of the exercise of permanent sovereignty over natural resources: an analysis of some principles of the Seoul Declaration (1986) by the International Law Association", *Netherlands International Law Review*, vol. XXXVI, issue 3, 1989, pp. 285–313.

PICONE, Paolo

- "Obblighi reciproci ed obblighi *erga omnes* degli Stati nel campo della protezione internazionale dell'ambiente marino dall'inquinamento", *in* Vincenzo Starace, ed., *Diritto internazionale e protezione dell'ambiente marino*. Milan, Giuffrè, 1983, pp. 15–135.
- "Recensioni", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXIII, 1990, pp. 791–795.
- "Nazioni Unite e obblighi '*erga omnes*'", *La Comunità internazionale* (Naples), vol. XLVIII, No. 4, 1993, pp. 709–730.
- "Recensioni", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXXVII, 1994, pp. 1118–1122.
- "Interventi delle Nazioni Unite e obblighi *erga omnes*", *in* Paolo Picone ed., *Interventi delle Nazio- ni Unite e Diritto Internazionale*. Padua, CEDAM, 1995, pp. 517–578.

PILANDO JR., Teofilo S.

"Nationalization of foreign-owned property: the specific issue of compensation", *Philippine Law Journal*, vol. 59, September 1984, pp. 293–318.

PILLITU, Paola Anna

Lo stato di necessità nel diritto internazionale, Perugia, Perugia University Law Faculty, 1981. 414 p.

PINTO, Roger

"L'affaire du *Rainbow Warrior*: à propos de la sentence arbitrale du 30 avril 1990 (*Nouvelle Zélande c/ France*)", *Journal du droit international* (Paris), vol. 117, No. 4, 1990, pp. 841–860.

PISILLO MAZZESCHI, Riccardo

"Termination and suspension of treaties for breach in the ILC works on State responsibility", in Marina

- Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 57–94.
- "Due diligence" e responsabilità internazionale degli Stati. Milan, Giuffrè, 1989. 418 p.
- "The due diligence rule and the nature of the international responsibility of States", *German Yearbook of International Law* (Kiel) vol. 35, 1992, pp. 9–51.

Pocar, Fausto

"Épuisement des recours internes et réparation en nature ou par équivalent", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 291–300.

POLAKIEWICZ, JÖRG G.

"La responsabilité de l'État en matière de pollution des eaux fluviales ou souterraines internationales", *Journal du droit international* (Paris), vol. 118, No. 2, 1991, pp. 283–347.

PROVOST, René

"Reciprocity in human rights and humanitarian law", British Year Book of International Law, 1994 (Oxford), vol. 65, pp. 383–454.

PRZETACZNIK, Franciszek

- "La responsabilité internationale de 1'État à raison des préjudices de caractère moral et politique causés à un autre État", RGDIP, vol. 78, 1974, pp. 919–974.
- "The international responsibility of States for the unauthorized acts of their organs", *Sri Lanka Journal of International Law* (Colombo), vol. 1, June 1989, pp. 151–182.

Pugh, Michael

"Legal aspects of the *Rainbow Warrior* affair", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, vol. 36, part 3, July 1987, pp. 655–669.

Quéneudec, Jean-Pierre

"La notion d'État intéressé en droit international", Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1995. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1996. Vol. 255, pp. 339–461.

QUIGLEY, John

- "Complicity in international law: a new direction in the law of State responsibility", *British Year Book of International Law*, 1986 (Oxford), vol. 57, pp. 77–131.
- "The International Law Commission's crime-delict distinction: a toothless tiger?", *International Law Review* (Geneva), vol. 66, No. 2, 1988, pp. 117–161.

RABY, Jean

"The state of necessity and the use of force to protect nationals", *Canadian Yearbook of International Law* (Vancouver), vol. XXVI, 1988, pp. 253–272.

RAGAZZI, Maurizio

The concept of international obligations erga omnes. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1997. 264 p.

RAMCHARAN, B. G.

"State responsibility for violations of human rights treaties", in Bin Cheng and E. D. Brown, eds., *Contemporary Problems of International Law: Essays in honour of Georg Schwarzenberger on his eightieth birthday*. London, Stevens, 1988, pp. 242–261.

RAO, P. Sreenivasa

"Comments on article 19 of the draft articles on State responsibility adopted by the International Law Commission", *Indian Journal of International Law*, vol. 37, No. 4, 1997, pp. 673–676.

REED, Kimberly D.

"Reviving the doctrine of non-forcible countermeasures: resolving the effect of third party injuries", *Virginia Journal of International Law*, vol. 29, No. 1, fall 1988, pp. 175–209.

REINISCH, August

State Responsibility for Debts: International Law Aspects of External Debt and Debt Restructuring. Vienna, Böhlau, 1995. 154 p.

REISMAN, W. Michael

"Reflections on State responsibility for violations of explicit protectorate, mandate, and trusteeship obligations", *Michigan Journal of International Law*, vol. 10, No. 1, winter 1989, pp. 231–240.

REUTER, Paul

- "Le dommage comme condition de la responsabilité internationale", *Estudios de derecho internacional: homenaje al Profesor Miaja de la Muela.* Madrid, Tecnos, 1979. Vol. II, pp. 837–846.
- "Trois observations sur la codification de la responsabilité internationale des États pour fait illicite", *Le droit international au service de la paix, de la justice et du développement: mélanges Michel Virally.* Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 389–398.
- "La responsabilité internationale: problèmes choisis", Le développement de l'ordre juridique international: écrits de droit international. Paris, Economica, 1995, pp. 377–560.

RIEDEL, Eibe H.

- "Satisfaction", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 10. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 383–384.
- "Damages", in Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia* of *Public International Law*, vol. 1. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1992, pp. 929–934.

RIGAUX, François

"Le crime d'État: réflexions sur l'article 19 du projet d'articles sur la responsabilité des États", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 301–325.

RIPHAGEN, W.

"State responsibility: new theories of obligation in interstate relations", in R. St. J. Macdonald and Douglas M. Johnston, eds., The Structure and Process of International Law: Essays in Legal

Philosophy Doctrine and Theory. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1983, pp. 581–625.

ROMANO, C. P. R.

"Woe to the vanquished? A comparison of the reparations process after World War I (1914–18) and the Gulf war (1990–91)", *Austrian Review of International and European Law*, vol. 2, No. 3, 1997, pp. 361–390.

Ronzitti, Natalino

Rescuing Nationals Abroad through Military Coercion and Intervention on Grounds of Humanity. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1985.

Rosenne, Shabtai

"Bilateralism and community interest in the codified law of treaties", in Wolfgang Friedmann, Louis Henkin and Oliver Lissitzyn, eds., Transnational Law in a Changing Society: Essays in honour of Philip C. Jessup. New York, Columbia University Press, 1972, pp. 202–227.

Breach of Treaty. Cambridge, Grotius, 1985. 142 p.

The International Law Commission's Draft Articles on State Responsibility: Part I, Articles 1–35. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1991. 380 p.

"War crimes and State responsibility", *Israel Yearbook on Human Rights*, vol. 24, 1994, pp. 63–102.

ROSENSTOCK Robert

"Crimes of States: an essay", in Konrad Ginther and others, eds., Völkerrecht zwischen normativem Anspruch und politischer Realität: Festschrift für Karl Zemanek zum 65. Geburtstag. Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1994, pp. 319–334.

"The forty-seventh session of the International Law Commission", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 90, 1996, pp. 106–115.

"An international criminal responsibility of States?", *International Law on the Eve of the Twenty-first Century: Views from the International Law Commission.* United Nations publication. Sales No. E/F. 97.V.4, pp. 265–285.

Ross, Jeffrey Ian, ed.

Controlling State Crime: An Introduction. London, Garland, 1995. 430 p.

RUBENSTEIN, Paul

"State responsibility for failure to control the export of weapons of mass destruction", *California Western International Law Journal*, vol. 23, No. 2, spring 1993, pp. 319–372.

RUDOLF, Beate

"Zäsur in der Arbeit der Völkerrechtskommission", *Vereinte Nationen* (Baden-Baden), vol. 44, No. 6, December 1996, pp. 225–227.

SACHARIEW, K.

"State responsibility for multilateral treaty violations: identifying the 'injured State' and its legal status",

Netherlands International Law Review, vol. XXXV, 1988, pp. 273–289.

SADURSKA, Romana and Christine M. CHINKIN

"The collapse of the International Tin Council: a case of State responsibility?", *Virginia Journal of International Law*, vol. 30, No. 4, summer 1990, pp. 845–890.

Sahović, Milan

"Le concept du crime international de 1'État et le développement du droit international", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 363–369.

SAKAMOTO, Shigeki and Sakamoto MICHIKO

"A study on State responsibility for the conduct of private individuals: in relation to draft article 11 of the fourth report prepared by Roberto Ago (2 parts)", *Ryudai Law Review*, vol. 33, 1983, pp. 121–160; vol. 34, 1984, pp. 101–146. In Japanese.

SALDAÑA, Quintiliano

"La justice pénale internationale", Recueil des cours de 1'Académie de droit international de La Haye, 1925–V. Paris, Hachette, 1927. Vol. 10, pp. 223–429.

SALMON, Jean

"Faut-il codifier l'état de necessité en droit international?", in Jerzy Makarczyk, ed., Essays in International Law in Honour of Judge Manfred Lachs. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1984, pp. 235–270.

"La place de la faute de la victime dans le droit de la responsabilité internationale", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 371–399.

"Les circonstances excluant 1'illicéité" in Prosper Weil, ed., *Responsabilité internationale*. Paris, Pedone, 1987/1988, pp. 89–225.

"L'intention en matière de responsabilité internationale", Le droit international au service de la paix, de la justice et du développement: mélanges Michel Virally. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 413–422.

SCHILLER, Charles A.

"Closing a chapter of history: Germany's right to compensation for the Sudetenland", *Case Western Reserve Journal of International Law*, vol. 26, Nos. 2–3, spring/summer 1994, pp. 401–434.

SCHINDLER, Dietrich

"Die *erga omnes*-Wirkung des humanitären Völkerrechts", *in* Ulrich Beyerlin and others, eds., *Recht zwischen Umbruch und Bewahrung: Festschrift für Rudolf Bernhardt*. Berlin, Springer, 1995, pp. 199–211.

SCHRIJVER, Nico

Sovereignty over Natural Resources: Balancing Rights and Duties. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1997. 452 p.

SCHWARZE, Jürgen

"Rechtsschutz Privater bei völkerrechtswidrigem Handeln fremder Staaten", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 24, 1986, pp. 408–433.

Sciso, Elena

- "L'aggressione indiretta nella definizione dell'Assemblea generale delle Nazioni Unite", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXVI, 1983, pp. 253–290.
- "Self-defence and indirect aggression according to the International Court of Justice", *Rivista di diritto internazionale* (Milan), vol. LXX, 1987, pp. 627–640.

SCOTT, Sterling

"Codification of State responsibility in international law: a review and assessment", *Association of Student International Law Societies InternationalLaw Journal* (Washington, D.C.), vol. IX, 1985, pp. 1–36.

SEIDL-HOHENVELDERN, Ignaz

"Responsibility of member States of an international organization for acts of that organization", *International Law at the Time of its Codification: Essays in Honour of Roberto Ago*, vol. III. Milan, Giuffrè, 1987, pp. 415–428.

SHELTON, Dinah

"Private violence, public wrongs and the responsibility of States", *Fordham International Law Journal*, vol. 13, No. 1, 1989–1990, pp. 1–34.

SHIHATA, Ibrahim F. I.

Legal Treatment of Foreign Investment: "The World Bank Guidelines". Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1993. 468 p.

SICILIANOS, Linos-Alexandre

- "L'invocation de la légitime défense face aux activités d'entités non-étatiques", *Hague Yearbook of International Law*, vol. 2, 1989, pp. 147–168.
- Les réactions décentralisées à l'illicite: des contremesures à la légitime défense. Paris, LGDJ, 1990. 532 p.

SIMMA, Bruno

- "Reciprocity", in Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 7. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1984, pp. 400–404.
- "Self-contained regimes", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XVI, 1985, pp. 111–136.
- "Grundfragen der Staatenverantwortlichkeit in der Arbeit der International Law Commission", *Archiv des Völkerrechts* (Tübingen), vol. 24, 1986, pp. 357–407.
- "Bilateralism and community interest in the law of State responsibility", in Yoram Dinstein, ed., International Law at a Time of Perplexity: Essays in Honour of Shabtai Rosenne. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1989, pp. 821–844.

- "International crimes—Injury and countermeasures: comments on part 2 of the ILC work on State responsibility", in Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., International Crimes of States: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 283–315.
- "Does the UN Charter provide an adequate legal basis for individual or collective responses to violations of obligations *erga omnes*?", *in* Jost Delbrück, ed., *The Future of International Law Enforcement—New Scenarios: New Law?* Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1993, pp. 125–146.
- "Counter-measures and dispute settlement: a plea for a different balance", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 5, 1994, pp. 102–105.
- "From bilateralism to community interest in international law", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1994–VI.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1997. Vol. 250, pp. 217–384.

SIMMA, Bruno and Philip ALSTON

"The sources of human rights law: custom, *jus cogens*, and general principles", *Australian Year Book of International Law*, vol. 12, 1992, pp. 82–108.

SIMON, Denys and Linos-Alexandre SICILIANOS

"La 'contre-violence' unilatérale: pratiques étatiques et droit international", *Annuaire français de droit international* (Paris), vol. XXXII, 1986, pp. 53–78.

SMITH, Brian D.

State Responsibility and the Marine Environment: The Rules of Decision. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1988. 281 p.

SOCIÉTÉ FRANÇAISE POUR LE DROIT INTERNATIONAL

La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans. Paris, Pedone, 1991. 338 p.

SOHN, Louis B. and R. R. BAXTER

"Responsibility of States for injuries to the economic interests of aliens", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 55, No. 3, July 1961, pp. 545–584.

SORNARAJAH, M.

"State responsibility and bilateral investment treaties", *Journal of World Trade Law*, vol. 20, No. 1, 1986, pp. 79–98.

Sperduti, Giuseppe

- "Les obligations solidaires en droit international", in Jerzy Makarczyk, ed., Essays in International Law in Honour of Judge Manfred Lachs. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1984, pp. 271–275.
- "Responsibility of States for activities of private law persons", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 10. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 373–375.

SPINEDI, Marina

Les crimes internationaux de l'État dans les travaux de codification et de la responsabilité des États entrepris par les Nations Unies. Florence, Badia Fiesolana, 1984.

State responsibility 77

- "International crimes of State: the legislative history", in Joseph H. H. Weiler, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds., International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989, pp. 7–138.
- "Les conséquences juridiques d'un fait internationalement illicite causant un dommage à 1'environnement", in Francesco Francioni and Tullio Scovazzi, eds., International Responsibility for Environmental Harm. London, Graham & Trotman, 1991, pp. 75– 124.
- "Responsabilità internazionale", *Enciclopedia giuridica* (Rome), vol. 27, 1991, pp. 1–10.

SPINEDI, Marina and Bruno SIMMA, eds.

United Nations Codification of State Responsibility. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987. 418 p.

STARACE, Vincenzo

- "La responsabilité résultant de la violation des obligations à l'égard de la communauté internationale", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1976–V.* The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1983. Vol. 153, pp. 263–317.
- "Uso della forza nell'ordinamento internazionale", *Enciclopedia giuridica* (Rome), vol. 32, 1994, pp. 1–15.

STEIN, Eric

"Collective enforcement of international obligations", Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht (Stuttgart), vol. 47, 1987, pp. 56–66.

STERN, Brigitte

- "La responsabilité dans le système international", La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 319–336.
- "Un système hybride: la procédure de règlement pour la réparation des dommages résultant de 1'occupation illicite du Koweit par 1'Irak", *McGill Law Journal*, vol. 37, 1991–1992, pp. 625–644.

STESSENS, Guy

"Corporate criminal liability: a comparative perspective", *International and Comparative Law Quarterly* (London), vol. 43, issue 3, July 1994, pp. 493–520.

STROHL, Pierre

"Réflexions sur la responsabilité pour les dommages nucléaires dans 1'espace maritime", *Annuaire de droit maritime et aéro-spatial* (Nantes), vol. XI, 1991, pp. 55–60.

STROZZI, Girolamo

"I 'principi' dell'ordinamento internazionale", *La Comunità internazionale* (Rome), vol. XLVII, Nos. 1–2, 1992, pp. 162–187.

ŠTURMA, Pavel

"À propos des problèmes théorétiques de la responsabilité internationale pour les dommages à 1'environnement", *Studies in International Law* (Prague), vol. 23, 1990, pp. 69–94.

SUCHARITKUL, Sompong

- "Terrorism as an international crime: questions of responsibility and complicity", *Israel Yearbook on Human Rights*, vol. 19, 1989, pp. 247–258.
- "State responsibility and international liability in transnational relations", in Jerzy Makarczyk, ed., Theory of International Law at the Threshold of the 21st Century: Essays in honour of Krzysztof Skubiszewski. The Hague, Kluwer Law International, 1996, pp. 283–299.

Suy, Eric

"The constitutional character of constituent treaties of international organizations and the hierarchy of norms", *Recht zwischen Umbruch und Bewahrung: Festschrift für Rudolf Bernhardt*. Berlin, Springer, 1995, pp. 267–277.

SWANSON, Steven R.

"Iran-U. S. Claims Tribunal: a policy analysis of the expropriation cases", *Case Western Reserve Journal of International Law*, vol. 18, No. 2, spring 1986, pp. 307–360.

Tanzı, Attila

"Is damage a distinct condition for the existence of an internationally wrongful act?", *in* Marina Spinedi and Bruno Simma, eds., *United Nations Codification of State Responsibility*. New York, Oceana Publications, 1987, pp. 1–33.

TERNON, Yves

L'État criminel: les génocides au XXe siècle. Paris, Éditions du Seuil, 1995.

THOMSEN, Sabine D.

"Restitution", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law.* Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 375–378.

TOMUSCHAT, Christian

- "Some reflections on the consequences of a breach of an obligation under international law", in Walter Haller and others, eds., *Im Dienst an der Gemein*schaft: Festschrift für Dietrich Schindler zum 65. Geburtstag. Basel, Helbing & Liechtenhahn, 1989, pp. 147–164.
- "International crimes by States: an endangered species?", in Karel Wellens, ed., International Law—Theory and Practice: Essays in Honour of Eric Suy. The Hague, Martinus Nijhoff, 1998, pp. 253–274.
- "Obligations arising for States without or against their will", *Collected Courses of The Hague Academy of International Law, 1993–IV.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1994. Vol. 241, pp. 195–374.
- "Are counter-measures subject to prior recourse to dispute settlement procedures?", *European Journal of International Law*, vol. 5, 1994, pp. 77–88.
- "Gegenwartsprobleme der Staatenverantwortlichkeit in der Arbeit der Völkerrechtskommission der Vereinten Nationen", *Vorträge, Reden und Berichte aus dem Europa-Institut*, No. 311. Saarbrücken, 1994.

- "What is a 'breach' of the European Convention on Human Rights?", *The Dynamics of the Protection of Human Rights in Europe: Essays in Honour of Henry G. Schermers.* Vol. III. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1994, pp. 315–355.
- "The expulsion of the German population from the Sudetenland in 1945 and the confiscation of its assets", *Heidelberg Journal of International Law*, vol. 56, 1996, pp. 1–69.

TREITEL, G. H.

Remedies for Breach of Contract: A Comparative Account. Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1988.

Triffterer, Otto

"Prosecution of States for crimes of State", *in* Bassiouni, ed., *International Criminal Law*. Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., Transnational, 1986, pp. 99–107; and *International Review of Penal Law*, vol. 67, 1996, pp. 341–364.

VADAPALAS, Vilenas

- "L'intérêt pour agir en responsabilité internationale", *Polish Yearbook of International Law* (Warsaw), vol. XX, 1993, pp. 17–35.
- "Aspects de processus de la responsabilité internationale", *Polish Yearbook of International Law* (Warsaw), vol. XXI, 1994, pp. 87–104.

Velu, Jacques

"Rapport sur les responsabilités incombant aux États parties à la Convention européenne", *Proceedings of the Sixth International Colloquy about the European Convention on Human Rights, Seville, 13–16 November 1985.* Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, 1988, pp. 533–705.

VENTURINI, Gabriella

Necessità e proporzionalità nell'uso della forza militare in diritto internazionale. Milan, Giuffrè, 1988. 193 p.

VERDROSS, Alfred

- "Forbidden treaties in international law: comments on Professor Garner's report on 'The Law of Treaties'", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 31, 1937, pp. 571–577.
- "Jus dispositivum and jus cogens in international law", American Journal of International Law (Washington, D.C.), vol. 60, 1966, pp. 55–63.

VERHOEVEN, Joe

"Le crime de génocide: originalité et ambiguïté", Belgian Review of International Law (Brussels), vol. XXIV, No. 1, 1991, pp. 5–26.

VERWEY, Wil D. and Nico J. SCHRIJVER

"The taking of foreign property under international law: a new legal perspective?", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XV, 1984, pp. 3–96.

VIERDAG, E. W.

"Some remarks about special features of human rights treaties", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XXV, 1994, pp. 119–142.

VILARIÑO PINTOS, Eduardo

"Consideraciones respecto a la configuración del crimen y delito internacional", *Revista española de derecho internacional* (Madrid), vol. XXXIV, No. 2, 1982, pp. 357–377.

VOLKOVITSCH, Michael John

"Righting wrongs: towards a new theory of State succession to responsibility for international delicts", *Columbia Law Review* (New York), vol. 92, No. 8, December 1992, pp. 2162–2214.

Weil, Prosper

- "Vers une normativité relative en droit international?", RGDIP, vol. 86, No. 1, 1982, pp. 5–47.
- "Towards relative normativity in international law?", *American Journal of International Law* (Washington, D.C.), vol. 77, No. 3, July 1983, pp. 413–442.
- WEILER, Joseph H. H, Antonio Cassese and Marina Spinedi, eds.
 - International Crimes of State: A Critical Analysis of the ILC's Draft Article 19 on State Responsibility. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1989.

WEISBURD, Arthur M.

"The effect of treaties and other formal international acts on the customary law of human rights", *Georgia Journal of International and Comparative Law*, vol. 25, Nos. 1&2, 1995–1996, pp. 99–146.

WELLENS, Karel C.

- "Apartheid, an international crime", in L. Heyde and others, eds., Begrensde Vrijheid: Opstellen over mensenrechten aangeboden aan Prof. Dr. D. F. Scheltens bij zijn afscheid als hoogleraar aan de Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen. Zwolle, Tjeenk Willink, 1989, pp. 288–311.
- "Diversity in secondary rules and the unity of international law: some reflections on current trends", *Netherlands Yearbook of International Law* (The Hague), vol. XXV, 1994, pp. 3–37.

WESTBERG, John A.

International Transactions and Claims Involving Government Parties: Case Law of the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal. Washington D.C., International Law Institute, 1991. 392 p.

WESTON, Burns H. ed.

International Claims: Postwar French Practice. Syracuse, N.Y., Syracuse University Press, 1971. 237 p.

WEXLER, Jodi

"The *Rainbow Warrior* affair: State and agent responsibility for authorized violations of international law", *Boston University International Law Journal*, vol. 5, No. 2, fall 1987, pp. 389–412.

WHITE, Gillian

"State responsibility in the context of European Community law", in Bin Cheng and E. D. Brown, eds., Contemporary Problems of International Law: Essays in honour of Georg Schwarzenberger on

79

his Eightieth Birthday. London, Stevens, 1988, pp. 301–318.

WHITEMAN, Marjorie M.

Damages in International Law. Vols. I–III. Washington, D.C., United States Government Printing Office, 1937–1943.

WILDHABER, Luzius

"Treaties, multilateral", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 7. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1984, pp. 480–484.

WILLISCH, Jan

State Responsibility for Technological Damage in International Law. Berlin, Duncker & Humblot, 1987. 326 p.

WISE, Edward M.

"International crimes and domestic criminal law", *De Paul Law Review*, vol. 38, No. 4, summer 1989, pp. 923–966.

WITTICH, Stephan

- "Awe of the gods and fear of the priests: punitive damages and the law of State responsibility", *Austrian Review of International and European Law*, vol. 3, No. 1, 1998, pp. 101–157.
- "Lusitania v. Rainbow Warrior: punitive damages im Rahmen der Staatenverantwortlichkeit", in Heribert Franz Köck, ed., Rechtsfragen an der Jahrtausendwende Akten des 22: Österreichischen Völkerrechtstages. Vienna, Linde, 1998, pp. 247–283.

WOLF, Joachim

- "Questions of attribution relating to acts of private persons", *Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht* (Stuttgart), vol. 45, 1985, pp. 232–264.
- "Is there a common notion of damages in international law?", *Heidelberg Journal of International Law*, vol. 49, 1989, pp. 403–444.

WOLFRUM, Rüdiger

- "Reparation for internationally wrongful acts", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 10. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 352–353.
- "Common heritage of mankind", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 1. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1992, pp. 692–695.

WYLER, Eric

"Quelques réflexions sur la réalisation dans le temps du fait internationalement illicite", RGDIP, vol. 95, No. 4, 1991, pp. 881–914.

YAHI, Abdelkader

"La violation d'un traité: l'articulation du droit des traités et du droit de la responsabilité internationale", *Belgian Review of International Law* (Brussels), vol. XXVI, No. 2, 1993, pp. 437–469.

ҮАМАМОТО, **S**ојі

- Function of Liability for Risk in International Law. Tokyo, Tokyo University Press, 1982. In Japanese.
- "Basis for entailing State responsibility under international law", *Journal of International Law and Diplomacy*, vol. 93, 1994, pp. 289–321. In Japanese.

Yoshino, Hiromi

"'Crimes of States' and the problem of collective responsibility in international law", *Hongo Journal of Law and Politics (University of Tokyo)*, vol. 3, 1994, pp. 390–420. In Japanese.

Yuyama, Tomoyuki

"Reconstruction of remedies in international law: cessation of wrongful conduct and satisfaction", *Journal of Law and Political Science (Tohoku University)*, vol. 14, 1996, pp. 131–225. In Japanese.

ZACKLIN, Ralph

"Responsabilité des organisations internationales", La responsabilité dans le système international: colloque du Mans. Paris, Pedone, 1991, pp. 91–100.

ZEDALIS, Rex J.

"Gulf war compensation standard: concerns under the Charter", *Belgian Review of International Law* (Brussels), vol. XXVI, No. 2, 1993, pp. 333–350.

ZEHETNER, Franz

"Tschernobyl: Zur völkerrechtlichen Wiedergutmachungsproblematik", *Umwelt und Planungsrecht*, vol. 6, 1986, pp. 326–331.

ZEMANEK, Karl

- "Haftungsformen im Völkerrecht", *Schriftenreihe der Juristischen Gesellschaft zu Berlin*, vol. 102. Berlin, de Gruyter, 1986.
- "Responsibility of States: general principles", *in* Rudolf Bernhardt, ed., *Encyclopedia of Public International Law*, vol. 10. Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1987, pp. 362–372.
- "The unilateral enforcement of international obligations", *Zeitschrift für ausländisches öffentliches Recht und Völkerrecht* (Stuttgart), vol. 47, 1987, pp. 32–43.
- "La responsabilité des États pour faits internationalement illicites, ainsi que pour faits internationalement licites", *in* Prosper Weil, ed., *Responsabilité internationale*. Paris, Pedone, 1987/1988, pp. 1–88.
- "Causes and forms of international liability", in Bin Cheng and E. D. Brown, eds., Contemporary Problems of International Law: Essays in honour of Georg Schwarzenberger on his Eightieth Birthday. London, Stevens, 1988, pp. 319–332.
- "State responsibility and liability", *in* Winfried Lang, Hanspeter Neuhold and Karl Zemanek, eds., *Environmental Protection and International Law*. London, Graham & Trotman, 1991, pp. 187–201.

ZICCARDI CAPALDO, Giuliana

"II disconoscimento delle credenziali del Sud Africa come sanzione contro 1'apartheid (Non-recognition of South Africa's credentials as a sanction against apartheid)", Rivista di diritto internazionale (Milan), vol. LXVIII, 1985, pp. 299–325.

Terrorismo internazionale e garanzie collettive. Milan, Giuffrè, 1990. 187 p.

ZOLLER, Elizabeth

"Quelques réflexions sur les contre-mesures en droit international public", *Droit et libertés à la fin du XXe siècle—influence des données économiques et technologiques: études offertes à Claude-Albert Colliard.* Paris, Pedone, 1984, pp. 361–381.

Peacetime Unilateral Remedies: An Analysis of Countermeasures. Dobbs Ferry, N.Y., Transnational, 1984. 196 p.